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Welcome to SVG Capital plc

Our business

Private equity investment

SVG Capital invests in a portfolio of private equity funds, the majority of 
which are advised by Permira, a leading international private equity specialist.
Information on our investment portfolio is included on pages 9 to 19.

Fund management

SVG Capital’s fund management business, SVG Advisers, structures, markets,
manages and advises products for investment in private and public equity
using private equity techniques.
More information on this area of our business can be found on page 5.
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Company profile

SVG Capital is a private equity investor and fund management business
listed on the London Stock Exchange.

Our investment objective

SVG Capital’s investment objective is to achieve capital appreciation 
by investing principally in private equity funds that are managed or advised 
by Permira, a leading international private equity specialist.

In addition, the Company invests in private equity funds that invest 
in Japan, North America, Asia and the life sciences sectors, and in unquoted
and quoted businesses through specialist funds and co-investments
alongside these funds. The Company may also invest in other private 
equity related assets and alternative asset classes.

To complement this investment objective and create capital and income 
for the Company, its fund management business structures, markets,
manages and advises products for investment in private equity, private
equity related assets, alternative asset classes and in public equity using
private equity techniques.



SVG Capital plc
Annual Report and Accounts 200802

Financial and operating highlights 2008

Total assets of £901.6 million

Net investment portfolio of £741.1 million
1. £595.8 million in private equity funds (80.4%)
2. £111.5 million in private equity funds of funds (15.1%)
3. £19.5 million in public equity funds and co-investments (2.6%)
4. £14.3 million in other investments (1.9%)

Average multiple of 2.2x cost on realisations since 1996

Since listing in 1996, SVG Capital’s average net multiple on realisations has been 2.2x cost.

Balance sheet

Recurring external revenue £28.0 million

The fund management business reported recurring external revenue of £28.0 million, an increase of 27% on 2007.

Total revenue £35.8 million

Including fees paid by SVG Capital, total revenue was £35.8 million.

Net assets per share 348.1p

Net assets per share of 348.1p (including the 31 December 2008 unaudited Directors’ valuation of SVG Advisers of 40.0p) 
with Shareholders’ funds of 308.1p per share.

SVG Advisers

Funds and commitments under management €4.2 billion

Since 2001 SVG Advisers has grown its funds and commitments under management to €4.2 billion and now advises:
1. Eight diversified private equity fund of funds, investing in Europe, US and Asia
2. Five single manager funds (all investing in Permira Funds)
3. Five public equity funds using private equity techniques investing in European listed companies that are considered to be undervalued 

or could benefit from strategic, operational or management initiatives
4. Two collateralised loan obligation equity funds 
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20 largest underlying companies*

by value at 31 December 2008

Company Country Cost £’000 Value £’000

Arysta LifeScience Japan 149,852 84,204

Valentino Fashion Group/Hugo Boss Italy 161,678 78,646

TDC Denmark 40,317 65,381

Acromas (The AA & Saga) UK 41,461 41,421

Provimi The Netherlands 52,306 39,333

Birds Eye iglo UK 32,264 38,925

Legico Luxembourg 50,388 34,803

debitel/Freenet Germany 171 24,978

Freescale US 144,920 22,527

DinoSol Supermercados Spain 9,509 20,427

Marazzi Italy 41,853 20,424

Telepizza Spain 12,165 19,153

Galaxy Greater China 109,168 14,644

New Look UK 472 11,650

All3Media UK 11,033 11,533

SEAT Pagine Gialle Italy 22,221 9,939

Britvic UK 9,497 9,896

Cognis Group Germany 1,831 7,827

Principal Hayley Group UK 19,490 6,990

Strides Arcolab India 3,235 4,330

* See pages 16 to 19 for further details



The second half of 2008 was the most difficult period in the
Company’s history. In late September the collapse of Lehman
Brothers led to a radically changed financial market, which when
combined with a worsening economic environment had two
significant potential implications for the Company:

First, the normal pattern of calls and distributions would not
apply. Historically recessions have seen a low incidence of both
calls and distributions. We foresaw a long period with few, if any,
distributions, while at the same time, given the availability 
of uncalled private equity money and the likelihood of many
companies being equity starved, we could see the potential for
rising equity investments starting in the latter part of 2009.

Second, the dramatic fall in public market comparable earnings
multiples signalled major falls in value, given the leveraged nature
of our investments. This could have in turn affected our ability 
to meet our loan to value covenant ratios for our credit lines,
which would be needed to support our outstanding
commitments, including to Permira IV.

The Board therefore reviewed the Company’s financing strategy
and the structure of its balance sheet in the light of the radically
changed environment, with the objective of strengthening the
capital resources of the Company and reducing the effective
leverage in the balance sheet. In December we announced 
the following:

• An increase in the Company’s loan to value covenants on 
its senior borrowings and its bank line in return for a reduction
in the amount of Senior Notes outstanding and a decrease 
in the size of the bank line.

• A cap on our original commitment to Permira IV at 60%,
reducing our uncalled commitments to £493 million. 
In return for this the Limited Partners (LPs) who elected 
to cap their commitment, agreed that 25% of all future
realisations from our holdings in Permira IV would go 
to those LPs who chose not to cap their commitments. 
In addition, those LPs who elected to cap their commitment 
to the fund, would also continue to pay a full fund
management fee on Permira IV for the investment 
period and would not participate in any of the fund’s 
new investments.

• A Rights Issue and Placing of approximately £209 million, 
with £70 million placed, and £100 million either irrevocably
applied for, or underwritten by JP Morgan Cazenove.

An Extraordinary General Meeting was held on 3 February to
approve the Rights Issue and Placing and all resolutions were
passed with an average vote in favour (across all the resolutions) 
of 99%. The Rights Issue was completed at the end of February,
with £101.3 million raised taking total proceeds raised between
the Rights Issue and Placing to £171.3 million. 

None of this could have been achieved without the considerable
support of our shareholders, Senior Note holders, bankers,
advisers and, not least, our staff for which we are very grateful.

Your Board moved swiftly and decisively to solve what might
have become a major problem for the Company. The successful
conclusion of all of the initiatives announced in December has
strengthened the Company’s balance sheet considerably. 
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Chairman’s statement

Your Board moved swiftly 
and decisively to solve what might 
have become a major problem 
for the Company. The successful 
conclusion of all of the initiatives
announced in December 
has strengthened the Company’s 
balance sheet considerably.
Nicholas Ferguson Chairman
5 March 2009
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The Board is committed to restoring shareholder value and 
with the radical change in the economic outlook it is necessary 
to have a complete review of our investment strategy. Following
consultation with all our major shareholders, we are well along
with the process and we will report back to shareholders on the
outcome of this strategic review at the end of April, as stated 
in the recent prospectus. 

Investment portfolio performance

The dramatic fall in public markets comparable earnings multiples
and share prices that impacted valuations in June has continued 
in the second half of 2008. This, coupled with the sharp decline 
in the global economic environment towards the end of 2008 
and the ensuing impact this had on the outlook for the portfolio
companies, has led to a number of valuations being written
down significantly, outweighing the positive impact of foreign
exchange, realisations of Jet Aviation and debitel and the write-up
of TDC. 

Net assets per share declined by 64.3% over the year to 348.1p
per share (including a 40.0p per share unaudited Director’s
valuation of SVG Advisers) with Shareholders’ funds falling to
308.1p per share. Following the decision to cap the Company’s
commitment to Permira IV, this valuation includes a 25%
reduction in SVG Capital’s holdings in the fund. It is also in line
with the adjusted NAV per share of 341.0p that was announced 
at the time of the Rights Issue and Placing, following the Board’s
40% provision to the investment portfolio and a 25% reduction
in the Company’s holdings in Permira IV. 

Adjusting for the completion of the Rights Issue and Placing 
and the issue of a further 171,338,022 new shares in March, 
the 31 December 2008 net asset value per share would be
207.9p per share (including an 18.0p per share unaudited
Director’s valuation of SVG Advisers).

SVG Advisers

SVG Advisers continues to be a valuable asset to the business, 
but has also been impacted by the events which have taken place
in wider financial markets and its Directors’ unaudited valuation
has fallen to £56.4 million, on the back of a steep decline in
comparable public market multiples.

The business has made steady progress over the year, reporting
recurring external revenues of £28.0 million, an increase of 27% 
on 2007. Total external fee income stood at £28.4 million, which
compares to £29.7 million for 2007. This decrease in total
income is predominantly a result of the absence of performance
fees from the public equity team. Including fees paid by 
SVG Capital to SVG Advisers total fees earned by the operating
subsidiaries and other income were £35.8 million, contributing
£20.3 million to the Group’s operating profit (before finance
costs) in 2008. This number includes certain positive exceptional
items and will not be sustained at this level in the short term.

The second half of the year saw the final close of the SVG Asia
Fund of Funds, raising a total of US$200 million – exceeding its
target of US$150 million. Despite, this successful fund raising,
funds and commitments under management reduced to 
€4.2 billion over the year, from €4.4 billion at 31 December
2007. In particular, the funds managed by SVG Investment
Managers declined significantly due to dramatic falls in 
public markets. 

While the environment in which we are operating remains
difficult, we believe that there is good potential to grow 
SVG Advisers over the next three to five years. As part of the
strategic review, we are looking at opportunities and initiatives
that may enhance and diversify the business and believe this
market could present some significant opportunities for us 
to capitalise on.

Board

Andrew Williams, Director and Chief Executive of SVG Advisers, 
will shortly be leaving the Group by mutual agreement. Pending
the appointment of his successor as chief executive of SVG Advisers,
I will become executive Chairman of the Company.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank Andrew for the 
major contribution he has made to the Company over the last 
13 years. Under his stewardship SVG Advisers has grown into 
a leading private equity investor and fund management business,
with third-party funds and commitments of €4.2 billion. 

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held at 12 noon on
Wednesday 6 May 2009 at 61 Aldwych, London WC2B 4AE. 
As in previous years it will include a presentation on the activities 
of the Company.

Outlook

In the second half of 2008 we witnessed unprecedented
economic deterioration across the globe. 

Private equity, like many sectors has been, and will continue 
to be, impacted by the fall-out in the wider markets. In the
absence of suitable exit windows, holding periods will lengthen
and managers will continue to work on value creation within
their portfolio companies. Distributions will slow, meaning little
capital will be returned in the short term. At the same time, 
we anticipate calls will continue as managers move to inject 
more equity into existing investments or to take advantage of
opportunities emerging from the downturn. This mismatch
between distributions and calls will put a number of investors
under pressure. The Company acted early to mitigate this
imbalance by severely cutting back on its future commitments.

The widespread fall in markets has also negatively impacted 
the valuations of the portfolio companies which are marked-to-
market. However, it must be noted that these valuations provide
a guide figure at a moment in time – private equity is a long term
asset class and managers are highly focused on stabilising and
positioning portfolio companies.

We believe our underlying portfolio consists of well diversified,
high quality businesses, many of which are in the very early
stages of their value creation. As we move through the cycle 
and the portfolio companies’ value creation initiatives are
successful, the Company would expect to see the benefits 
from these developments translating into positive returns.

We believe the next two years will remain challenging for
everyone. Managers need to concentrate hard on creating 
value within their portfolio companies with a view to realising
value for their investors when the market and economic
environment improves.
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Including the unaudited Directors’ valuation of SVG Advisers, over
the 12 months net assets per share decreased by 64.3% declining
to 348.1p per share, with Shareholders’ funds per share falling 
to 308.1p per share. 

Shareholders’ funds do not take full account of the underlying
value of SVG Advisers, based on recurring income streams and
assets under management. It is for this reason that the Directors
have disclosed net assets per share of 348.1p, which includes the
estimated incremental unaudited Directors’ value of SVG Advisers
of 40.0p. 

Cash balances and uncalled commitments

SVG Capital was a net investor over the year, with a total 
of £555 million of calls paid versus distributions of £333 million1,
with the great majority of the calls paid to Permira IV 
(£319 million) and SVG Diamond I and II (£107 million). 

The Group ended the year with cash balances of £131 million
(Company: £114 million) and including the convertible bonds,
had a net leveraged position of £304 million, or 70% of
Shareholders’ funds at 31 December 2008. Since the year end, 
the Company has repaid 27% of its Senior Notes (£88 million) 

and has received net proceeds of £158 million from the Placement
and Rights Issue. This has improved the leveraged position of the
Company significantly and adjusting for these events the Group 
has net borrowings of £146 million (including the convertible
bonds) or 25% of Shareholders’ funds. This leverage represents
20% of the Group’s investment portfolio.

Historically, SVG Capital has had an over-commitment strategy 
to private equity funds in general and Permira IV in particular, to
which the Company committed €2.8 billion (both directly and
through various feeder vehicles) in 2006. Following SVG Capital’s
decision to cap its direct capital commitment to Permira IV at 60%
of its original commitment, the Company’s uncalled commitments
decreased materially in the year. At 31 December 2008, the
Company had uncalled commitments of £493 million (including
uncalled commitments to warehoused assets of £95 million). 
This is a net reduction from December 2007 of £1,143 million.

Of the £493 million of uncalled commitments, £195 million is
committed to Permira IV for follow-on investments. Given the
current economic climate we anticipate that at least some of 
these follow on investments will be required in the next two years.
We expect the rest of the commitments to be called over the next
four to five years. 
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Finance Director’s report

1 Including £2.7 million of income

Funds and commitments under management (€’billion) 
31 December 2008
2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

2002

Permira feeder vehicles
Public equity products 
CLO equity funds

Open architecture fund of funds
Open architecture fund of funds – structured

0 1 2 3 54



Borrowings

In addition to capping SVG Capital’s commitment to Permira IV,
the existing loan facilities and conditions of the Senior Private
Placement Notes (“Notes”), were renegotiated. At 31 December
2008, SVG Capital’s long term debt consisted of £332 million 
of Notes and £103 million of subordinated convertible bonds.
There are no financial covenants on the convertible bonds, 
but the Notes are currently subject to a maximum loan to value
covenant of 55%. These covenants will reset on the earlier of
receiving £300 million in distributions from the investment
portfolio, at SVG Capital’s option, or July 2011. The term of 
the Notes remains the same. However, as part of the capital
restructuring of the business the Company repaid £88 million 
of Notes in January 2009.

In addition, the Company reduced its bank lines from €750 million
to €550 million (£532 million) in December 2008. This revolving
credit bank facility runs until March 2011 and is also subject to a
maximum loan to value covenant. This is now set at 50% but
unlike the Notes the loan to value covenant calculation includes
the unaudited Directors’ valuation of SVG Advisers. 

Finally, the Company raised £120 million of convertible bonds 
in May 2008. The bonds had a conversion price of 1000p in
December 2008, however, since the year end the conversion price
has been adjusted to 648p to take account of the impact of the
Rights Issue and Placing. The bonds are subordinated to the
Company’s Senior Notes and bank lines, have no loan to value
covenants and have a coupon of 8.25%, paid semi-annually, 
with a maturity of 2016. The Company will have the option to
redeem the bonds after the first three years, should the price of 
the ordinary shares exceed 130% of the conversion price over 
a specified period.

Foreign exchange

Foreign exchange had a positive impact on the portfolio valuations
at the year end as sterling weakened considerably against the 
euro during the year. Conversely, the strength of the US dollar
against sterling had a negative impact on the US dollar
denominated Notes. 
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Since the year end, the leveraged
position of the Company 
has improved significantly 
and adjusting for events after 
the year end, the Group has 
net borrowings of £146 million
(including the convertible bonds) 
or 25% of Shareholders’ funds.
Lynn Fordham Finance Director
5 March 2009



The Business review provides shareholders 
with an overview of SVG Capital’s:

Investment objective and policy – page 8

Key Performance Indicators – page 8

Strategy – page 9

Marketplace – page 9

Financial review – page 9

Investment portfolio review – page 9

20 Largest underlying companies – page 16

SVG Advisers – page 20

Contractual arrangements – page 20

Risks and risk management – page 20

Introduction

SVG Capital is a private equity investor and fund management
business with offices in London, Boston and Singapore.

Investment objective

The investment objective is to achieve capital appreciation by
investing principally in private equity funds that are managed or
advised by Permira, a leading international private equity specialist.
In addition, the Company invests in private equity funds that invest
in Japan, North America, Asia and the life sciences sectors, and in
unquoted and quoted businesses through specialist funds and 
co-investments alongside these funds. The Company may also invest
in other private equity related assets and alternative asset classes.

To complement this investment objective and create capital and
income for the Company, its fund management business
structures, markets, manages and advises products for investment
in private equity related asset classes and in public equity using
private equity techniques.

Investment policy

The Company invests principally in private equity funds managed
or advised by Permira, which provide it with exposure to a
portfolio of companies that are diversified by vintage year, size,
geography and industry sector. Under current legalisation, the
Company operates so as to ensure that, at the point of acquiring
or adding to its investment in any company or group, its holding
in that company or group does not exceed 15% by value of its
overall investments.
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Business review

Key Performance Indicators

The Group’s Financial Key Performance Indicators are:

Shareholder total return1

(88.1)% (5.5)%p.a.
Year to 31 December 2008 Since 1996

Net asset growth

(64.3)%2 4.8%p.a.2
Year to 31 December 2008 Since 1996

1 Source: Bloomberg
2 Including the 31 December 2008 Directors’ unaudited valuations of SVG Advisers

Long term net IRRs of the portfolio 
of underlying private equity funds

15.7%p.a.
Since inception of underlying funds (1983)

More information on non-financial KPIs are contained 
in the Corporate social responsibility report on page 42.



The Company has a desired average level of gearing of
approximately 20% over time and has an absolute maximum 
limit on borrowings of two times its adjusted capital and reserves,
as set out in the Articles of Association of the Company.

Strategy

Investing in international private equity
The Company’s core investment focus is on international 
private equity.

Diversification 
The majority of the Company’s investments are focused on one,
highly rated, manager, Permira, an international private equity
specialist. The current relationship with Permira is addressed
through the operating agreement of 21 March 2005 as set out 
in Contractual arrangements on page 20. Information on the
Company’s investment portfolio, including the diversification of 
its underlying assets by vintage year, size, geography and industry
sector is contained in the portfolio review on pages 9 to 19. 

Building a successful fund management business
SVG Capital’s fund management business, SVG Advisers, was
established in 2001 with the strategy of providing intelligent
solutions for mid-sized institutions and high-net-worth investors 
for investing in private equity or public equity using private 
equity techniques. 

A description of certain key risks which affect the Company’s
business are set out on pages 20 to 23, which include risks relating
to valuation and leverage, funding, borrowing, concentration 
and portfolio company risk.

The Company has announced that it is conducting a full strategic
review of the business, with the objective of improving share 
price performance and liquidity. The outcome of this will be
announced by the end of April 2009.

Marketplace

A market commentary can be found in the Chairman’s statement
on pages 4 and 5.

Financial review

The Financial review is contained in the Finance Director’s report
on pages 6 and 7.

Portfolio review

The dramatic fall in public market comparable earnings multiples
and share prices that impacted valuations in June continued in 
the second half of 2008. This, coupled with the sharp decline 
in the global economic environment towards the end of the year
has resulted in a number of valuations being written down
significantly, outweighing the positive impact of foreign exchange
and realisations. 

Private equity is a long term asset class and investments are 
usually held for four to five years before being sold, historically at
premiums to carrying value and cost. In the case of SVG Capital
this average multiple to cost on exit has been 2.2x. The majority 
of SVG Capital’s portfolio companies have been held for less than
three years and are therefore in the mid-stages of the value
creation process. As such, it is important to note that the current
portfolio valuation is not necessarily a reflection of the long term
value of the underlying companies as it does not factor in the
future opportunities the businesses have to grow earnings and
create value for investors.
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Major realisation

Jet Aviation

The realisation of Jet Aviation was completed in November 2008.
Funds advised by Permira originally acquired Jet Aviation in
October 2005. Since then, the company has grown both
organically and through acquisition and the management team
has worked closely with Permira to transform the company from 
a family run business into a truly global leader in business aviation.
Total proceeds from the sale of Jet Aviation of £86.8 million1

represent a 162% multiple to carrying value and a multiple 
of 4.4x original cost.

1 Gross of carried interest

Realisation value

+162% 
uplift to December 2007 value



Private equity funds’ portfolio – £595.8 million 
(80.4% of the investment portfolio)

The current portfolio is made up of 116 companies, many of 
which operate on a global scale. Whilst many of the portfolio
companies reported solid operating results in the first half, 
a number are now seeing the impact of an increasingly difficult
economic environment. Within the portfolio companies there is 
a major focus on cash management, cost saving and, wherever
possible, deleveraging to ensure that the companies are well
equipped to weather a worsening economic outlook.

Much like the first half, the largest contributor to the decline 
in portfolio company valuations was the significant fall in public
market comparable earnings multiples which, on a like-for-like
basis, fell 21% in aggregate. As a result, the negative movements
in valuations have outweighed the positive impact from the sales 
of Jet Aviation and debitel, both of which were sold at premiums 
to carrying value and cost, and the write-up of TDC, following 
an increase in earnings, along with cost savings and deleveraging
of the business.

In particular, the current difficult economic environment has
impacted the operating performance of ProsiebenSat.1, Freescale
and BordsodChem. 

In the case of ProsiebenSat.1, operating performance was also
affected by problems resulting from the introduction of a new
advertising sales model in the first half of 2008. This, combined with
the impact of the deteriorating economic environment on earnings
and the dramatic decline in public company comparable earnings
multiples, has resulted in a write-down of £118.1 million (83.7p per
share) of SVG Capital’s holding in the company. Management has
implemented various initiatives to help improve the outlook for the
company, including a significant cost saving programme. There
have also been a number of senior management changes within the
company, including the appointment of a new CEO who brings
with him significant experience from the senior executive positions
he held at Pepsi and Novartis. In the short term, in the absence 
of an improvement in the economic outlook for the company, 
SVG Capital is holding its valuation of ProSiebenSat.1 at zero. 

SVG Capital’s investment in Freescale has been written down 
by £98.2 million (69.6p per share) to £22.5 million following the
sharp decline in its end-user markets, notably its automotive and
wireless divisions and a fall in public company multiples used in 
the valuation. The company has implemented several cost saving
measures; capital expenditure has been reduced and the company
has closed several plants and eliminated redundant headcount.
Freescale is also taking steps to adjust its financing arrangements.
In addition, management is looking at the sale of a number of 
non-core assets. A new CEO, was appointed during the year and
the management team are focused on optimising efficiencies 
in the business and positioning the company for the current
uncertain environment. Freescale is held by Permira IV and the 
31 December 2008 valuation also includes a provision following
SVG Capital’s decision to cap its commitment to the fund.

SVG Capital’s holding in BorsodChem has been written down 
by £85.0 million (60.2p per share) to zero following declining
demand from the company’s end markets in the fourth quarter 
of 2008. BorsodChem produces isocyanates, which are the key
building block for polyurethane foams used in applications such 
as furniture, bedding, construction and automotive interiors.
Management have been quick to implement a cost savings plan.
However, the speed of the slow down in the company’s markets
and the ensuing deterioration in revenues has, in the short term,
outweighed the benefit of cost savings for the company. 

The valuation of Valentino Fashion Group has again predominantly
been impacted by the fall in the public company multiples and 
has been written down by £92.2 million (65.3p per share) 
to £78.6 million. Valentino Fashion Group holds over 73.4% 
of Hugo Boss, which is listed in Germany, and the vast majority 
of this investment is represented by Hugo Boss, which reported 
6% sales growth in the nine months to September 2008. 
Hugo Boss appointed a new CEO in August and the management
team are focused on expanding the brand internationally.
Valentino’s revenues were flat on the previous year with 2008
profitability impacted by the general market slowdown and
disappointing sales of the previous designer’s collection. The first
Haute-Couture collection from the new design team presented 
in January 2009 was well received, however, notwithstanding the
change of design team and ongoing cost initiatives, the outlook 
for 2009, given current market conditions, is uncertain. Valentino
Fashion Group is held by Permira IV and the 31 December 2008
valuation also includes a provision following SVG Capital’s decision
to cap its commitment to the fund.

Performance at the Tokyo headquartered Arysta LifeScience
continued to be supported by a strong agrochemicals market,
driven by increasing agrochemical product applications, continued
low crop inventory levels, a growing population and competition
for arable land. Earnings for the year, on a constant currency basis,
are in line with budget. However, they have been impacted by 
the significant strengthening of the Japanese yen, as the majority
of the company’s revenues originate from outside Japan. 
This, combined with the fall in public market comparable
multiples, which have fallen approximately 30% since the
company was acquired around the start of 2008, has resulted in 
a write-down of SVG Capital’s holding in the company of £65.6
million (46.5p per share) to £84.2 million, even though it was still
in its first year of ownership at the year end. Arysta LifeScience 
is held by Permira IV and the 31 December 2008 valuation also
includes a provision following SVG Capital’s decision to cap its
commitment to the fund.

In addition to the above, SVG Capital’s holdings in Gala Coral,
Marazzi, Provimi, Principal Hayley Group and Legico have also
been written down.

In the case of Gala Coral, the overall softness in top-line revenues,
which were affected by the smoking ban on the bingo business
has largely been compensated for by the benefits from cost saving
plans. However, declining public market comparable earnings
multiples combined with a further decline in revenues has resulted
in a further write-down of this investment of £24.4 million to zero. 

SVG Capital plc
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Major unquoted portfolio movements

Jet Aviation 86,844(iii)

33,150

65,381

50,674

24,978                 14,682

27,668

34,803

50,388

39,333

55,897

20,424

41,853

–

24,436 

84,204

149,852

–

84,966

78,646

170,870

22,527

120,774

–

118,105

TDC

debitel

Legico

Provimi

Marazzi

Gala Coral

Arysta LifeScience

BorsodChem

Valentino Fashion Group

Freescale

ProSiebenSat.1 Media

Change in the year(i) Value(ii)

Company £’000 £’000

31 December 2008 valuation: £’000(ii)

31 December 2007 valuation: £’000(ii)

Proceeds in the year £’000

(i)  Including Permira feeder vehicles
(ii)  Gross of any carried interest provision and adjusted for the sale of Permira 
 fund interests during the year. Acquisition cost in respect of 2008 investments
(iii)  Gross of carried interest

Major unquoted portfolio movements

53,694 

14,707 

11,992 

(15,585)

(16,564)

(21,429)

(24,436)

(65,648)

(84,966)

(92,224)

(98,247)

(118,105)



Marazzi, was acquired in June 2008 and is the world leader in 
the design, manufacturing and sales of ceramic tiles, with a strong
international footprint. The deterioration of the building material
sector was deeper than anticipated in the second half of 2008. 
The weakness of Marazzi’s end markets is expected to continue 
in 2009. Accordingly, SVG Capital’s holding in the company has
been written down to £20.4 million, even though it is less than 
12 months old. Marazzi is held by Permira IV and the 31 December
2008 valuation also includes a provision following SVG Capital’s
decision to cap its commitment to the fund.

Finally, both Provimi and Principal Hayley Group have been 
written down on the back of declining public market comparables
multiples and in the case of Principal Hayley Group a toughening
outlook for the business conferences market. In addition, Legico, 
a company invested in primary and secondary senior, mezzanine
and PIK debt opportunities has been written down by 31%. Legico
and Provimi are held by Permira IV and the 31 December 2008
valuation of these companies also includes a provision following
SVG Capital’s decision to cap its commitment to the fund.

The quoted portfolio has declined by £122.3 million 
(86.6p per share) over the year. The largest contributor to 
this negative movement was the 86% fall in the share price of
Galaxy Entertainment. Galaxy Entertainment is held by Permira IV 
and the 31 December 2008 valuation also includes a provision
following SVG Capital’s decision to cap its commitment to 
the fund.

New investments
New investment activity during the year was influenced by 
the continued disruption of the financing markets and the vast
majority of the 14 new and 31 follow-on investments were smaller
deals made by SV Life Sciences. The largest two new investments
made in the year were announced in the interim report, Marazzi
and Legico. 

Following the decision to cap the Company’s original commitment
to Permira IV, SVG Capital did not participate in the NDS
investment, which was previously announced in the interim report. 

Realisations
There were a total of eight realisations in the year, the largest of
which, Jet Aviation, was sold at a 162% gross premium to carrying
value and 4.4x cost. Since listing in 1996, SVG Capital has reported
a net multiple of 2.2x cost on realisations.

SVG Capital plc
Annual Report and Accounts 200812

Business review continued

Sector analysis
by value

31 December
2008

%

31 December
2007

%

1. Retail 26 20

2. Chemicals 21 11

3. Electronics and 
 communications 20 23  

4. Consumer 15 8

5. Financial 5 –

6. Leisure 5 12

7. Medical/health 4 8

8. Other services 2 6

9. Media 2 9

10. Industrial products
 services – 2

11. Other manufacturing – 1

1

2

3

4

5
6 7 8

9

Valuation analysis
by value

31 December 
2008

%

31 December
2007

%

1. Written down – earnings 57 20

2. Earnings(i) 22 30

3. Quoted 10 18

4. Written down 6 –

5. Third-party 4 14

6. Cost 1 18
(i) Valuations based on earnings are calculated at an appropriate multiple of EBITDA

1
6

2

3

4 5

Geographical analysis
by value

31 December
2008

%

         
2007

%

1. Global 48 40

2. Continental Europe 28 31

3. UK 15 11

4. Asia 5 14

5. North America 4 4
(i) Restated for change in All3Media

1

2

3

4 5

31 December(i)



Valuation basis
The vast majority of the portfolio is valued with reference to the
public markets, with 79% of the portfolio valued on an earnings
basis and 10% on a quoted basis.

The most significant change to the valuation basis is the
percentage increase of the portfolio valued on a written down
earnings basis, which has increased to 57% from 20% driven 
by the dramatic change in the economic environment and fall in
comparable public company earnings multiples. The decline in 
the portfolio’s weighting of quoted companies from 18% to 10%
is a reflection of the sale of Parkway Holdings and the fall in value
of the quoted portfolio generally. 

On a like-for-like basis, the weighted-average multiple used to
value the portfolio declined by 21% to 8.0x. Including investments
valued on an earnings basis for the first time, the weighted average
multiple was 9.2x. The weighted-average illiquidity discount 
was 16.7%.

Geographical and sector distribution (by value)
Global businesses accounted for almost half of the portfolio, 
a slight increase on the previous year. This is predominantly 
a result of the new investments in Arysta LifeScience and Marazzi. 
The decline in the portfolio’s exposure to Asian companies has
been driven by the sale of Parkway Holdings and the fall in the
share price of Galaxy Entertainment. 

The sector bias of the portfolio is broadly split between companies
operating in the retail, chemicals, electronics/communication 
and consumer sectors, which together make up over 80% 
of the portfolio.

Deal type 
Management Buy-outs/ins and development capital transactions
represent 93% of the portfolio.

Portfolio concentration
The number of portfolio companies decreased to 116 from 129 
in the 12 months.
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Portfolio maturity – investments in companies (£’million)
31 December 2008

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

2002

2001

2000

1999 and before

Write-downs
Earnings

Year of original investment in underlying companies

Cost
Third-party 

Quoted 

0 8040 120 160 200



Other assets

Private equity funds of funds portfolio – £111.5 million 
(15.1% of the investment portfolio)
At 31 December 2008, SVG Capital’s investments in private 
equity funds of funds were valued at £111.5 million, a decrease 
of £70.9 million (50.3p per share) to the December 2007
valuation, or acquisition cost. The fall in the value of these
investments is a reflection of decreases in the net assets of 
some of the funds of funds, which have also been impacted 
by leverage in the fund structure.

Public equity funds portfolio – £19.5 million 
(2.6% of the investment portfolio)
The considerable volatility in equity markets in 2008 has 
impacted SVG Capital’s holdings in funds managed by its public
equity team. At 31 December 2008, these holdings were valued 
at £19.5 million, a £23.6 million (16.7p per share) decline on 
the opening valuation or attributable cost.

Other investments – £14.3 million 
(1.9% of the investment portfolio)
The value of SVG Capital’s holding in SVG India declined 
by £6.4 million. The Company also made a US$5 million
commitment during the year to another Indian venture, the 
Gaja Capital Fund I. At 31 December 2008, the value of these
holdings, together with the Company’s investment in Key Capital,
a Dublin based corporate finance boutique, was £14.3 million,
which represents a £10.6 million (7.5p per share) decrease to 
the opening valuation or attributable cost. 

Collateralised Loan Obligations – £0.0 million 
(0.0% of the investment portfolio)
SVG Capital has a number of investments in Collateralised Loan
Obligation (CLO) funds, primarily two managed by Key Capital
and one by Permira Debt Managers. At 31 December 2008, all 
of these investments were written down to zero, which represents
a £42.1 million (29.8p per share) write-down to the opening
valuation or attributable cost.
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Private equity funds of funds portfolio
12 months to 
31 December 

2008
£’million

Opening valuation 66.1

Calls paid 122.5

Distributions received (6.2)

Decrease in value of portfolio (70.9)

Closing portfolio 111.5

Other investments
12 months to 
31 December 

2008
£’million

Opening valuation 16.4

Calls paid 8.5

Distributions received –

Decrease in value of portfolio (10.6)

Closing portfolio 14.3

Public equity funds portfolio
12 months to 
31 December 

2008
£’million

Opening valuation 39.5

Calls paid 3.6

Distributions received –

Decrease in value of portfolio (23.6)

Closing portfolio 19.5

CLO equity funds of funds
12 months to 
31 December 

2008
£’million

Opening valuation 38.3

Calls paid 7.9

Distributions received (4.1)

Increase in value of portfolio (42.1)

Closing portfolio –
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Investment portfolio fund commitments
Following the reorganisation of Permira IV, SVG Capital’s uncalled commitments have decreased to £492.9 million at 31 December 2008.

Amount Amount
called uncalled Uncalled

(local currency) (local currency) commitment*
Uncalled commitments million million £’million

Permira funds

Permira Europe III €323.0 €35.5 34.3

Permira IV €1,242.2 €202.2 195.5

P1234 €30.8 €7.7 7.4

P25 €75.4 €6.6 6.4

SVG Sapphire IV €8.4 €5.6 5.4

249.0

Other private equity funds

The Japan Fund IV ¥4,601.5 ¥1,071.4 8.2

SV Investments Fund I US$43.4 US$4.0 2.8

SV Life Sciences Fund III US$12.8 US$2.2 1.5

SV Life Sciences Fund IV US$19.5 US$30.5 21.2

33.7

Private equity fund of funds

SVG Diamond III €26.1 €39.1 37.8

SVG Asia Fund of Funds US$4.1 US$36.8 25.6

Vintage I €11.2 €28.8 27.8

Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds III €0.6 €0.4 0.4

91.6

CLO equity funds

Key Capital SVG CLO Equity Fund II €13.0 €7.0 6.8

Public equity funds

Strategic Recovery Fund II £14.8 £13.5 13.5

Other investments

SVG India US$31.3 US$0.8 0.6

Gaja Capital Fund US$0.8 US$4.3 3.0

Warehoused private equity fund investments

– €-denominated €25.7 €84.3 81.5

– US$-denominated US$11.0 US$19.0 13.2

Total 492.9
*Based on exchange rates at 31 December 2008

Summary returns on investment portfolio
SVG Capital Group’s return on its total investment portfolio is summarised below:

12 months to 12 months to
31 December 31 December 

2008 2007
£’million £’million

Opening valuation 1,321.3 921.5

Calls payable 555.3 581.7

Distributions received(iii) (332.7)(i) (312.4)(ii)

1,543.9 1,190.8

Return on portfolio (802.8) 130.5

Closing portfolio 741.1 1,321.3
(i) Including £2.7 million of income
(ii) Including £17.1 million of income
(iii) Including the sale of a secondary portfolio of funds with final settlement proceeds of £103.0 million



Largest investments

Listed below are the Company’s 10 largest fund investments 
at 31 December 2008:

2008
Fund Manager/adviser £’000

Permira IV Permira 282,632

Permira Europe III Permira 99,974

Permira Europe II Permira 61,938

SVG Diamond SVG Advisers 50,806

P1234 SVG Advisers 42,002

P123 SVG Advisers 37,142

P25 SVG Advisers 30,948

SVG Diamond II SVG Advisers 29,967

Vintage I Mizuho 21,822

SV Life Sciences Fund IV SV Life Sciences Advisers 12,111

Private equity funds portfolio –
20 largest underlying companies

In the following pages, we show SVG Capital’s 20 largest
investments by value as at 31 December 2008. The valuations 
of these companies have been presented in accordance with IFRS
and costs and values have been restated for the sale of secondary
interests in May 2008. In addition, following the decision by the
Company to cap its commitment to Permira IV, the valuations of all
of the Permira IV investments include a provision against the value
of the investments. This list of investments does not include one
investment which has been excluded for commercial reasons.

1. Arysta LifeScience (Japan)

£’000

Cost 149,852

Value 84,204

Date of acquisition February 2008

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 19.4%

Fund Permira IV

Arysta is the world’s largest privately-held agrochemicals business.
The company markets a portfolio of over 150 products in 
more than 125 countries and focuses on two main business lines;
conventional crop protection (agriscience) and animal care
products (life science). The valuation basis is earnings.

2. Valentino Fashion Group/Hugo Boss (Italy)

£’000

Cost 161,678

Value 78,646

Date of acquisition May 2007

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 18.1%

Fund Permira IV

The Valentino Fashion Group and Hugo Boss operate in over 
100 countries, with more than 1,500 single-brand boutiques 
and 345 directly-managed shops. The group’s activities are broken
down into three business units, covering the entire luxury and
fashion sector: Valentino, Hugo Boss and licensed brands including 
M Missoni, in addition to its own brand Lebole. The valuation 
basis is earnings.

3. TDC (Denmark)

£’000

Cost 40,317

Value 65,381

Date of acquisition December 2005

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 15.1%

Fund Permira Europe II & III

TDC is a leading Danish-based provider of communications
solutions with significant presence in selected markets in 
Northern and Central Europe. TDC now operates mainly through
four domestic Nordic divisions (Business Nordic, Fixnet Nordic,
Mobile Nordic and YouSee) and through Sunrise, the number two
telecoms operator in Switzerland. The valuation basis is earnings.
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4. Acromas (The AA & Saga) (UK)

£’000

Cost 41,461

Value 41,421

Date of acquisition September 2007

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 9.5%

Fund Permira Europe III

Acromas was formed in September 2007 by the merger financing
of The AA and Saga, bringing together the two brands to create
one of the UK’s leading affinity based motoring, travel, media and
financial services organisation. The initial investment in The AA was
made in September 2004. The valuation basis is earnings.

5. Provimi (The Netherlands)

£’000

Cost 52,306

Value 39,333

Date of acquisition April 2007

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 9.1%

Fund Permira IV

Provimi is a diversified leader in animal nutrition solutions with
c.8% global market share. The company operates over 100 plants
in 30 countries specialising in innovative products serving the
nutritional and health needs of many animals. The valuation 
basis is earnings.

6. Birds Eye iglo (UK)

£’000

Cost 32,264

Value 38,925

Date of acquisition November 2006

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 9.0%

Fund Permira Europe III

Birds Eye iglo is a leading manufacturer of frozen foods, operating
mainly in the UK and Ireland under the ‘Birds Eye’ brand and 
in Continental Europe under the ‘iglo’ brand. The company’s 
main products include fish, vegetable and ready meals, in addition
to iconic products such as Fish Fingers and Schlemmer Filets. 
The valuation basis is earnings.

7. Legico (Luxembourg)

£’000

Cost 50,388

Value 34,803

Date of acquisition January 2008

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 8.0%

Fund Permira IV

Legico seeks to take advantage of the current credit dislocation 
by investing in senior, mezzanine and PIK opportunities 
in both primary and secondary markets. The company’s main
geographical focus is the UK and Europe, although it does 
have the flexibility to invest worldwide. The valuation basis 
is write-down.

8. debitel/Freenet (Germany)

£’000

Cost 171

Value 24,978

Date of acquisition June 2004

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 5.8%

Fund Permira Europe III

debitel is the third largest mobile telephony provider and the
leading distribution platform in Germany, offering a wide range 
of telecommunications products (mobile, fixed-line and internet).
The company is headquartered in Germany and following a year 
of active M&A now has over 14 million customers. Funds advised
by Permira sold their holding in debitel to Freenet AG in July 2008
and the valuation basis is third-party and quoted. The acquisition 
of the debitel Group by Freenet has resulted in the leading
distribution platform in the German mobile telephony market.

9. Freescale (US)

£’000

Cost 144,920

Value 22,527

Date of acquisition November 2006

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 5.2%

Fund Permira IV

Freescale is a global leader in the design and manufacture of
embedded semiconductors for wireless, networking, automotive,
consumer and industrial markets. Based in Texas, Freescale has
market leadership in the above-mentioned markets. The company
has a broad portfolio of more than 14,000 products serving over
10,000 customers. The valuation basis is earnings. 
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10. DinoSol Supermercados (Spain)

£’000

Cost 9,509

Value 20,427

Date of acquisition November 2004

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 4.7%

Fund Permira Europe III

DinoSol Supermercados (formerly Ahold Supermercados) 
is the number six food retailer in Spain and operates c.460 core
stores in Spain and the Canary Islands, trading primarily under 
the SuperSol and HiperDino brands. The company also operates
convenience stores under the Netto brand. The valuation basis 
is earnings.

11. Marazzi (Italy)

£’000

Cost 41,853

Value 20,424

Date of acquisition July 2008

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 4.7%

Fund Permira IV

Marazzi Group is the world leader in the design, manufacturing
and sales of ceramic tiles. Marazzi also manufactures and
distributes sanitary ware through its subsidiary Hatria. It has 
a strong international footprint with production facilities in France,
Italy, Russia, Spain and the USA and sales in over 130 countries.
The valuation basis is earnings.

12. Telepizza (Spain)

£’000

Cost 12,165

Value 19,153

Date of acquisition September 2006

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 4.4%

Fund Permira Europe III

Telepizza is currently the leading player in the Spanish home
delivery and take-away pizza business operating about 650 owned
and franchised outlets. The company has an international presence
in Portugal, Chile, Central America and Poland where it has around
30% of its outlets, and also operates seven dough and cheese
factories in Spain, Poland, Portugal and Chile for its own products.
The valuation basis is earnings.

13. Galaxy (Greater China)

£’000

Cost 109,168

Value 14,644

Date of acquisition November 2007

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 3.4%

Fund Permira IV

Galaxy Entertainment Group is a casino and hotel operator 
in Macau, China. It is one of six gaming concessionaires licensed 
to operate casinos in Macau, the only legal gaming location 
in China. Galaxy operates the flagship property, StarWorld. 
The valuation basis is quoted.

14. New Look (UK)

£’000

Cost 472

Value 11,650

Date of acquisition April 2004

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 2.7%

Fund Permira Europe II

New Look is a leading European fast fashion retailer with a value
proposition aimed at targeting the young female market. Although
the company’s broad product offering focuses on womenswear, 
it also includes footwear, accessories and is expanding into
menswear. New Look’s broad network is comprised of 607 stores
in the UK and Ireland, 23 stores in France and Belgium and
franchise stores in the Middle East. In addition, in France and
Belgium, the company also operates 291 stores which trade 
under the MIM fascia. The valuation basis is earnings. 
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15. All3Media (UK)

£’000

Cost 11,033

Value 11,533

Date of acquisition September 2006

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 2.7%

Fund Permira Europe III

All3Media is comprised of a group of production companies from
across the UK, Germany, The Netherlands, New Zealand and the
US. The group also includes an international distribution company,
a digital media producer, a next generation advertising agency 
and a talent management business. Key programmes include
Hollyoaks, Midsomer Murders and Shameless. The valuation 
basis is earnings.

16. SEAT Pagine Gialle (Italy)

£’000

Cost 22,221

Value 9,939

Date of acquisition July 2003

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 2.3%

Fund Permira Europe II

SEAT Pagine Gialle, is a provider of yellow pages and directory
information services. It publishes printed and online yellow 
and white pages directories in Italy, where it has more than 95%
market share. It also provides voice directory assistance services 
in Italy, Germany, France and Spain. The company also owns 
the ‘Thomson Local’ directories in the UK. The valuation basis 
is quoted. 

17. Britvic (UK)

£’000

Cost 9,497

Value 9,896

Date of acquisition August 2006

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 2.3%

Fund Permira Europe III

Britvic Soft Drinks is one of the two leading soft drinks businesses 
in Great Britain, with brands like Pepsi, Robinsons and Tango. 
The valuation basis is quoted.

18. Cognis Group (Germany)

£’000

Cost 1,831

Value 7,827

Date of acquisition November 2001

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 1.8%

Fund Permira Europe II

Cognis is a worldwide supplier of innovative speciality chemicals
and nutritional ingredients, with a particular focus on the areas 
of wellness and sustainability. The majority of Cognis’ products are
manufactured from sustainable sources such as coconut and palm
kernel oil. With production sites and service centres in 30 countries,
Cognis has three strategic business units; Care Chemicals, Nutrition
& Health and Functional Chemicals. The valuation basis is earnings.

19. Principal Hayley Group (UK)

£’000

Cost 19,490

Value 6,990

Date of acquisition September 2006

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 1.6%

Fund Permira Europe III

Principal Hayley Group is a collection of hotels and conference
centres which competes in the upper mid-market segment 
of the UK hotel and residential conference markets. The group
comprises 19 properties in the UK and two in continental Europe.
The valuation basis is earnings.

20. Strides Arcolab (India)

£’000

Cost 3,235

Value 4,330

Date of acquisition January 2002

Percentage of Shareholders’ funds 1.0%

Fund Schroder Ventures Asia Pacific Fund

Strides Arcolab manufactures a range of generic drugs and tablets
for supply to Western and developing markets. The valuation basis
is quoted.



SVG Advisers

The investment management and advisory business, SVG Advisers,
was established in 2001 with the key objective of providing
intelligent solutions and innovative structures for investing in
private equity or public equity using private equity techniques.

In a difficult year for fund raising, the business has raised one 
new fund during the year, the US$200 million SVG Asia Fund of
Funds, but has seen a decrease in funds and commitments under
management to €4.2 billion. In particular, the funds managed by
SVG Investment Managers declined significantly due to dramatic
falls in public markets.

The business reported recurring external revenues of £28.0 million
in the year, an increase of 27% on 2007. Total external fee income
stood at £28.4 million, which compares to £29.7 million for 2007.
This decrease in total income is predominantly a result of the
absence of performance fees from the public equity team.
Including fees paid by SVG Capital to SVG Advisers total fees
earned by the operating subsidiaries and other income were 
£35.8 million, contributing £20.3 million to the Group’s 
operating profit (before finance costs) in 2008. This number
includes certain exceptional items and will not be sustained 
at this level in the short term.

The business manages eight diversified private equity fund of
funds, five single manager funds (all investing in Permira Funds)
and five funds investing in public equities using private equity
techniques. 

Contractual arrangements 

As was fully reported to shareholders in a Circular to shareholders
dated 24 March 2005, SVG Capital entered into arrangements
with Permira which allowed SVG Capital full access to Permira IV
and to its successor, Permira V. Concurrent with the arrangements,
Permira subscribed for shares in the Company. The arrangements
also included an operating agreement which imposes material
limits on the extent to which the Group may have investments
which are not in Permira Funds or Permira Products. These limits
substantially prevent the Group from investing in private equity
funds or products managed or advised by general partners or
managers other than Permira during the term of the operating
agreement. One of the principal undertakings made by SVG Capital
is that the Company will operate with the intention that no more
than 20% of the gross assets and uncalled commitments of 
the Group will be in non-Permira funds or products (subject to
certain limited exceptions) and subject to a maximum of 25%. 
The effect of the operating agreement therefore is to increase 
the Group’s reliance on Permira and increase its concentration 
risk. Subject to earlier termination, the operating agreement 
will terminate on the date on which the first closing of Permira V
occurs if none of SVG Capital, any other member of the Group 
or any SVG product makes any commitment to Permira V or, 
if SVG Capital, any other member of the Group or any SVG
product does so, the date of final closing of that fund. There can
be no assurance as to when Permira V will be raised. If the first
closing of Permira V has not occurred by 30 June 2012, the
Company and Permira Holdings are each able to terminate the
operating agreement by giving written notice. A copy of the
Circular to shareholders is available on the Company’s website:
www.svgcapital.com.

Risks and risk management

The Board has adopted a matrix of key risks which affect its
business and a robust framework of internal control which is
designed to monitor those risks and to provide a monitoring
system to enable the Directors to mitigate these risks as far as
possible. Further details of the Directors’ system of internal control
and its monitoring system, is set out in the Corporate Governance
Statement. The principal risks are considered to be as follows:

General risks associated with investment in private equity
Investment in private equity involves a high degree of risk. 
The Group invests in private equity through its exposure to 
buy-out and development capital funds. Such investments are
illiquid and might be difficult to realise, particularly within a short
timeframe. The Directors seek to maintain a diversified portfolio 
of investments to mitigate these risks, although the portfolio does
remain concentrated with respect to private equity fund managers
as explained below. 

Valuation and leverage risk
The Group’s exposure to valuation risk comprises mainly
movements in the value of its underlying investments. 
A breakdown of the Group’s portfolio of private equity funds 
is given on pages 9 to 19 and a detailed analysis of the 20 largest
underlying companies is given on pages 16 to 19. In addition to
any Group borrowings the Company also holds interests in funds
which are leveraged themselves such as SVG Diamond I, II, III 
and Vintage I. The additional leverage in these funds may create
additional volatility to valuations. All underlying investments are
valued at fair value by the Directors in accordance with the current
International Private Equity and Venture Capital (“IPEVC”)
Guidelines. The IPEVC Guidelines contain detailed methodology
setting out best practice with respect to valuing unquoted
investments. In valuing its portfolio, SVG Capital is dependent on
such information as Permira and other fund managers may provide
to it as a limited partner in the relevant fund. Permira and other
fund managers are themselves dependent on information made
available by the management of the portfolio companies. This
information from Permira, other fund managers and portfolio
companies is necessarily limited, subjective and depends on the
accuracy of judgments by the underlying portfolio companies,
many of which are unquoted and not publicly traded and by the
general partners and other managers of the funds. There can be 
no assurance that such information or judgments are accurate or
complete. It should be noted that the Company has no direct
access to the underlying management accounts of the portfolio
companies. Investment in funds requires a long term commitment
with no certainty of return. The ability of the funds to achieve
capital appreciation could be affected by any significant general
change in the value of the investments held by the funds. There
can be negative movements in valuations which can be due to
deterioration in a specific portfolio company’s performance and/or
changes in market or public company comparable earnings
multiples. In highly leveraged companies, reductions in earnings
may have a significantly greater impact on their valuation. 
Private equity investments, by their nature, involve uncertainty 
as to the ultimate value likely to be realised upon disposal of those
investments (if any), particularly because their predominantly
unquoted nature means that a ready market may not exist for
them. Portfolio companies may be difficult to value and disposals,
if any, of such investments may require a lengthy period of time
depending on the market for such investments at the time. 
The value of these investments could decrease and SVG Capital, 
as an investor in a fund, may not recover the full amount of its
original investment.
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Future commitment/funding risk
At 31 December 2008, the Group had uncalled commitments,
including warehouse commitments, of £492.9 million 
(2007: £1,635.5 million), compared to Shareholders’ funds 
of £434.2 million (2007: £1,299.6 million). The major movement
in uncalled commitments during the year arose when the 
Board elected to cap its direct capital commitment to Permira IV 
at 60% of its original commitment. The Group has in place a
€550.0 million multicurrency borrowing facility (with a term 
until March 2011) and has in addition issued £332.0 million of
unsecured Notes. The company repurchased 26.7% of the Notes
in issue in January 2009. In March 2009 the Company received
gross proceeds of £171.3 million from a Rights Issue and Placing.

The Board considers cash flow forecasts at each Board meeting and
expects to meet a substantial portion of its uncalled commitments,
as well as commitments to future funds, from distributions received
from its investments and from borrowings available to the Group.
In the latter part of 2008, it became apparent that distributions
from current investments are being adversely impacted by the
challenging economic conditions. This therefore meant that it was
likely that commitments would have to be met out of existing cash
resources and borrowings rather than distributions for the short 
to medium term. To this end, the Group renegotiated the funding
facilities as described in the Finance Director’s report and has 
in place a five-year multicurrency €550.0 million borrowing facility,
which will assist in providing funds to meet uncalled commitments
until March 2011. Any reduction in the net asset value attributable
to shareholders and the share price will be amplified by balance
sheet gearing. The Directors keep the Group’s gearing under
review and impose restrictions on borrowings to mitigate this risk. 

Borrowing risk
The Revolving Credit Facility and the Notes each contain financial
covenants. The consequences for the Company of breaching such
covenants would be serious. The lenders under the Revolving
Credit Facility would no longer be required to advance amounts
available under the Revolving Credit Facility and amounts
outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Notes may
become immediately due and payable by the Company. In such
circumstances, the Company may become obliged to sell its assets
on unfavourable terms to repay its debts, thereby reducing the
returns which shareholders may otherwise have earned. Any such
default may also trigger a cross-default under other existing
financing arrangements.

The Group may obtain financing which matures before the
investments in underlying portfolio companies are realised. 
In that case, the Group will be required to seek a refinancing 
of such financing. There can be no assurance that the Group will
be able to obtain new finance on competitive terms or at all and
therefore it may suffer a loss as a result of having to dispose of
investments which cannot be refinanced either at a time which 
is not of the Group’s own volition or at all and at a price which
does not reflect the full value of the asset which may be achieved
upon its maturity. A failure to obtain new finance could result in 
a member of the Group defaulting on its obligations which could
have a material adverse effect on the Group. The Revolving Credit
Facility is currently available until March 2011, the convertible
bonds mature in 2016 and the Notes are due in 2013, 2014 
and 2015.

Default risk
A fund’s documentation generally provides for certain penalties 
in the event that an investor in the fund fails to meet a call. There 
is typically a grace period during which interest accrues on the
unpaid amount. If the default continues, the investor may become
subject to various sanctions, including termination of the investor’s
right to participate in future investments, loss of its entitlement to
distributions or income but not its liability for losses or expenses,
mandatory transfer or sale of its interest, continuing liability for the
principal and interest in respect of the defaulted amount, partial 
or total forfeiture of the investor’s interest and liability for any other
rights and remedies (including legal remedies) the general partner
or manager may have against the investor. In the case of partial
forfeiture, this would often have the effect of the investor losing 
an amount equal to at least 25% of its interest in, and entitlement
to distributions from, the fund. The investor may also remain liable
for future calls in respect of the relevant fund as and when they are
made. There can be no assurance as to the price which may be
achieved in any mandatory transfer or sale following a default on 
a call. Certain funds give the general partner or manager the right
to proceed directly to forfeiture proceedings following notice and
continuation of default by an investor. In the case of a forfeiture,
the share of the fund held by the defaulting investor would
generally be allocated among the general partner or manager and
the remaining investors. In addition, the investor may remain liable
for the defaulted amount. Consequently, any failure by SVG Capital
to meet any call may have a material adverse effect on the value 
of SVG Capital’s interest in a fund and/or on the net asset value of
SVG Capital and/or on SVG Capital’s ability to generate returns for
its Shareholders.

If another investor or limited partner in a fund in which the
Company holds an interest were to default on a call, this may 
result in the other investors (including the Company) in the fund 
in question becoming subject to individual calls of a larger amount
(but subject to each investor’s original capital commitment) and, 
in addition, the fund in question may make fewer or smaller or
more highly leveraged investments. Any such occurrence may 
lead to a reduction in the diversification of the Company’s interests
in underlying portfolio companies, increase volatility, increase the
Company’s financing requirements and may have an adverse effect
on the Company’s business and prospects. In addition, a failure 
to meet a call may result in a cross-default under the Notes and the
Revolving Credit Facility which could result in a substantial loss.

Investment holdings period
Investment in private equity requires a long term commitment
with no certainty of return. Many of the investments made by 
the Group are illiquid holdings in buy-out and development capital
funds and, in some cases, may not be capable of being realised in 
a timely manner or at all. The timing of cash distributions, if any,
made by the buy-out and development capital funds is uncertain
and unpredictable and has been impacted by the worsening
economic environment. 

Current market conditions have made it more difficult for general
partners or other managers of private equity funds to dispose of
investments at attractive prices and otherwise on favourable terms.
The Company considers that it is likely that these difficult
circumstances will continue in the short to medium term and,
while they do continue, it may be that the returns of the Company
from its investments will be reduced and/or delayed.
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Any further material change in the economic environment,
including a continued slow-down in economic growth and/or
changes in interest rates or foreign exchange rates, could have 
a negative impact on the performance and/or valuation of the
underlying portfolio companies. SVG Capital’s performance may
be affected by prolonged weakness or further deterioration in
public markets and by market events, such as the current world
financial crisis, which may impact on not only its quoted portfolio
companies but also the public company comparable earnings
multiples used to value unquoted portfolio companies.

A further consequence of the difficulty in achieving attractive sale
prices for portfolio companies is that the general partners, or other
managers, of the private equity funds in which the Company holds
interests are more likely to delay disposing of portfolio companies
until market conditions improve. As a result, the Company is likely
to receive distributions in respect of its investments at a slower rate
than may have otherwise been the case in a more favourable
economic environment. In addition to this, a fund manager’s
ability to realise its interest in certain portfolio companies in whole
or in part may be subject to contractual restrictions such as
shareholder lock-up arrangements. It may therefore be the case
that the Company decides to pay calls with debt finance rather
than relying upon receiving distributions from investments which 
it has made which may therefore increase the Company’s
borrowings and risk and volatility for Shareholders. There can
therefore be no assurance as to whether, and if so how much, 
the value of the Company’s assets will grow. The timing of returns,
if any, to SVG Capital is uncertain and unpredictable.

Investments in buy-out and development capital funds may 
be difficult to value and dispositions may require a lengthy time
period since there is only a limited market for secondary sales 
of private equity investments. Further, sales or other transfers 
of interests in buy-out and development capital funds sometimes
require the written consent of the general partner of the fund, 
the granting of which is at its discretion. Accordingly, the Group
may not be able to sell its investments in buy-out and
development capital funds at their net asset value.

The Directors believe that the investment process employed 
when initially selecting investments helps to ensure that the
Group’s investments would normally be attractive to buyers 
in the secondary market. However the portfolio does remain
concentrated with respect to private equity fund managers 
as explained below and this may impact the ability to place 
a large holding of a single fund on the secondary market at 
any one time.

Concentration risk
The Company’s ability to achieve its investment objective and 
to generate returns for Shareholders will depend upon the ability 
of the general partners and other managers of the funds in which
the Company holds interests (including Permira Funds) to identify,
invest in, support and dispose of portfolio companies on attractive
terms. The majority of the Company’s investments are managed 
or advised by Permira, and the future performance of the Group 
will therefore be largely dependent on the future performance 
of the Permira Funds in which it has invested. The Directors have
chosen this strategy on the basis of the very long positive record 
of Permira and the geographical and industry diversification which
the Permira Funds’ provide. However, the greater concentration 
of the investment portfolio also presents a risk. The performance of
Permira Funds depends to a significant extent upon the skills and
experience of Permira and its personnel. The continued service of
these individuals is not guaranteed and there can be no assurance
that key individuals can be replaced with equally skilled and
experienced professionals by Permira. Therefore, the departure of
one or several key investment professionals or partners at Permira

may have an adverse effect on the performance of the Company
and the value and trading price of the Ordinary Shares. Each 
fund investment proposition is considered by the Investment
Committee and the Board in accordance with a structured
investment process. This includes presentations from the manager
of the proposed fund, extensive due diligence, consideration of the
terms and conditions for investment in the fund, consideration of
the Group’s own cash flows and future commitments and a review
of the effect of any such investment on portfolio concentration.

Portfolio company risks
Since the Company invests through private equity funds in
portfolio companies, the risks experienced by the portfolio
companies will closely affect the returns earned by the Company
and the trading price and value of its Ordinary Shares. The risks
which the portfolio companies may experience, and the risks
posed by an investment in such companies, include:

• these companies may be highly leveraged and subject to
significant debt service obligations, stringent operating and
financial covenants and a higher risk of default under financing
and other contractual arrangements, which would lead to severe
adverse consequences for the relevant portfolio company and
the value of the Company’s investment in such company if a
default were to occur;

• the valuations of highly leveraged companies are typically more
sensitive to changes in value in public company comparable
earnings multiples, declines in revenues, increases in expenses
and interest rates and adverse economic, market and industry
developments. The risk of loss associated with a highly leveraged
company is generally far greater than for companies with
comparatively less debt;

• they may have limited financial resources and may be unable to
meet their obligations under their debt facilities, or to refinance
debt facilities when they fall due, which may be accompanied by 
a deterioration in the value of their equity securities in which the
Company is ultimately invested;

• they may require significant additional capital investment or
operational or management support to improve their operations,
finance expansions or maintain their competitive positions. Such
investment and support may not be forthcoming;

• generally, little public information exists about these companies
and investors in these companies generally must rely on
information obtained by the general partner, or other manager, 
of the relevant fund which holds the portfolio company;

• there can be no assurance as to the adequacy or accuracy of
information provided during any due diligence exercise
conducted prior to an investment being made. The general
partner, or relevant manager, of the fund in question may have
made judgments concerning the materiality of contingent or
actual risks or liabilities identified during due diligence that may
not in practice turn out to have been accurate;

• the purchase agreements relating to the investment in question
may contain only limited representations and warranties from the
relevant vendors and these may be limited in, for example, time
and amount. Such contractual protection would typically not be
addressed to the Company directly and, in any case, there can
be no assurance as to the ability of the relevant vendor to satisfy
any claims which may be made under any such agreement;

• general operating risks arising from or being, amongst other
matters, the cost of goods and services, difficulty in obtaining
customers, losses arising from customer failure, market
developments, competition risk, key man risk, foreign exchange
risk, financing risks, an increase in costs and the legal and
regulatory framework within which the portfolio company operates;

Business review continued
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• there are likely to be prior claims on the assets of portfolio
companies from debt providers which would reduce the
amounts earned by the equity holders including, indirectly, 
the Company; and 

• lenders to portfolio companies may take actions which are
adverse to the interests of the holders of equity interests in the
portfolio company including, indirectly, the Company.

The value of the portfolio companies held by the funds in which
the Company holds interests may be affected by uncertainties,
such as political developments, changes in government policies,
regulations, laws, taxation, currency fluctuations, currency
repatriation and other restrictions, in some of the countries in
which the funds may invest. The Company, directly or indirectly
through the funds in which the Company holds interests, may 
also be exposed to these risks.

Passive investor with limited recourse
The Company is generally a passive investor and has limited
powers under the governing documents of the funds in which 
it holds interests. The funds concerned are, within certain broad
parameters, generally authorised to follow broad investment
guidelines and, subject thereto, are able to invest in geographies,
industries and investment opportunities at their discretion. 
The Company does not review each proposed investment and is,
subject to certain limited exceptions, unable to refuse to meet 
a Call without suffering the consequences of a default. There can 
be no assurance that the strategies adopted by Permira or other
general partners or managers of the funds in which the Company
holds interests will be successful or that the portfolio companies 
of such funds, or the Company’s investments generally, will
appreciate in value.

The Company also holds some investments in funds in respect 
of which other members of the Group are the general partner,
manager and/or adviser. In these instances, fiduciary duties are
owed by the relevant members of the Group to other investors
which, together with the terms of the relevant fund management
or advisory agreement, mean that the relevant members of the
Group are unable to submit each proposed investment for review
by the Company which will, therefore, remain a passive investor 
in respect of the relevant fund.

The Company cannot make claims against general partners or
managers of the funds in which the Company invests even in 
cases of poor performance except in very limited circumstances
typically involving severe culpability on the part of the general
partner or manager. The Company’s recourse in the event of poor
performance of the funds concerned is highly restricted. Removal
of the general partner or manager of a fund generally requires 
a high level of investor participation and consent with the relevant
threshold often being set so as to require the consent of holders 
of 75% of the capital committed to the fund in question. The
Company is unlikely to be able to procure such participation and
consent on its own and it may therefore be very difficult to remove
a general partner or manager of a fund in which the Company
invests such that the Company may potentially find itself locked
into an under-performing fund. The fund documentation relating
to Permira IV contains no provision for the removal of the general
partner or manager by vote of the limited partners save 
in circumstances involving severe culpability. Even if those
circumstances were to arise, which the Company considers to be
unlikely, the consent of a special majority of limited partners would
be required which the Company is unlikely to be able to procure
on its own. Once the Company has made a capital commitment to
a fund, it may be difficult to terminate its participation or reduce its
capital commitment even if the investment returns arising from
that fund are poor or not competitive.

Currency and interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk directly since the majority 
of its assets and liabilities are denominated in foreign currency and
their sterling value can be significantly affected by movements in
foreign exchange rates. Currency risk is monitored on a regular
basis by the Board. The Group may from time to time hedge
against foreign currency movements affecting the value of its
investments.

Regulatory risks
The regulatory environment in which the Group operates is
increasingly complex and the Group faces a number of regulatory
risks. Breaches of regulations such as the UK Listing Authority’s
Listing Rules could lead to a number of detrimental outcomes 
and damage the Group’s reputation. Breaches of controls by
service providers could also lead to reputational damage or loss.
Key regulatory risks have been identified and appropriate
monitoring of such risks is undertaken regularly on behalf of the
Board. Three of the Company’s subsidiaries: SVG Advisers Limited,
SVG Investment Managers Limited and SVG Managers Limited are
authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority.

Risk of warehousing assets
The Company has, in the past, occasionally made commitments 
to fund investments in order to seed a prospective SVG Advisers
product and then warehoused the investments on the balance
sheet until the product was launched. In the current difficult fund
raising environment, there is a risk that no new funds will be 
raised in the near future into which these commitments can 
be transferred. The Company will therefore either have to sell 
these investments or hold them on its balance sheet.

Taxation risk
Any change in the taxation legalisation or practice could affect the
value of the Group’s investments and as a result, its performance. 
A breach of Section 842 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act
1988 could result in the Group being subject to corporation tax 
on realised gains on the sale of portfolio investments which would
have a material adverse effect on the net returns earned by 
SVG Capital. However, the Group has strict controls in place to
ensure that it complies with the requirements of Section 842 and
contracts with specialist tax advisers to provide advice on changes
to the tax regulation and practice. However, there can be no
guarantee in advance that the Company will satisfy the conditions
for approval by HMRC as an investment trust under Section 842 or
that the Company will not become a close company, which would
result in its being unable to qualify as an investment trust for tax
purposes. The Company has agreed allocation arrangements
within the documentation of Permira Funds in order to assist in
compliance with the conditions for approval by HMRC as an
investment trust under Section 842. There can be no guarantee 
or assurance however that such arrangements will be secured for
future investments. Any failure to do so will increase the risk of 
a breach of Section 842.
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List of investments (Group)
at 31 December 2008

SVG Capital’s Value of
holding in SVG Capital’s % of total

Year Original the fund holding investment
formed life (years) % £’000 portfolio

Europe
Permira Europe I

The first US$1 billion fund raised for private equity investment in Europe focusing on large and 
medium-sized leveraged buy-out opportunities. 1997* 10 13.5 2,359 0.3

Permira Europe II 

Formed as the successor to Permira Europe I, the fund focuses on European buy-outs and 
buy-ins, in addition to growth capital investments. 2000 10 15.2 61,938 8.4

Permira Europe III 

Formed as the successor to Permira Europe II, the fund focuses on buy-outs/ins and growth 
capital investments in European businesses or of global businesses with a strong 
European presence. 2003 10 7.2 99,974 13.5

Permira IV 

Formed as a successor fund to Permira Europe III, the fund focuses on buy-outs/ins and 
growth capital investments in businesses which have or intend to have significant activities 
in Europe. The fund may invest up to 30% of its committed capital in businesses which 
do not have or intend to have significant activities in Europe. 2006 10 22.2** 282,632 38.1

P123 

A fund of Permira pan-European buy-out funds, with interests in Permira Europe I, II and III. 2003 15 24.8 37,142 5.0

P1234 

A fund of Permira buy-out funds, with interests in P123 and Permira IV. 2006 15 42.8 42,002 5.7

P25 

A fund of Permira buy-out funds, with interests in Permira Europe III and Permira IV. 2006 15 47.7 30,948 4.2

SVG Sapphire IV 

A feeder fund that invests solely in Permira IV. 2006 15 34.2 21 –

Permira Italy II 

Established to make equity and near-equity investments in buy-outs and buy-ins, 
including development capital businesses, principally in Italy. 1993 10* 21.0 984 0.1

Permira UK III 

Established as Permira’s third buy-out fund in the United Kingdom to invest in equity 
and near-equity investments in buy-outs, buy-ins, development capital businesses 
and turnarounds. 1993 10* 0.3 64 –

Permira UK Venture III 

Established to invest in a diversified portfolio of venture or development 
capital businesses and buy-outs principally in the United Kingdom. 1990 10* 8.7 125 –

Permira UK Venture IV 

Established to follow the policies of the fully invested Permira UK Venture III. 1995 10* 4.2 148 –

Total Europe 558,337 75.3

Asia
Asia Pacific Trust

Formed to invest in equity and near-equity investments in the high growth economies 
of the Asia Pacific region. This trust has been in liquidation since 1998. 1990 8* 6.4 69 –

Asia Pacific Fund II

Established to make equity or near-equity investments in buy-outs, buy-ins, development 
capital businesses and turnarounds, principally in the Asia Pacific region with an emphasis 
on Australia, China, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore and Thailand. 1994 10* 14.0 1,520 0.2

Schroder Ventures Asia Pacific Fund

Established to make equity or near-equity investments in companies that have significant 
exposure to the Asia Pacific region. The fund focuses principally on management buy-outs 
and buy-ins, financial acquisitions and larger development capital opportunities. 1999 10 29.9 2,267 0.3

The Japan Fund IV

Established to invest in buy-out transactions in Japan across a range of industries and sectors. 2004 10 27.2 4,820 0.7

Total Asia 8,676 1.2

* The lives of these funds have been extended.
** Interest in existing portfolio companies as at the date of the Permira IV reorganisation.
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SVG Capital’s Value of
holding in SVG Capital’s % of total

Year Original the fund holding investment
formed life (years) % £’000 portfolio

North America
Schroder Canadian Buy-Out Fund III

Established to invest principally in buy-outs, buy-ins, leveraged build-ups and development 
capital opportunities in Canada. 2000 10 26.6 314 –

Co-investments with Schroder Canadian Buy-Out Funds III and SV Investments Fund I 1,479 0.2

SV Life Sciences Fund III

Formerly known as International Life Sciences Fund III. The successor to SV Life Sciences 
Fund II, established to invest in a diversified portfolio of life sciences companies principally 
in the United States and Europe. The majority of these investments will be in 
early-stage opportunities. 2002 10 19.1 6,350 0.9

SV Life Sciences Fund IV

Formed as a successor fund to SV Life Sciences Fund III, to invest in a diversified portfolio 
of life sciences companies principally in the United States and Europe. The majority of 
these investments will be in early-stage opportunities. 2006 10 9.0 12,111 1.6

SV Investments Fund I

Established to invest in larger development capital and mid-size buy-outs in the 
United States, with a particular focus on media, telecommunications and technology sectors. 1999 10 25.9 8,530 1.2

Total North America 28,784 3.9

Total core private equity fund portfolio 595,797 80.4

Value of
SVG Capital’s

holding % of total
£’000 portfolio

Structured private equity funds of funds:

SVG Diamond I 46,011 6.2

SVG Diamond I (F Notes) 4,795 0.6

SVG Diamond II 28,041 3.8

SVG Diamond II (F Notes) 1,926 0.3

SVG Diamond III 6,660 0.9

Vintage I 21,822 2.9

Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds III 447 0.1

SVG Asia Fund of Funds 1,804 0.2

Total structured private equity funds of funds 111,506 15.0

Public equity funds:

Strategic Equity Capital 2,320 0.3

SVG UK Focus Fund 4,316 0.6

SVG UK Alpha 2,715 0.4

Strategic Recovery Fund II – co-investment 5,769 0.8

SVG European Fund 4,424 0.6

Total public equity funds 19,544 2.7

CLO Funds – –

SVG India 11,554 1.5

Gaja 384 0.1

Other 2,327 0.3

Total other investments 14,265 1.9

Total investment portfolio 741,112 100.0

Other assets less total liabilities (306,939)

Total Shareholders’ funds 434,173

Comparative values for the 10 largest funds are shown in note 32. 
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Directors

Andrew Williams Executive Director (aged 56)

Andrew Williams was appointed as a Director on 3 May 2002. He retired
from being a Director of Schroder Ventures Holdings Limited in December
2002. Before joining Schroder Ventures, Mr Williams worked at Schroders
including a period as Co-head of equity capital markets and for four years 
in Japan where he was Head of Corporate Finance. He was also head of 
the Schroders Securities Asian Division. He is a non-executive Director of
CDC Group plc and of Macquarie Bank International Ltd. In March 2009,
the Company announced Mr Williams will be leaving the Company.

Nicholas Ferguson Chairman (aged 60)

Nicholas Ferguson was appointed as a Director on 12 February 1996 
and Chairman on 25 April 2005. He was formerly Chairman of Schroder
Ventures and instrumental in its development since 1984. He is the 
Senior Independent Director and a non-executive Director of British 
Sky Broadcasting Group Plc. He is the Chairman of the Nominations
Committee.

Committees:
Nominations (Chairman)

Damon Buffini Non-Executive Director (aged 46)

Damon Buffini was appointed as a Director on 25 April 2005. He joined
Permira in 1988. He became a Partner of Permira in 1992, Managing
Partner of the UK in 1999 and Managing Partner in 2000. He is now
Chairman of the Board of Permira Holdings, chairman of the Permira Funds
investment committees and a member of the management committee 
of Permira Holdings LLP. He is a member of the Nominations Committee.

Committees:
Nominations

Lynn Fordham Executive Director (aged 45)

Lynn Fordham was appointed as a Director on 1 July 2008. She is the
Group’s Finance Director. She has over 20 years of financial experience 
and has held financial positions with Barratt Developments plc, BAA plc,
Boots Group plc, Chubb plc, MAN Group plc and BAT Holdings plc. 
She also spent 10 years in a number of roles with Mobil Oil Corporation.
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Francis Finlay Non-Executive Director (aged 66)

Francis Finlay was appointed as a Director on 1 October 2004. He is 
non-executive Chairman of Clay Finlay LLC., a New York based investment
management firm. His other non-executive directorships include two
London listed investment trusts, Scottish Investment Trust plc and
Indochina Capital Vietnam Holdings Limited. He is the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nominations Committee.

Committees:
Remuneration (Chairman) – Nominations

Anthony Habgood Non-Executive Director (aged 62)

Anthony Habgood was appointed as a Director on 12 February 1996 
and is Chairman of Bunzl plc and Chairman of Whitbread plc. He is 
a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nominations Committee 
and Remuneration Committee.

Committees:
Audit – Nominations – Remuneration

Denis Raeburn Non-Executive Director (aged 64)

Denis Raeburn was appointed as a Director on 25 June 2001 and was
Managing Director of the asset management company Global Asset
Management (GAM) between 1986 and 1999. He is a member of 
each of the Audit Committee, Nominations Committee and 
Remuneration Committee.

Committees:
Audit – Nominations – Remuneration

Edgar Koning Non-Executive Director (aged 56)

Edgar Koning was appointed as a Director on 12 February 1996 and
is Executive Vice President with AEGON Nederland NV. He joined the 
AEGON Group in 1981 and has held various senior management positions
in the AEGON Group. He is a member of the Nominations Committee.

Committees:
Nominations

Charles Sinclair Non-Executive Director (aged 60)

Charles Sinclair was appointed as a Director on 1 January 2005. He is 
a non-executive Director of Associated British Foods plc. He retired as 
Chief Executive of Daily Mail and General Trust plc on 30 September 2008, 
a post he held since 1989. Mr Sinclair is the Senior Independent Director 
of the Company. He is a past non-executive Director of Schroders plc 
and Reuters Group plc. He is a member of the Audit Committee.

Committees:
Audit

Gary Steinberg Non-Executive Director (aged 56)

Gary Steinberg was appointed as a Director on 15 March 2007. 
He is currently working as an investment consultant. Prior to this, 
Mr Steinberg was the Chief Investment Officer of The Wellcome Trust 
and the Chief Executive of BP Investment Management Limited,
responsible for managing investment portfolios of £11 billion and 
£12 billion respectively. He is Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Committees:
Audit (Chairman) – Remuneration



The Directors submit their report and the audited accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Company’s business

The Company carries on business as an investment trust and is an investment company within the meaning of Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006. 
In order to obtain exemption from capital gains tax, the Company has conducted itself with a view to being an approved investment trust for the
purposes of Section 842 of the United Kingdom Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (as amended). The last accounting period for which the
Company has been treated as approved by HM Revenue & Customs as meeting the qualifying criteria for investment trust status is the year ended 
31 December 2007 and the Company has subsequently conducted its affairs so as to enable it to continue to qualify for such approval.

The Company is not a close company for taxation purposes.

A review of the Company’s business and its likely future development is given in the Chairman’s statement on pages 4 and 5, the Finance Director’s report
on pages 6 and 7 and the Business review on pages 8 to 23.

Revenue and earnings

The consolidated revenue loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders was £10,404,000 (2007: profit of £20,970,000). The Company’s revenue
loss for the year was £8,514,000 (2007: profit of £9,950,000).

The consolidated capital loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders was £853,959,000 (2007: profit of £131,124,000). The Company’s capital
loss for the year was £853,554,000 (2007: profit of £129,572,000).

Taking capital returns into account, the consolidated loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders was £864,363,000 (2007: profit of
£152,094,000). The Company’s loss for the year was £862,068,000 (2007: profit of £139,522,000).

Dividend

The Company is prohibited by its Articles of Association from distributing as dividends any capital surpluses that arise from the realisation of investments.
Accordingly, any dividends paid by the Company will be funded out of its revenue account.

The Company’s investment objective is one of capital growth and it is anticipated that returns for shareholders will derive primarily from capital. No final
dividend is recommended for the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: dividend of 6.5p per share). 

Policy for payment of creditors

It is the policy of the Company to settle all investment transactions in accordance with the terms and conditions of the relevant markets in which it operates.
All other expenses are paid on a timely basis in the ordinary course of business. The Company had no trade creditors at 31 December 2008 (2007: Nil).

Purchase of shares for cancellation

The Directors have not used the authority given to them at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 7 May 2008 to purchase any of the
ordinary shares of the Company.

The total number of shares in issue on 1 April 2009 was 310,407,923 shares. To provide maximum flexibility, the Directors wish to renew the authority to
purchase shares for cancellation. A resolution authorising the Company to purchase up to 14.99% of the share capital in issue on 1 April 2009 will be
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting for which notice is given on pages 83 to 85.

This authority will lapse at the conclusion of the Company’s Annual General Meeting in 2010, unless revoked or varied earlier.

As at 1 April 2009, the Company held no shares in treasury. Accordingly, the percentage figures in this and other sections of the report are all calculated
exclusive of treasury shares.

The Directors believe that it is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders to have a general authority for the Company to buy-back its
ordinary shares in the market as they keep under review the share price discount to net asset value and the purchase of ordinary shares. Purchases will
only be made if they enhance net asset value and if the Directors consider that any purchase would be for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders, taking into account relevant factors and circumstances at the time. 

The total number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares outstanding at 1 April 2009 was 7,555,836, which represented approximately 2.4% of the issued
ordinary share capital at that date. If the Company were to purchase the maximum number of ordinary shares permitted by this resolution and by the existing
buy-back authority given on 7 May 2008 (for 20,845,758 shares) then the options outstanding at 1 April 2009 would represent approximately 3.1% of the
issued ordinary share capital. However, the Directors do not presently intend to exercise the existing authority prior to its expiry on 6 May 2009.
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Issue of new shares

At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 7 May 2008, the Directors were given powers (in substitution for the powers taken at the Annual
General Meeting of the Company in May 2007) to allot relevant securities as if the pre-emption provisions in Section 89(1) of the Companies Act 1985
did not apply. A total of 5,467 shares were issued during the year in connection with the Company’s Executive Share Option Plan.

Following shareholder approval at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 3 February 2009, a total of 70,000,000 shares were issued to investors 
on 10 February 2009 via a Placing and an additional 101,338,022 shares were issued to existing shareholders on 2 March 2009 via a Rights Issue. 
The Directors wish to renew the powers to issue shares at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Therefore, Resolutions 10 and 11 (set out in the 
notice of the Annual General Meeting on pages 83 to 85) will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

If passed, Resolution 10 will give the Directors the power to allot relevant securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of (a) £3,104,079 (equivalent 
to 1% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital as at 1 April 2009) in connection with the Company’s Executive Share Option Plan 2001 and 
the SVG Capital 2007 Performance Share Plan; and (b) £103,469,308 (equivalent to one-third of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital as at 
1 April 2009).

If passed, Resolution 11 will give the Directors the power to allot equity securities as if the pre-emption provisions in Section 89(1) of the Companies Act
1985 did not apply (a) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £3,104,079 (equivalent to 1% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital as at 1 April
2009) in connection with the Company’s Executive Share Option Plan 2001 and the SVG Capital 2007 Performance Share Plan; (b) pursuant to rights issues
and other pre-emptive issues; and (c) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £15,520,396 (equivalent to 5% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital
as at 1 April 2009).

The Directors are seeking the authority referred to in paragraph (c) of Resolution 11 in order to provide flexibility in raising monies and for general corporate
purposes. It is the intention of the Board that any equity securities allotted under this authority will be allotted at an effective premium to the estimated net
asset value per ordinary share at the date of pricing of the issue of the relevant equity securities. The Directors intend to exercise the authority referred to in
paragraph (b) of Resolution 11 generally to issue relevant securities whenever they believe it is advantageous to shareholders to do so.

The Directors intend to exercise the authority referred to in paragraph (a) of Resolution 10 and paragraph (a) of Resolution 11 to grant options under 
part D of the Company’s Executive Share Option Plan and the SVG Capital 2007 Performance Share Plan to individuals seconded to the Company or its
subsidiaries (which, for this purpose, include joint ventures). Options granted pursuant to this authority will nevertheless count towards limits on the
number of new ordinary shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of options. 

The authorities proposed to be taken under Resolutions 10 and 11 will lapse at the conclusion of the Company’s Annual General Meeting in 2010, 
unless revoked or varied earlier. 

Directors 

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Lynn Fordham offers herself for election at the Annual General Meeting following her appointment 
as Finance Director and an executive Director of the Company with effect from 1 July 2008. 

Lynn, aged 45, has over 20 years’ financial experience. She joins SVG from Barratt Developments plc where she held an interim position in M&A,
integration and strategy from January 2007. Prior to this, from 2005, Lynn was Deputy Chief Financial Officer and formerly Director of Business Assurance
of BAA plc. Previously, between 2003 and 2005, she held senior audit and risk positions with Boots Group plc and Chubb Group plc, and between 2000
and 2003 she set up the European office for CARDdecisions Inc. and ran her own consultancy business. Prior to 1996 she held financial positions with 
ED & F Man Group, British-American Tobacco (Holdings) Ltd and Mobil Oil Corporation. 

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Charles Sinclair, Denis Raeburn and Edgar Koning will retire at the Annual General Meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Anthony Habgood and Edgar Koning also retire in accordance with the Company’s policy on tenure
outlined on page 39. 

The Board recommends that you support the election of Lynn Fordham and the re-elections of Charles Sinclair, Denis Raeburn, Anthony Habgood 
and Edgar Koning, who continue to demonstrate commitment to their roles and provide valuable contributions to the deliberations of the Board and 
its Committees.

Anthony Habgood and Edgar Koning have served as non-executive Directors of the Company for more than nine years. They are considered to be
independent in both character and judgement.

Biographical details of all current Directors may be found on pages 26 and 27.

Lynn Fordham has a service contract with SVG Advisers Limited (‘SVGA’). Other Directors do not have service contracts with the Company. However,
Andrew Williams is employed by Schroder Investment Management Limited, and seconded to SVGA. As part of the secondment arrangements, SVGA 
will reimburse Schroder Investment Management Limited for the salary, and other benefits paid by Schroder Investment Management Limited to 
Andrew Williams.
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The Directors of the Company and their beneficial and family interests in the Company’s share capital during the year to 31 December 2008 are 
given below:

Ordinary shares of £1.00 each

At At At
1 April 31 December 1 January
2009 2008 2008

Beneficial

Nicholas Ferguson* 879,618 439,809 439,809

Damon Buffini*** 12,450,000 6,000,000 6,000,000

Francis Finlay 250,000 125,000 125,000

Lynn Fordham 6,496 3,248 Nil

Anthony Habgood** 161,332 80,666 80,666

Edgar Koning** 80,000 40,000 40,000

Denis Raeburn** 328,332 164,166 164,166

Charles Sinclair** 110,124 55,062 67,062

Gary Steinberg Nil Nil Nil

Non-beneficial

Andrew Williams* 26,182 13,091 13,091

Nicholas Ferguson 210,937 210,937 210,937

Anthony Habgood 16,666 8,333 8,333

* In addition, Nicholas Ferguson and Andrew Williams have options over ordinary shares, details of which are given on page 37.

** In addition, Anthony Habgood holds £200,000 Convertible Bonds due 2016, Denis Raeburn holds £800,000 Convertible Bonds due 2016 and Charles Sinclair holds £100,000 
Convertible Bonds due 2016.

*** Damon Buffini has an interest in 12,450,000 SVG Capital shares since he has an interest in Permira Holdings Limited, the parent of Permira Capital Limited which owns 12 million 
SVG Capital shares and because he participated directly in the Placing, applying for 450,000 shares. Further, Permira Holdings Limited is a party to an operating agreement with the
Company dated 21 March 2005 (more particularly described in a Circular to shareholders dated 24 March 2005) pursuant to which (a) SVG Capital Group has committed to be the major
investor in future funds designed, managed or advised by entities in the Permira Group and during the term of that agreement is entitled to access to such funds; and (b) SVG Capital Group
has agreed not to commit to any private equity fund or product for direct investment, other than agreed commitments to other private equity funds and Japan funds, which are not
designed, managed or advised by entities in the Permira Group. As a result of Mr Buffini’s interest in the Permira entities described above, Mr Buffini will not participate in any decisions
relating to commitments made, or which may be made, by SVG Capital Group to any funds or products designed, managed or advised by entities in the Permira Group.

In March 2009, the Company announced Andrew Williams will be leaving the Company.

Nicholas Ferguson and members of his family and Andrew Williams have an interest in the carried interest in respect of certain private equity funds.
Nicholas Ferguson and Andrew Williams have foregone a portion of their entitlement to carried interest on existing private equity funds and any
entitlement they may have to carried interest on Permira or Schroder Ventures’ funds launched after 2001 in return for share options granted by the
Company under the Executive Share Option Plan. Nicholas Ferguson will receive no further options following his retirement as Chief Executive Officer in 
April 2005. Nicholas Ferguson and Andrew Williams also participate in the Schroder Ventures Co-Investment Scheme and Schroder Ventures Investments
Limited. They have received no new carried interest allocations and made no new commitments since they joined SVG Capital plc in 2001.

Damon Buffini is Chairman of Permira. As more particularly described in a Circular to shareholders dated 24 March 2005, Permira entered into 
an operating agreement with the Company under which for the life of the operating agreement, and subject to agreement on terms, due diligence 
and Board approval, (a) the SVG Capital Group will be a major investor in future Permira Funds and will be entitled to full access to such funds; and 
(b) SVG Capital Group will not commit to any non-Permira private equity fund or product for direct investment other than agreed commitments to 
other private equity funds and Japan funds. Mr Buffini will not participate in any decisions relating to commitments made, or which may be made, by 
the SVG Capital Group to any Permira funds or Permira products.

No other Director has any material interest in any other contract that is significant to the Company’s business.
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Auditors

The Company is required to appoint Auditors for each financial year of the Company, to hold office until the conclusion of the next general meeting at
which accounts are presented. Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to remain in office and resolutions to re-appoint them and to authorise
the Directors to determine their remuneration will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

The Auditor provides non-audit services to the Group, details of which are set out in note 4 on page 57. The Audit Committee has adopted a 
pre-approval policy on the engagement of the Auditor to supply non-audit services to the Group. It is not considered that the independence of the
Auditor has been prejudiced by the provision of non-audit services. Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee may be found on the Company’s website,
www.svgcapital.com.

Provision of information to auditors

As far as the Directors are aware there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware and they have taken all steps they should have
taken as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and those
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union.

The Directors are required to prepare Group financial statements for each financial year which present fairly the financial position of the Group and the
financial performance and cash flows of the Group for that period. In preparing those financial statements the directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies in accordance with IAS 18: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and then apply them
consistently; 

• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information; 

• provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirement in IFRSs is insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of
particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Group’s financial position and financial performance; and 

• state that the Group has complied with IFRSs, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the Group and enable them to ensure that the Group financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 
They are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities. 

Financial instruments

The main financial risks faced by the Company and the Group, and the management of those risks, are set out in note 33 on pages 77 to 81.

Substantial share interests

As at the date of this report, the Company has received notifications in accordance with the FSA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rule 5.1.2 R of the
following interests in 3% or more of the voting rights attaching to the Company’s issued share capital.

Voting rights attached to shares
Number of Percentage

ordinary of total
shares voting rights

Coller Investment Management Limited 62,000,000 19.97

AEGON Investment Management BV 59,507,330 19.17

Aviva plc 49,806,247 16.05

Schroders plc and its subsidiaries:

– non-beneficial, managed for clients 22,307,722 7.19

– beneficial 14,226,892 4.58

Permira Capital Limited 12,000,000 3.87

By order of the Board

Schroder Investment Management Limited
Company Secretary
1 April 2009

Registered Number: 3066856

Registered Office: 31 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7QA
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Introduction

This report deals with the remuneration paid to the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2008 including the Company’s executive Directors,
Andrew Williams and Lynn Fordham. It also addresses the policy for future remuneration of the Directors.

This report has been prepared in accordance with schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985 as inserted by the Directors’ Remuneration Regulations 2002
and the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and a resolution to approve this report will be put to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

The Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”)

The Committee’s members during the year were Francis Finlay (Chairman), Anthony Habgood, Denis Raeburn and Gary Steinberg, all considered by 
the Board to be independent non-executive Directors. 

The Committee meets at least twice a year and invites selected executives and advisers to attend as appropriate. None of the executives invited to 
attend during the year participated in discussions or decisions regarding their own remuneration. Francis Finlay, Anthony Habgood, Denis Raeburn and
Gary Steinberg attended the meetings held in January 2008 and March 2008. 

The Committee is responsible for determining the remuneration policy throughout the SVG Group (including the remuneration of the Chairman) and 
the operation of the Company’s Executive Share Incentive Plans, further details of which are described below. Its terms of reference take into account the
provisions of the Combined Code on corporate governance. The Committee has appointed Hewitt New Bridge Street and Towers Perrin, independent
remuneration consultants, to advise it. Hewitt New Bridge Street also provides advice on the operation of the Company’s share schemes.

The terms of reference of the Committee are set out on page 41.

Appointment, re-appointment and re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for an initial term of three years subject to election at the first Annual General Meeting following their appointment. 
Thereafter Directors retire by rotation at least every three years. The Chairman meets with each Director before a Director is proposed for re-election, 
and, subject to the evaluation of performance carried out each year, the Board agrees whether it is appropriate for that Director to seek an additional
term. When recommending whether an individual Director should seek re-election, the Board will take into account the provisions of the Combined
Code, including the need to refresh the Board and its committees.

Policy on the remuneration of non-executive Directors

Remuneration paid to non-executive Directors is determined by the Board and reviewed each year. When considering remuneration levels, the Board will
consider, amongst other things, industry practice and contribution to various committees and time spent on the business of the Company.

Policy on the remuneration of executive Directors

The Committee’s aim is to ensure that remuneration packages should attract, retain and motivate senior executives (including executive Directors) but
should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose. Basic salaries are set on this basis and the Committee has due regard to competitive market
data on similar positions in other private equity organisations and financial institutions (this is provided by Towers Perrin). The Committee is sensitive 
to wider issues including pay and employment conditions in the Group when setting pay levels. No executive Director of the Company is involved in
deciding his or her own remuneration. 

At 31 December 2008 Andrew Williams and Lynn Fordham were the only executive Directors of the Company. The Committee’s policy is that
performance-related elements of remuneration form a significant proportion of the total remuneration package.

At the 2007 AGM the Company’s shareholders approved the rules of the SVG Capital 2007 Performance Share Plan (the “Performance Share Plan” or
“PSP”) and the SVG Capital Share Incentive Plan (the “SIP”). The grant of options under the Company’s Executive Share Option Plan 2001 (the “2001
ESOP”) was suspended following the approval and adoption of the PSP, further details of which and awards granted under it are set out below. The SIP 
is an HM Revenue & Customs approved all-employee plan; however, no awards were made under the SIP in 2008. The Committee will review whether 
or not to implement and make awards under the SIP in 2009. 

The basic salary of executive Directors is reviewed annually, having regard to individual performance and comparative market data. There will be no
increases in salary for 2009 for the executive Directors. In addition, they are eligible for a non-pensionable discretionary bonus, which is conditional 
on Group performance and the achievement of predetermined personal objectives based on the successful implementation of the business plan and
strategies agreed by the Board. The normal maximum annual bonus for an executive Director has been set at 300% of salary. No bonuses will be paid 
to executive Directors in respect of 2008 except for the bonus guaranteed to Lynn Fordham as part of her recruitment. The bonus limit of 300% will 
also apply in respect of the current financial year.

Benefits in kind (which are not pensionable) relate to the provision of health insurance and life assurance cover.
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External appointments

The Company permits executive Directors of the Company to accept limited non-executive directorships and other similar appointments, it being
recognised that such appointments increase their commercial knowledge and business experience to the general benefit of the Company. Fees earned
from such directorships may be retained by the executive Directors.

Andrew Williams was, throughout the year, a non-executive Director of CDC Group plc. Andrew Williams was also appointed as a non-executive Director
of Macquarie in January 2008. Directors’ fees of £61,000 for these appointments were retained by Andrew Williams.

Service contracts

Other than Lynn Fordham, Directors do not have service contracts with the Group. Andrew Williams, an executive Director in the year ended 
31 December 2008, is employed by Schroder Investment Management Limited (“SIM”) and is seconded to the Group. His contract with SIM provides 
for six months’ notice. SIM may terminate his employment by paying a sum in lieu of notice.

Andrew Williams’ contract with SIM is dated 1 March 2004. It is the Company’s policy to have regard to the duty of a departing executive Director to
mitigate his loss when determining the level of any termination payment.

Lynn Fordham joined the Board as Finance Director on 1 July 2008. Her contract provides for six months’ notice for termination and SVG Advisers Limited
may terminate her employment by paying a sum in lieu of notice calculated accordingly to her salary and other benefits. In the event of termination of
her employment on the giving of notice by SVG Advisers Limited (or constructive dismissal) in contemplation of or following a change of control of 
SVG Capital on or before 1 July 2010 she will be entitled to receive a liquidated payment of £240,000 (less necessary withholdings) reduced by 1/364 
for each day that she has served under any period of notice that she may be under at the time of termination. Such payment will be in addition to her
normal salary and benefits in respect of the period preceding termination and will be made in full and final settlement of all and any claims arising from 
or in connection with her termination.

Performance graph

The Companies Act 1985 requires this report to include a performance graph comparing the Company’s total shareholder return performance against
that of a broad equity market index. For this purpose, the Committee has decided that the FTSE All-Share Index is the most appropriate available index 
for comparative purposes because it is the principal index in which the Company’s shares are quoted.

This graph looks at the value, by the end of 2008, of £100 invested in SVG Capital on 31 December 2003 compared with the value of £100 invested in
the FTSE All-Share Total Return Index. The other points plotted are the values at intermediate financial year ends.
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Pension arrangements

The following figures, prepared in accordance with UK legislation and the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, apply to Andrew Williams 
(who was a member of Schroder’s Retirement Benefits Scheme) in respect of the year ended 31 December 2008, during which he was an executive
Director of the Company. No pension contributions are payable by Andrew Williams. 

Executive Directors’ pensions*
Transfer value at

31 December
2008 in respect

Increase in Increase of increase
Accrued Increase in accrued Accrued Transfer in transfer Transfer in accrued

benefit at accrued benefit due benefit at value at value net value at benefit
31 December benefit due to other 31 December 31 December of Director’s 31 December (excluding 

2007 to inflation factors 2008 2007 contributions 2008 inflation)
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £000 £’000

Andrew Williams 113 6 (1) 118 1,992 267 2,259 (18)

* This forms part of the audited section of the Remuneration Report.

Transfer values are liabilities of the relevant pension fund rather than amounts due to be paid to the executive Directors or liabilities of the Company.

Directors’ remuneration*

The emoluments of the Directors in respect of the year ended 31 December 2008 were as specified below:
Total Total 

emoluments emoluments
Year to Year to

Salary Annual 31 December 31 December
and fees Benefits bonus§ 2008 2007

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Nicholas Ferguson 200 – – 200 200

Andrew Williams 336 2 – 338 1,172

Lynn Fordham 120 19** 180† 319 –

Damon Buffini 34 – – 34 33

Francis Finlay 44 – – 44 43

Anthony Habgood 44 – – 44 44

Edgar Koning 32 – – 32 29

Denis Raeburn 44 – – 44 44

Charles Sinclair 44 – – 44 44

Gary Steinberg 43 – – 43 35

Aggregate emoluments 941 21 180 1,142 1,644

* This forms part of the audited section of the Remuneration Report.

** The Company attributes an amount equal to 30% of Lynn Fordham’s basic annual salary to her personal pension plan, subject to a notional salary cap equal to £200,000. For the year
ended 31 December 2008 the Company made a total contribution of £17,640.

§ Bonuses include provision for amounts accrued but not paid in each year. Annual bonuses are awarded in respect of calendar years.

† The bonus awarded to Lynn Fordham represents a contractual amount guaranteed as part of the terms of her employment.

Details of the Directors’ interests in shares are shown on pages 37 and 38.
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Executive Share Incentive Plans

The Performance Share Plan (“PSP”)

Andrew Williams and Lynn Fordham, the executive Directors of the Company during the year, and selected employees of, and secondees to, the 
SVG Group are eligible to participate in the PSP at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. Awards may not be made to non-executive Directors.
The PSP enables annual conditional free shares to be made (or nil or nominal cost options) with a ‘value’ worth up to an annual limit of 200% of base
salary and bonus in any financial year. For the purposes of calculating these limits the maximum amount of bonus which may be used is capped at 300%
of base salary and the value of an award shall be calculated and, if necessary, adjusted to take into account the total exercise cost (if any) payable by an
award holder on exercise (e.g. the £1 per share in respect of awards granted to Andrew Williams) and any employer’s secondary National Insurance
contributions (or overseas equivalent) that may have been transferred to the award holder.

The policy on granting awards under the PSP is intended to be broadly the same as under the Executive Share Option Plan, with the same limit applying
to the value of shares that may be awarded in any one year.

The vesting of awards made to the executive Directors during the year was based on the average growth in the Company’s undiluted Net Asset Value 
per Share (“NAV”). In the case of awards granted to Andrew Williams, NAV will be measured over four financial years, commencing with the financial 
year in which the award was made. In the case of awards granted under the PSP to Lynn Fordham following her appointment to the Board on 1 July 2008,
the Committee determined that NAV will be measured over eight half-years commencing on 1 July 2008. For the purposes of the PSP, NAV will include
the Directors’ unaudited valuation of SVG Advisers Limited in accordance with the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Association guidelines.
Awards made to the executive Directors will normally vest on the fourth anniversary of the award being granted provided that he or she is a director or
employee or on secondment within the SVG Group on that date and to the extent that the NAV performance condition has been satisfied, as follows:

Average annual NAV growth over the performed period
Percentage of the total number of shares
subject to the NAV condition that will vest

Less than 10% p.a. Nil

10% p.a. 25%

18% p.a. 100%

Between 10% p.a. and 18% p.a. Between 25% and 100% on 
a straight-line basis

It was agreed during the negotiations to appoint Lynn Fordham that, to sufficiently incentivise and potentially reward her in the new role of Finance
Director and to align her interests with shareholders, she should be granted a conditional free share award over a total of 99,999 shares under, or on
terms similar to, the PSP. It was agreed that the award should be granted to Lynn Fordham as soon as reasonably practicable following her appointment
in 2008. The maximum total value of shares that may be granted to an employee under the PSP in any financial year is 200% of current base salary and
bonus for the prior financial year. Accordingly, it was agreed that an award over shares with a value worth 200% of base salary (i.e. 83,478 shares) should
be granted to Lynn Fordham under the PSP and that the excess (i.e. 16,521 shares) should be granted, on substantially similar terms to the PSP, under 
a special one-off conditional free share award in accordance with Listing Rule 9.4.2R(2) (the ‘Recruitment Award’).

The Recruitment Award is subject to substantially the same terms as the award granted to Lynn Fordham under the PSP in 2008. In particular, the
Recruitment Award will normally vest on the fourth anniversary of grant, subject to her continued employment within the SVG Group and the satisfaction
of the same NAV performance conditions that apply to PSP awards, as described above. The principal terms of the Recruitment Award are as follows:

No payment was required on the grant of the award. The award is not transferable, except on death, and is not pensionable.

In accordance with the PSP, the Remuneration Committee may vary the NAV performance conditions applying to the award if an event occurs provided
that the Committee considers the varied conditions are fair and reasonable and not materially less challenging than the original conditions would have
been but for the event in question.

The award will, once vested, normally remain capable of exercise until the tenth anniversary of grant. While it is intended that the award will be satisfied
using shares, the Committee may decide to satisfy the award with cash.

The award will normally lapse in the event that Lynn Fordham ceases to be a Director or employee with any member of the SVG Group. However, the
award may vest early or continue to be capable of vesting on the fourth anniversary of grant if Lynn Fordham ceases employment within the SVG Group
by reason of death, injury, disability, ill-health, retirement, redundancy, or the sale or transfer of her employing company or business out of the SVG Group
or any other reason permitted by the Remuneration Committee (a “good leaver”). If Lynn Fordham is a good leaver her award may either vest on the 
date of cessation or the fourth anniversary of grant, subject to the extent that the Committee determines the performance conditions have been 
satisfied (if at all). 
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The award may also vest early in the event of a takeover, scheme of arrangement or winding up (a “corporate event”), subject to the extent that the
Committee determines the performance conditions have been satisfied (if at all). 

The Committee may reduce on a pro rata basis the total number of shares that vest early in the event of a good leaver scenario or a corporate event 
to take account of the period from the date of grant to the date of the relevant event relative to a four year period.

The award may also vest early in the event of a demerger, special dividend or other similar event which the Committee determines would affect the
market price of shares to a material extent. In these circumstances awards will vest on the basis which would apply in the case of a corporate event.

The award will not confer any shareholder rights until the award has been exercised and shares have been acquired. However, on vesting the Committee
may determine that Lynn Fordham will be entitled to a payment (in cash and/or shares) equivalent to the dividends that would have been paid on those
shares between the grant date and date of vesting.

Any shares allotted when the award is exercised will rank equally with shares then in issue (except for rights arising by reference to a record date prior 
to the date of allotment).

The Committee may adjust the total number of shares held under the award in the event of any variation of the Company’s share capital or in the event
of a demerger, payment of a special dividend or similar event which materially affects the market price of shares.

The Committee may amend the terms of the award in any respect provided that the prior approval of shareholders is obtained for any amendments that
are to the advantage of Lynn Fordham in respect of the terms governing the basis for determining her entitlement to, and the terms of, the shares or cash
to be acquired and the adjustment of awards. The requirement to obtain shareholder approval will not apply to any minor alteration made to benefit the
administration of the award, to take account of a change in legislation or to obtain or maintain favourable tax, exchange control or regulatory treatment
for Lynn Fordham or for any company in the SVG Group.

Awards made to certain senior executives below main Board level were granted subject to the satisfaction of the NAV performance conditions described
above or a condition requiring the achievement of significant growth targets in the gross value of SVG Advisers Limited at the end of three financial years.

It is currently intended that awards made to the executive Directors, and a proportion of the awards made to certain senior executives below main 
Board level, in 2009 will be granted subject to the same NAV targets described above. In particular, the Remuneration Committee continues to believe
that, in respect of awards granted to the executive Directors and certain other senior executives below main Board level, growth in NAV remains the 
most appropriate measure of long-term performance for a business focused on delivering superior levels of NAV growth and will, therefore, help align 
the interests of the executive Directors and other executives of the Group with shareholder interests. Furthermore, the Committee believes that awards 
of performance shares, as opposed to market value share options, are currently the best form of long term incentive, especially given the very demanding
targets set for the delivery of shares as described above.

Awards to executives below main Board level will, for the time being, continue to be based either on the satisfaction of the NAV performance conditions
or the achievement of growth targets in the gross value of SVG Advisers Limited.

In the event of a takeover, scheme of arrangement or winding up of the Company (not being an internal reorganisation) all awards will vest early subject
to: (i) the extent that the performance conditions have been satisfied at that time (or, in the reasonable opinion of the Committee (as constituted before
the relevant event), would have been satisfied had the relevant performance period run its full course); and (ii) will normally be subject to a time pro rata
adjustment to reflect the early curtailment of the applicable performance period.

The Committee may, in its discretion, permit awards to vest early in the event of a demerger, special dividend or other similar event which would 
affect the market price of shares to a material extent. In such circumstances awards will vest on the basis that would apply in the case of a takeover as
described above.

The SVG Executive Share Option Plan 2001 (formerly known as the SVIIT Executive Share Option Plan 2001)
The PSP replaced the 2001 ESOP following the 2007 AGM. However, whilst the Committee does not intend to make further grants under the 2001 ESOP
it has been retained for use in exceptional circumstances such as for the recruitment and retention of senior staff or to reward exceptional performance.
Any grant of options under the 2001 ESOP will count towards the individual grant limits under the PSP and appropriately demanding performance
targets will be set at the time of grant.

The Committee does not currently intend to adjust awards under the PSP (including the Recruitment Award made to Lynn Fordham) or options under
the 2001 ESOP to take account of the recent Rights Issue and Placing.

All-employee share plans

As mentioned above the SIP was approved by shareholders at the 2007 AGM. The SIP is an all-employee share plan and will, on approval from 
HM Revenue & Customs, permit the Company to offer (i) Partnership Shares, whereby employees may buy shares using pre-tax pay (max contribution 
of £1,500 per tax year), (ii) Matching Shares, whereby employees who purchase Partnership Shares may receive matching shares worth up to £3,000 
per tax year, and (iii) Free Shares, worth up to £3,000 per tax year. No awards have been made under the SIP.



Options held by Directors over ordinary shares of the Company under the 2001 ESOP*

The following Directors have been granted options over ordinary shares under the Executive Share Option Plan. No adjustments are required to the price
or number of shares subject to award following the Rights Issue:

During the year Exercise dates†

At At Exercise
31 December Options Options Options 31 December price

2007 granted exercised lapsed 2008 (pence) Earliest Latest

Nicholas Ferguson** 715,446 – – – 715,446 410.00 21 June 2004§ 20 June 2011

357,724 – – – 357,724 410.00 21 June 2005§ 20 June 2011

404,484 – – – 404,484 334.50 5 April 2005§ 4 April 2012

349,840 – – – 349,840 392.75 13 March 2006§ 12 March 2013

363,256 – – – 363,256 479.00 12 March 2007§ 11 March 2014

250,704 – – – 250,704 564.00 23 March 2008§ 22 March 2015

Andrew Williams 243,983 – – – 243,983 410.00 21 June 2004§ 20 June 2011

186,992 – – – 186,992 410.00 21 June 2005§ 20 June 2011

272,645 – – – 272,645 334.50 5 April 2005§ 4 April 2012

239,847 – – – 239,847 392.75 13 March 2006§ 12 March 2013

248,851 – – – 248,851 479.00 12 March 2007§ 11 March 2014

242,957 – – – 242,957 564.00 23 March 2008§ 22 March 2015

178,313 – – 178,313 – 831.40 24 March 2009 24 March 2016

Total 4,055,042 – – 178,313 3,876,729

* This forms part of the audited section of the Remuneration Report.

** Options granted to Nicholas Ferguson were made at a time prior to his appointment as Chairman.

† Options are exercisable subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions (see below).

§ Performance conditions have been met.

For options granted in 2006, the target was for growth in the Company’s net asset value per ordinary share to exceed the growth in the Retail Prices
Index plus 4% per annum over the three years from the date of grant. This performance target was not satisfied and the options have lapsed. For all
options granted up to the end of March 2005, performance targets have been met.

All of the above options were granted for nil consideration. All options under the 2001 ESOP were granted at the prevailing market price around the 
time of grant.
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Awards held by Directors over ordinary shares of the Company*
During the year Vesting dates**

At At Exercise
31 December Awards Awards Awards 31 December price per share

2007 granted vested lapsed 2008 (pence) Earliest Latest

A C Williams 229,848 – – – 229,848 100.00 15 May 2011 15 May 2017

– 337,642 – – 337,642 100.00 13 March 2012 13 March 2018

L Fordham*** – 99,999 – – 99,999 0.00 25 September 2012 25 September 2018

Total 229,848 437,641 667,489

* This forms part of the audited section of the Remuneration Report.

** Awards will vest and become exercisable subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions (details summarised in the section headed ‘Performance Share Plan’ above).

*** Of the 99,999 shares awarded to Lynn Fordham, awards over 83,478 shares were made under the PSP and the remaining 16,521 shares were awarded under a one-off agreement under
Listing Rule 9.4.2R(2). The one-off award was granted on substantially the same terms as the PSP award and is subject to the same NAV growth performance conditions.

The price of an ordinary share on 13 March 2008, when awards were granted to Andrew Williams under the PSP, was 708.5p.

The price of an ordinary share on 25 September 2008, when awards were granted to Lynn Fordham under the PSP and the one-off agreement, was 579.0p.

The mid-market price of shares at 31 December 2008 was 89.0p and the range during the year was 82.0p to 778.0p.

External advisers will confirm the performance criteria calculations for the Committee, which will be measured on a consistent basis.

Share Plan Dilution Limits

It is currently intended that all awards granted under the PSP will be satisfied using new issue shares. All options and awards granted under the 2001
ESOP and PSP to persons seconded to the Group have been structured as nominal cost options and will be satisfied using new issue shares.

In any 10 calendar year period the Company may not issue (or grant rights to issue) more than 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company
under the PSP, the 2001 ESOP and any other employees’ share scheme adopted by the Company. As at 31 December 2008, the total number of shares
issued or issuable under awards and options made under the PSP and the 2001 ESOP was equal to 7.6% of the issued ordinary share capital on that date. 

The Company has established an employee benefit trust to enable it to subscribe for or purchase shares in the market to satisfy awards and options made
to employees under the PSP and the 2001 ESOP. As at 31 December 2008 no shares were held in the trust. The Board will regularly review the benefit of
using the trust to make market purchases.

On behalf of the Board

Francis Finlay
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
1 April 2009
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The Company is committed to high standards of corporate governance. 

Compliance Statement

The UK Listing Authority requires all listed companies to disclose how they have complied with the provisions of the 2006 Combined Code on corporate
governance (the “Code”). This Corporate governance statement, together with the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities set out in the Report of the
Directors on page 31, indicates how the Company has complied with the principles of good governance contained in the Code and its requirements 
on Internal Control.

The Board considers that the Company has, throughout the year under review, complied with the best practice provisions in Section 1 of the Code.

Role of the Board

The Board determines and monitors the Company’s investment objectives and policy, decides on individual fund investments and considers the future
strategic direction of the Company. The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position and,
where appropriate, future prospects in annual and half-yearly reports and other forms of public reporting. It monitors and reviews the shareholder base 
of the Company, marketing and shareholder communication strategies, and evaluates the performance of all service providers, with input from its
Committees where appropriate. 

A procedure for Directors, in the furtherance of their duties, to take independent professional advice at the expense of the Company has been agreed. 

Composition and independence

At 31 December 2008, there were two executive and eight non-executive Directors, including the Chairman. Profiles of each of the Directors, including
age and length of service, may be found on pages 26 and 27. The Board considers each of Francis Finlay, Anthony Habgood, Edgar Koning, Denis
Raeburn, Charles Sinclair and Gary Steinberg to be independent. The independence of each Director is considered on a continuing basis.

A review of Board composition and balance, including succession planning for appointments to the Board, is included as part of the annual performance
evaluation of the Board, details of which may be found below. 

The Board is satisfied that it is of sufficient size, with an appropriate balance of skills and experience, and that no individual or group of individuals is or 
has been in a position to dominate decision making. 

The role of the Chairman

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of its role and setting its agenda.

Senior Independent Director

Charles Sinclair succeeded Anthony Habgood as Senior Independent Director on 4 March 2009. The Senior Independent Director leads the evaluation 
of the performance of the Chairman and is available to shareholders if they have concerns that cannot be resolved through discussion with the Chairman.
As part of the evaluation process, the non-executive Directors meet without the Chairman being present, and the Senior Independent Director chairs
these meetings.

Company Secretary

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the corporate Company Secretary through its appointed representative, who is responsible to the
Board, inter alia, for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. 

Tenure

The Directors have adopted a policy on tenure that they consider appropriate for the Company as a self-managed investment trust. The Board does 
not believe that length of service, by itself, leads to a closer relationship with Executive Management. The independence of non-executive Directors 
will continue to be assessed on a case-by-case basis. In order to allow shareholders the opportunity to endorse this policy, however, any non-executive
Director who has served for more than nine years will be subject to annual re-election at the Annual General Meeting.

Induction and training 

When a Director is appointed he or she receives a full, formal and tailored induction. Changes affecting Directors’ responsibilities are advised to the Board
as they arise.

Advisers to the Company also prepare reports for the Board from time to time. In addition, Directors may attend ad hoc seminars covering issues and
developments relevant to the Company.

Performance evaluation

The Board has adopted a formal and rigorous annual evaluation of its own performance and that of its Committees and individual Directors. The last
evaluation was completed in March 2009. The evaluation is in two stages. First, the evaluation of individual Directors is led by the Chairman, and the
evaluation of the Chairman’s performance is led by the Senior Independent Director. Evaluation is conducted utilising a questionnaire. Secondly, the Board
evaluates its own performance and that of its Committees. The Board has developed criteria for use at the evaluation, which focuses on the individual
contribution to the Board and its Committees made by each Director and the responsibilities, composition and agenda of the Committees and of the
Board itself.
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Meetings

The Board held five scheduled meetings during 2008. Two additional meetings were also arranged as required.

Attendance at the Board and Committee meetings was as set out below:
Audit Remuneration Nomination

Director Board Committee Committee Committee

Nicholas Ferguson 7/7 N/A N/A 1/1

Damon Buffini 7/7 N/A N/A 1/1

Francis Finlay 7/7 N/A 2/2 1/1

Lynn Fordham 4/4 N/A N/A N/A

Anthony Habgood 7/7 2/2 2/2 1/1

Edgar Koning 5/7 N/A N/A 1/1

Denis Raeburn 7/7 2/2 2/2 1/1

Charles Sinclair 6/7 2/2 N/A N/A

Gary Steinberg 6/7 2/2 2/2 N/A

Andrew Williams 7/7 N/A N/A N/A

The Board is satisfied that each of the Chairman and the other non-executive Directors commit sufficient time to the affairs of the Company to fulfil their
duties as Directors.

Information flows

Management reports to the Board on at least a quarterly basis and as appropriate on specific matters. The Chairman ensures that Directors are provided,
on a regular basis, with key information on the Company’s policies, regulatory requirements and internal controls. The Board receives and considers
reports regularly from its advisers and ad hoc reports and information are supplied to the Board as required.

Insurance and Indemnities

During the year the Company maintained cover for its Directors and Officers under a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy.

The Company provides a Deed of Indemnity to each Director to the extent permitted by United Kingdom law whereby the Company is able to indemnify
such Director against any liability incurred in proceedings in which the Director is successful, and for costs in defending a claim brought against the
Director for breach of duty where the Director acted honestly and reasonably.

Committees

The Board has delegated certain responsibilities and functions to Committees. Terms of Reference for each of these Committees are available on the
Company’s website at www.svgcapital.com. Details of membership of the Committees at 31 December 2008 may be found on pages 26 and 27 of this
report and information regarding attendance at Committee meetings during the year under review may be found above. 

Investment Committee

The role of the Investment Committee is to review investment proposals for the Company, providing investment recommendations and implementing
decisions as regards any investment. The work of the Committee is undertaken by the full Board during its meetings. 

Audit Committee 

The role of the Audit Committee is to ensure that the Company maintains the highest standards of integrity in financial reporting and internal control.
The Board considers each member of the Committee to be independent. The Board also considers that members of the Committee have recent and
relevant financial experience.

To discharge its duties, the Committee met on two occasions during the year ended 31 December 2008 and considered the annual financial statements
and half-yearly financial statements, the external Auditors’ year end reports and management letters, the effectiveness of the audit process, the
independence and objectivity of the external Auditor and the risk profile of the Group.

With effect from 4 March 2009, Gary Steinberg succeeded Charles Sinclair as Chairman of the Audit Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The role of the Committee is to determine remuneration policy throughout the SVG Group and to operate the Company’s Share Awards Schemes. 
The Board considers each member of the Committee to be independent.

To discharge its duties, the Committee met on two occasions during the year ended 31 December 2008 and considered the approval of annual bonus
proposals and the approval of appropriate targets and long term incentives for the executive Directors and key staff based on performance in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2007. 

Nomination Committee

The role of the Committee is to consider and make recommendations to the Board on the Board’s composition and balance of skills and experience, 
and on individual appointments, to lead the process and make recommendations to the Board.

To discharge its duties, the Committee met on one occasion during the year ended 31 December 2008 and considered an evaluation of the balance 
of skills and expertise of the Board, succession planning and the selection of suitable candidates for a new Director.

The Committee considered the appointment of a Director during the year under review. On this occasion, an external search consultancy was engaged 
to identify suitable candidates to fulfil the criteria established by the Committee.

Relations with shareholders

The Board believes that the maintenance of good relations with both institutional and retail shareholders is important for the prospects of the Company. 
It has, since its launch, sought engagement with investors. The Chairman, the Senior Independent Director and other Directors where appropriate, discuss
governance and strategy with major shareholders and the Chairman ensures communication of shareholders’ views to the Board. The Board also receives
feedback on the views of shareholders from its corporate broker.

The Board believes that the Annual General Meeting provides an appropriate forum for investors to communicate with the Board, and encourages
participation. The Annual Report and Accounts is, when possible, sent to shareholders at least 20 business days before the Annual General Meeting, 
which is normally attended by the full Board of Directors. Proceedings include a presentation on the activities of the Company. There is an opportunity 
for individual shareholders to question the chairmen of the Board, Audit and Remuneration Committees. Details of proxy votes received in respect of each
resolution are made available to shareholders at the meeting. The Board believes that the Company’s policy of reporting to shareholders as soon as
possible after the Company’s year end is valuable. The Notice of Meeting on pages 83 to 85 sets out the business of the meeting.

Going concern

The Group’s activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the Chairman’s statement
on pages 4 and 5, the Finance Director’s report on pages 6 and 7 and the Business Review on pages 8 to 23. The financial position of the Group, its cash
flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described in the Finance Director’s Report on pages 6 and 7. In addition note 33 to the financial
statements includes details of the Group’s financial instruments and its risk profile. A description of the Group’s risks and risk management are also
outlined in the Business Review on pages 8 to 23.

The Group has much improved financial resources following the Placing and Rights Issue. As a consequence, the Directors believe that the Group is now
positioned to manage its business risks successfully despite the current uncertain economic outlook.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts.

Internal control

The Code requires the Board to at least annually conduct a review of the adequacy of the Group’s systems of internal control and report to shareholders
that it has done so. The Board has undertaken a full review of all the aspects of the Turnbull Guidance for Directors, as revised in October 2005 (the
“Turnbull Guidance”) under which the Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board has
approved a detailed Risk Map identifying significant strategic, investment-related, operational and service provider-related risks and has adopted an
enhanced monitoring system to ensure that risk management and all aspects of internal control are considered on a regular basis.

The Board believes that the key risks identified and the implementation of an ongoing system to identify, evaluate and manage these risks are based upon
and relevant to the Group’s business as an investment trust. The ongoing risk assessment, which has been in place throughout the financial year and up
to the date of this report, includes consideration of the scope and quality of the systems of internal control (including whistleblowing polices where
appropriate) adopted by major service providers, and ensures regular communication of the results of monitoring by third parties to the Board, the
incidence of significant control failings or weaknesses that have been identified at any time and the extent to which they have resulted in unforeseen
outcomes or contingencies that may have a material impact on the Group’s performance or condition. No significant control failings or weaknesses were
identified during the course of the year and up to the date of this report from the Board’s continuing risk assessment.

Although the Board believes that it has a robust framework of internal control in place this can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material financial mis-statement or loss and is designed to manage, not eliminate, risk.
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Introduction

SVG Capital’s long term business success requires effective management of both financial and non-financial performance. Our business relies in particular
on strong relationships with our employees, our investors, and the general partners of the funds in which we invest.

Although we are a major investor in private equity funds, regulations and commercial realities limit the degree to which we can have an active influence
on those funds. We aim to develop open, long term relationships with the general partners with whom we invest. Nonetheless we do engage with
general partners to identify where non-financial issues may have an impact on our reputation and on that of our investors. We also engage with relevant
industry associations and participate in other initiatives to help raise awareness and understanding of these issues, both within and outside the sector.

The Group employs over 70 people based in London, Boston and Singapore. As a financial services firm, the environmental and social impact of our
activities is low. However, we are looking at ways to reduce this environmental impact, and to support local communities. We recognise the mutual
benefits that can arise from doing so in a consistent way.

Overall responsibility for the implementation of the Group’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy rests with the Board, working with relevant
corporate functions, including a CSR committee chaired by Nicholas Ferguson.

The Board’s strategic priorities with respect to the CSR policy are:

Employees

Our objective is to recruit, train and retain the highest calibre employees, and to foster a work environment that helps them to fulfil their potential. 
To do this we aim to:

• provide a supportive work environment and corporate culture

• provide appropriate training and development

• address where possible employees’ interests regarding environmental, social and governance issues

Investors

Our objective is to ensure that our operations address investors’ policies relating to environmental, social and governance issues. To do this we aim to:

• maintain a high standard of corporate governance

• respond to investors’ environmental, social and governance concerns as they relate to our own operations

• give full consideration to investors’ concerns as they relate to our investment activities

Funds in which we invest

Our objective is to develop strong relationships, balancing the legitimate needs of the general partners of the funds in which we invest with our interests
and the expectations of our investors. We aim to do this by:

• ensuring the highest levels of integrity in our relationships with general partners

• developing strong and open working relationships with general partners, so that we can maintain trust without unnecessary restrictions and unrealistic
requests

• undertaking early and constructive engagement on environmental, social and governance issues of legitimate concern to our investors

Making a difference where we can

Communities

Our objectives are to support our employees’ volunteering and charitable donations through a matched giving scheme and to support communities by
providing charitable donations from the Group of up to £350,000 in aggregate per annum. The CSR committee has responsibility for the implementation
of the charitable donations policy which is focused on:

• creating opportunity

• providing access to education

• protecting the environment

In 2008, the Group agreed to support the School for Social Entrepreneurs, Breakthrough, Fairbridge and ERM Foundation’s Low Carbon Enterprise Fund.
A total of £150,000 was donated in 2008.

Environment

Our objective is to reduce the most significant environmental impact of our operations. We aim to do this by:

• undertaking a carbon footprint analysis

• reducing the impact of our travel and energy use

• disposing of office waste and used equipment in a responsible manner

Engagement with the sector

Our objective is to engage in debates on the role and impact of private equity. We aim to do this by:

• working with relevant sector associations

• participation in other relevant initiatives

• engaging in discussions with stakeholders
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We have audited the Group and parent Company financial statements (the “financial statements”) of SVG Capital plc for the year ended 31 December
2008 which comprise the Consolidated and Company Income Statements, the Consolidated and Company Statements of Change in Equity, the
Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements and the related notes 1 to 34. These financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that 
is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

The Directors responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
United Kingdom law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the Statement of 
Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and
regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the part of 
the Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether, in our opinion, the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent 
with the financial statements. 

In addition, we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate governance statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006 FRC Combined Code
specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether 
the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. The other
information comprises only the Investment objective, Financial and operational highlights 2008, Chairman’s statement, Chief Executive’s review, Business
review, Board of Directors, Report of the Directors, the unaudited part of the Remuneration Report, Corporate governance, Board Committees, Company
Summary, Information for shareholders, Notice and Agenda, Advisers and the Glossary. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware 
of any apparent mis-statements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration
Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the 
financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied 
and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited are free from
material mis-statement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the Group’s and the parent
Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of the Group’s and the parent Company’s loss for the year then ended;

• the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

• the information given in the Director’s Report is consistent with the financial statements.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered auditor 
London
1 April 2009
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Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 December 2008 For the year ended 31 December 2007

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital 
return return Total return return Total

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Losses)/gains on investments – at fair value through 
profit and loss – (814,016) (814,016) – 113,421 113,421

Exchange gains/(losses) on other items 403 (39,224) (38,821) 42 17,459 17,501

403 (853,240) (852,837) 42 130,880 130,922

Operating income

Investment income 11,191 – 11,191 28,486 – 28,486

Income from investment advisory services 28,448 – 28,448 29,712 – 29,712

Other operating income 1,236 – 1,236 1,668 – 1,668

Total operating income 3 40,875 – 40,875 59,866 – 59,866

Operating expenses

Administrative expenses 4 (17,743) – (17,743) (23,295) – (23,295)

Other operating expenses – (481) (481) – (484) (484)

Total expenses (17,743) (481) (18,224) (23,295) (484) (23,779)

Operating profit/(loss) 23,132 (481) 22,651 36,571 (484) 36,087

Finance costs 7 (32,277) – (32,277) (13,633) – (13,633)

(Loss)/profit before tax (8,742) (853,721) (862,463) 22,980 130,396 153,376

Tax 9 (1,659) (239) (1,898) (2,002) 729 (1,273)

(Loss)/profit for the year (10,401) (853,960) (864,361) 20,978 131,125 152,103

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 11 (10,404) (853,959) (864,363) 20,970 131,124 152,094

Minority interest 3 (1) 2 8 1 9

Earnings per share

From continuing activities

Basic 11 (621.5p) 109.5p

Diluted 11 (621.5p) 106.2p

The total column of this statement represents the Group’s income statement, prepared in accordance with IFRS. The supplementary revenue return and
capital return columns are both prepared under guidance published by the Association of Investment Trust Companies. All items in the above statement
derive from continuing operations.

The notes on pages 52 to 81 form an integral part of these accounts.
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Company income statement

For the year ended 31 December 2008 For the year ended 31 December 2007

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital 
return return Total return return Total

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Losses)/gains on investments – at fair value through 
profit and loss – (813,758) (813,758) – 112,236 112,236

Exchange (losses)/gains on other items – (39,280) (39,280) – 17,091 17,091

– (853,038) (853,038) – 129,327 129,327

Operating income

Investment income 25,547 – 25,547 25,473 – 25,473

Other operating income 1,092 – 1,092 4,153 – 4,153

Total operating income 3 26,639 – 26,639 29,626 – 29,626

Operating expenses

Administrative expenses 4 (7,444) – (7,444) (9,408) – (9,408)

Other operating expenses – (481) (481) – (484) (484)

Total expenses (7,444) (481) (7,925) (9,408) (484) (9,892)

Operating profit/(loss) 19,195 (481) 18,714 20,218 (484) 19,734

Finance costs 7 (34,115) – (34,115) (13,633) – (13,633)

(Loss)/profit before tax (14,920) (853,519) (868,439) 6,585 128,843 135,428

Tax 9 6,406 (35) 6,371 3,365 729 4,094

(Loss)/profit for the year 11 (8,514) (853,554) (862,068) 9,950 129,572 139,522

Earnings per share

From continuing activities

Basic 11 (619.9p) 100.5p

Diluted 11 (619.9p) 97.4p

The total column of this statement represents the Company’s income statement, prepared in accordance with IFRS. The supplementary revenue return
and capital return columns are both prepared under guidance published by the Association of Investment Trust Companies. All items in the above
statement derive from continuing operations.

The notes on pages 52 to 81 form an integral part of these accounts.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Share Total
Share Share Revenue Capital Hedge option Other equity Minority

capital premium reserve reserve reserves reserve reserves holders interest Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

For the year ended 31 December 2008

Loss for the year – – (10,404) (853,959) – – – (864,363) 2 (864,361)

Dividends – – (9,039) – – – – (9,039) (1) (9,040)

Issue of share options 
and performance shares – – – – – (1,868) – (1,868) – (1,868)

Tax on share options 
and performance shares – – – – – 49 – 49 – 49

Issue of shares on exercise 
of share options 6 21 – – – – – 27 – 27

Issue of shares in subsidiary – – – – – – – – 25 25

Issue of convertible loan notes – – – – – – 14,726 14,726 – 14,726

Loss on currency hedges – – – – (5,668) – – (5,668) – (5,668)

Deferred tax on currency hedges – – – – 1,587 – – 1,587 – 1,587

Loss on interest rate swaps – – – – (879) – – (879) – (879)

Changes in equity 
for the year ended
31 December 2008 6 21 (19,443) (853,959) (4,960) (1,819) 14,726 (865,428) 26 (865,402)

Balance at 31 December 2007 139,064 141,980 29,630 886,369 33 7,267 95,258 1,299,601 104 1,299,705

Balance at 31 December 2008 139,070 142,001 10,187 32,410 (4,927) 5,448 109,984 434,173 130 434,303

Share Total
Share Share Revenue Capital Hedge option Other equity Minority

capital premium reserve reserve reserves reserve reserves holders interest Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

For the year ended 31 December 2007

Profit for the year – – 20,970 131,124 – – – 152,094 9 152,103

Dividends – – (10,411) – – – – (10,411) (12) (10,423)

Issue of performance shares – – – – – 2,483 – 2,483 – 2,483

Tax on share options 
and performance shares – – – – – 224 – 224 – 224

Issue of shares on exercise 
of share options 254 844 – – – – – 1,098 – 1,098

Gain on interest rate swaps – – – – 33 – – 33 – 33

Changes in equity
for the year ended
31 December 2007 254 844 10,559 131,124 33 2,707 – 145,521 (3) 145,518

Balance at 31 December 2006 138,810 141,136 19,071 755,245 – 4,560 95,258 1,154,080 107 1,154,187

Balance at 31 December 2007 139,064 141,980 29,630 886,369 33 7,267 95,258 1,299,601 104 1,299,705

The notes on pages 52 to 81 form an integral part of these accounts.
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Company statement of changes in equity

Share
Share Share Revenue Capital Hedge option Other

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

For the year ended 31 December 2008

Loss for the year – – (8,514) (853,554) – – – (862,068)

Dividends – – (9,039) – – – – (9,039)

Issue of share options and performance shares – – – – – (1,868) – (1,868)

Issue of shares on exercise of options 6 21 – – – – – 27

Issue of convertibles – – – – – – 14,726 14,726

Loss on interest rate swaps – – – – (879) – – (879)

Changes in equity for the year ended
31 December 2008 6 21 (17,553) (853,554) (879) (1,868) 14,726 (859,101)

Balance at 31 December 2007 139,064 141,980 14,400 885,473 33 7,043 95,258 1,283,251

Balance at 31 December 2008 139,070 142,001 (3,153) 31,919 (846) 5,175 109,984 424,150

Share
Share Share Revenue Capital Hedge option Other

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

For the year ended 31 December 2007

Profit for the year – – 9,950 129,572 – – – 139,522

Dividends – – (10,411) – – – – (10,411)

Issue of performance shares – – – – – 2,483 – 2,483

Issue of shares on exercise of options 254 844 – – – – – 1,098

Gain on interest rate swaps – – – – 33 – – 33

Changes in equity for the year ended
31 December 2007 254 844 (461) 129,572 33 2,483 – 132,725

Balance at 31 December 2006 138,810 141,136 14,861 755,901 – 4,560 95,258 1,150,526

Balance at 31 December 2007 139,064 141,980 14,400 885,473 33 7,043 95,258 1,283,251

The notes on pages 52 to 81 form an integral part of these accounts.
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Consolidated balance sheet

As at As at 
31 December 31 December

2008 2007
Notes £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 1,139 1,463

Investments designated as fair value through profit and loss 13 741,112 1,321,315

Deferred tax asset 2,583 3,219

744,834 1,325,997

Current assets

Financial assets 16 15,039 26,783

Other receivables 16 10,068 16,515

Tax recoverable 17 1,000 –

Cash and cash equivalents 16 130,627 183,487

156,734 266,785

Total assets 901,568 1,552,782

Current liabilities

Other payables 17 (31,526) (30,621)

Tax payable 17 – (3,026)

(31,526) (33,647)

Total assets less current liabilities 870,042 1,519,135

Non-current liabilities

Senior Notes 18 (332,239) (218,137)

Convertible bonds 18 (102,595) –

Deferred staff compensation 18 (628) (730)

Deferred tax liability 18 (277) (563)

(435,739) (219,430)

Net assets 434,303 1,299,705

Equity

Called up share capital 20 139,070 139,064

Share premium account 21 142,001 141,980

Capital redemption reserve 22 3,204 3,204

Share purchase reserve 23 92,054 92,054

Share option reserve 24 5,448 7,267

Convertible bonds – equity 25 14,726 –

Hedge reserves 25 (4,927) 33

Capital reserve 26 32,410 886,369

Revenue reserve 27 10,187 29,630

Shareholders’ funds 434,173 1,299,601

Minority interest 130 104

Total equity 434,303 1,299,705

Net asset value per ordinary share (“Shareholders’ funds”)

– undiluted 28 312.2p 934.5p

– diluted 28 308.1p 902.5p

The notes on pages 52 to 81 form an integral part of these accounts.

The Group’s financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 1 April 2009 and the balance sheets were signed on behalf 
of the Board by:

Nicholas Ferguson
Lynn Fordham
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Company balance sheet

As at As at
31 December 31 December

2008 2007
Notes £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Investments designated as fair value through profit and loss 13 729,269 1,310,453

Investments in subsidiaries 15 22,983 22,145

752,252 1,332,598

Current assets

Financial assets 16 15,039 25,761

Other receivables 16 5,016 9,426

Cash and cash equivalents 16 113,576 152,416

133,631 187,603

Total assets 885,883 1,520,201

Current liabilities

Other payables 17 (26,899) (18,277)

Tax payable 17 – –

(26,899) (18,277)

Total assets less current liabilities 858,984 1,501,924

Non-current liabilities

Senior Notes 18 (332,239) (218,137)

Convertible loan notes 18 (102,595) –

Deferred tax liability 18 – (536)

(434,834) (218,673)

Net assets 424,150 1,283,251

Equity

Called up share capital 20 139,070 139,064

Share premium account 21 142,001 141,980

Capital redemption reserve 22 3,204 3,204

Share purchase reserve 23 92,054 92,054

Share option reserve 24 5,175 7,043

Convertible loan notes – equity 25 14,726 –

Hedge reserves 25 (846) 33

Capital reserve 26 31,919 885,473

Revenue reserve 27 (3,153) 14,400

Shareholders’ funds 424,150 1,283,251

Net asset value per ordinary share (“Shareholders’ funds”)

– undiluted 28 305.0p 922.8p

– diluted 28 301.0p 891.5p

The notes on pages 52 to 81 form an integral part of these accounts.

The Company’s financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 1 April 2009 and the balance sheets were signed on behalf of
the Board by:

Nicholas Ferguson
Lynn Fordham
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Consolidated cash flow statement

For the For the
year ended year ended

31 December 31 December
2008 2007

Notes £’000 £’000

Investment management and advisory fee income 30,749 30,671

Interest income 13,104 13,680

Other income 1,684 16,983

Expenses of the management and advisory group (23,070) (14,869)

Other expenses (3,034) (3,997)

Interest paid (24,420) (10,844)

Tax paid (109) (5,141)

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities 29 (5,096) 26,483

Investing activities

Capital distributions from core private equity funds’ portfolio 319,774 288,866

Capital distribution from other investments 5,760 1,452

Receipts in respect of warehoused funds 15,639 79,940

Calls paid to core private equity fund portfolio (412,927) (500,378)

Payments in respect of other investments (143,421) (65,856)

Payments in respect of warehoused funds (18,360) (60,160)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (533) (489)

Net cash used in investing activities (234,068) (256,625)

Financing

Proceeds from share issues 52 1,098

Proceeds on issue of Senior Notes 40,000 109,437

Issue costs of Senior Notes (2,210) (750)

Proceeds on issue of convertible bonds 120,000 –

Issue costs of convertible bonds (3,545) –

Dividends paid (9,041) (10,423)

Net cash from financing activities 145,256 99,362

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (93,908) (130,780)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 183,487 295,468

Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 41,048 18,799

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 130,627 183,487

The notes on pages 52 to 81 form an integral part of these accounts.
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Company cash flow statement

For the For the
year ended year ended

31 December 31 December
2008 2007

Notes £’000 £’000

Interest income 11,275 12,813

Other income 17,136 17,406

Expenses (10,542) (9,803)

Interest paid (25,649) (10,844)

Tax received/(paid) 3,120 (328)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities 29 (4,660) 9,244

Investing activities

Capital distributions from core private equity funds’ portfolio 319,126 288,477

Capital distributions from other investments 5,760 1,452

Receipts in respect of warehoused funds 15,056 79,940

Calls paid to core private equity fund portfolio (412,908) (500,357)

Payments in respect of other investments (135,676) (58,937)

Payments in respect of warehoused funds (18,360) (59,239)

Loans from/(to) subsidiaries 16,443 (1,841)

Investment in subsidiaries (8,118) (7,960)

Net cash used in investing activities (218,677) (258,465)

Financing

Proceeds on issue of ordinary shares 27 1,098

Proceeds on issue of Senior Notes 40,000 109,437

Issue costs of Senior Notes (2,210) (750)

Proceeds on issue of convertible bonds 120,000 –

Issue costs of convertible bonds (3,545) –

Dividends paid (9,039) (10,411)

Net cash from financing activities 145,233 99,374

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (78,104) (149,847)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 152,416 283,874

Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 39,264 18,389

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 113,576 152,416

The notes on pages 52 to 81 form an integral part of these accounts.
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1 Accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements of the Company and the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and International Accounting
Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee (“IASC”) that remain
in effect, and to the extent that they have been adopted by the EU and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985. 

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. Where presentational guidance set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice (“SORP”)
for investment trusts issued by the Association of Investment Companies (“AIC”) in January 2005 is consistent with the requirements of International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), the financial statements have been prepared on a basis compliant with the SORP.

The Group and Company financial statements are presented in sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£’000) except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries).

Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities.

Financial statements of all Group companies are prepared for the same reporting period.

The interest of minority shareholders is stated at the minority’s proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised. Subsequently, minority
interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries that is not held by the Group and are presented separately in the income
statement and within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, separately from parent shareholders’ equity. However, any losses applicable to the minority
interest in excess of the minority interest are allocated against the interests of the parent.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition
or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Presentation of income statement

In order to better reflect the activities of an investment trust company and in accordance with guidance issued by the AIC, supplementary information which
analyses the income statement between items of a revenue and capital nature has been presented alongside the income statement. In accordance with the
Company’s status as a UK investment company under Section 266 of the Companies Act 1985, net capital returns may not be distributed by way of dividend.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the Company’s contractual right to the cash flow from the asset expires or substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are transferred. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual obligation is discharged, with gains and losses
recognised in the income account.

Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where a purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery
of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value.

As the Company’s business is investing in financial assets with a view to profiting from their total return in the form of income or capital gains, such
financial assets are designated as fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. Incidental costs on acquisition of such assets are expensed.

Financial assets designated as fair value through profit or loss are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value, which for investment funds 
is at their net asset value based on the fair value of the underlying investments.

Quoted instruments are valued at either the bid price or the last traded price, depending on the convention of the exchange on which the investment 
is quoted.

In respect of unquoted instruments, or where the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is established by using recognised valuation
methodologies, in accordance with International Private Equity and Venture Capital (“IPEVC”) Valuation Guidelines. New investments are initially carried 
at cost, for a limited period, being the price of the most recent investment in the investee. This is maintained to the extent that it represents fair value 
and is in accordance with IPEVC Guidelines as the cost of recent investments will generally provide a good indication of fair value until such time as it 
is appropriate to measure fair value on a different basis. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Gains and losses arising from investments, designated as investments held at fair value through profit or loss, are included in the income statement 
in the period in which they arise. Foreign exchange gains and losses on fair value through profit or loss investments are included within the changes 
in its fair value.

Derivative financial instruments 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its risk associated with interest rate fluctuations and foreign exchange movements. It is not the
Group’s policy to trade in derivative instruments. 

Derivative instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at cost and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Fair value is determined 
by reference to market values for similar instruments. 

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity, while the ineffective portion is
recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the income statement when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as
when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts taken to equity are transferred 

SVG Capital plc
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1 Accounting policies continued

to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in
equity are transferred to profit or loss. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation
as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in equity remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs and are transferred to the income statement
or to the initial carrying amount of a non-financial asset or liability as above. If the related transaction is not expected to occur, the amount is taken to
profit or loss.

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if all of the following conditions are met.

• at the inception of the hedge there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging relationship and the entity’s risk management objective
and strategy for undertaking the hedge. 

• the hedge is expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk, consistently
with the originally documented risk management strategy for that particular hedging relationship.

• for cash flow hedges, a forecast transaction that is the subject of the hedge must be highly probable and must present an exposure to variations in
cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.

• the effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured, i.e. the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk
and the fair value of the hedging instrument can be reliably measured.

• the hedge is assessed on an ongoing basis and determined actually to have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for
which the hedge was designated.

Current financial assets

Financial assets purchased with a view to subsequent resale to an associated entity (“warehoused investments”) are carried at fair value, being the
proposed transfer price of the asset, and included in current assets.

Investments in subsidiaries

In its separate financial statements the Company recognises its investment in subsidiaries at cost, unless they are investment vehicles, in which case they
are included at fair value.

Investments in associates

In accordance with IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates’, the standard does not apply to investments held in associates by private equity organisations that
are designated as fair value through profit and loss. Such investments are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they occur.

An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not control or joint control, through participation in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee.

Bank borrowings and loan notes

Interest-bearing bank loans and loan notes issued are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including premiums
payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis in the income statement account using the effective
interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability component and an equity component. At the date of issue, 
the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt. The difference between 
the proceeds of issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component, representing the embedded option to convert
the liability into equity of the Group, is included in equity. Issue costs are allocated proportionately to the liability and equity components. The carrying
amount to maturity of the liability component is measured at amortised cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded as the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payments

The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payments’. In accordance with the transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to all
grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as of 1 January 2005.

The cost of equity-settled share-based payments with employees of the Group are measured at fair value at the date of grant and recognised as an expense
over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the award. Fair value is determined by an
external valuer using an appropriate valuation model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any non-market vesting conditions.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
management’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous
balance sheet date is recognised in the consolidated income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity. No expense is recognised in the Company’s
income statement as there are no equity instruments issued in consideration for the provision of employee services to the Company. The cost of equity
awards to employees of subsidiaries is added to the Company’s investment in subsidiaries.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for services provided in the normal
course of business.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. Interest income is classified
within operating activities in the cash flow statement.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment has been established and is classified within operating
activities in the cash flow statement.

Overview Business review Corporate information Financial information Company information
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1 Accounting policies continued

Investment management and advisory fees are accrued over the period for which the service is provided. Performance fees are recognised on an accruals
basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant contractual agreement.

The Company’s revenue and capital gains are derived primarily from distributions in respect of its holdings in fund investments.

The Company accounts for such distributions by reference to the underlying source of the distribution. Realised profits on capital distributions which 
arise from the realisation of investments within the funds will be credited to the income statement and taken to the Company’s capital reserve. 
Income distributions will be credited to the income statement and taken to the Company’s revenue reserve.

Management and advisory fee income are accrued over the period for which the service is provided.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. All borrowing costs are charged directly to revenue and are
classified within operating activities in the cash flow statement.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due. The costs relating to defined benefit schemes 
are accounted for in the same way as for defined contribution schemes where the Group is unable to identify its share of the underlying performance and
financial position of the plan with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes. Such situations arise where the contributions payable by the Group are set
in terms of the scheme as a whole and, as such, there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the Group’s obligations, plan assets, or costs.

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is pounds sterling. Transactions in currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included in the income statement and are
allocated either to revenue or capital, as appropriate.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s capital reserve. Such translation differences are recognised as income or as expenses 
in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. 
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Investment trusts which have approval under Section 842 Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 are not liable for taxation on capital gains.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged
or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with
in equity.

Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures and equipment are stated at cost, including direct acquisition costs, less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost less estimated residual value of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, 
on the following bases:

Telecommunications and office equipment 10% – 20%

Leasehold improvements 10%

Computer equipment 20% – 33%

The Group does not ordinarily provide for depreciation against art.
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1 Accounting policies continued

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in income.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value may not 
be recoverable.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes. Assets are classified 
as cash equivalents if they are readily convertible to cash and are not subject to significant changes in value. The Company has classified short term bank
deposits, investments in money market funds and short-dated treasury bills as cash equivalents.

Summary of new standards and interpretations not applied

The IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of these financial statements:
Effective date*

International Accounting Standards (IAS / IFRS)

IFRS 1 / IAS 27 Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate 1 January 2009

IFRS 2 Amendment to IFRS 2. Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 1 January 2009

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised January 2008) 1 July 2009

IFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised September 2007) 1 January 2009

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised March 2007) 1 January 2009

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised January 2008) 1 July 2009

IAS 32 / IAS 1 Financial Instruments Puttable at Fair Value and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 1 January 2009

IAS 39 Eligible Hedged Items 1 January 2009

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements 1 January 2008

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2008

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 1 January 2009

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 1 October 2008

IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners 1 July 2009

* The effective dates stated are those given in the original IASB/IFRIC standards and interpretations.

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements in the period of 
initial application.

2 Business segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into the following principal activities:

Investing activities

SVG Capital’s investment objective is to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in private equity funds that are managed or advised by
Permira, an international private equity specialist. In addition, the Company invests in private equity funds that invest in Japan, North America, Asia and
the life sciences sectors, and in unquoted and quoted businesses through specialist funds and co-investments alongside these funds. Investing activities 
are undertaken by SVG Capital plc, SVG India LP and The Platinum Trust.

Overview Business review Corporate information Financial information Company information
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Notes to the accounts continued

2 Business segments continued

Investment management and advisory services

To complement this investment objective and create capital and income for the Company, its fund advisory business structures, markets, manages and
advises products for investment in private equity and in public equity using private equity techniques.

These activities are undertaken by SVG Advisers Limited, SVG Managers Limited, SVG Investment Managers Limited, SVG Advisers (Singapore) Pte.
Limited, SVG Advisers Inc. and SVG North America Inc. Segmental information showing the performance of these business segments is presented below.

For the year ended 31 December 2008 For the year ended 31 December 2007

Investment Investment
management management

Investing and advisory Investing and advisory
activities services Eliminations Total activities services Eliminations Total

Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income from investment advisory services – 28,448 – 28,448 – 29,712 – 29,712

Other operating income 9,252 3,175 – 12,427 29,150 1,004 – 30,154

Intra-group income 16,360 7,540 (23,900) – 512 6,720 (7,232) –

25,612 39,163 (23,900) 40,875 29,662 37,436 (7,232) 59,866

Performance shares and options 
fair value charge – 1,520 – 1,520 – (2,483) – (2,483)

Other administrative finance costs (2,223) (17,040) – (19,263) (3,824) (16,988) – (20,812)

Intra-group expenses (5,702) – 5,702 – (6,720) – 6,720 –

Other operating expenses (481) – – (481) (484) – – (484)

(8,406) (15,520) 5,702 (18,224) (11,028) 19,471 6,720 (23,779)

Operating profit/(loss) 17,206 23,643 (18,198) 22,651 18,634 17,965 (512) 36,087

Finance costs (32,277) – – (32,277) (13,633) – – (13,633)

Intra-group finance costs (1,838) (908) 2,746 – – (77) 77 –

Gains on fair value through profit and loss (813,997) (19) – (814,016) 113,403 18 – 113,421

Exchange (losses)/gains (39,001) 180 – (38,821) 17,123 378 – 17,501

(Loss)/profit before tax (869,907) 22,896 (15,452) (862,463) 135,527 18,284 (435) 153,376

Dividends (9,039) – – (9,039) (10,411) – – (10,411)

Intra-group dividends – (15,452) 15,452 – – (435) 435 –

(9,039) (15,452) 15,452 (9,039) (10,411) (435) 435 (10,411)

Total assets 867,542 34,026 – 901,568 1,521,067 31,715 – 1,552,782

Total liabilities (453,235) (14,030) – (467,265) (237,712) (15,365) – (253,077)

Intra-group (liabilities)/assets (6,674) 6,674 – – 3,222 (3,222) – –

Net assets 407,633 26,670 – 434,303 1,286,577 13,128 – 1,299,705

For the year ended 31 December 2008 For the year ended 31 December 2007

Investment Investment
management management

Investing and advisory Investing and advisory
activities services Total activities services Total

Company £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Total operating income 26,639 – 26,639 29,626 – 29,626

Performance shares and options fair value charge – – – – – –

Other administrative expenses (7,444) – (7,444) (9,408) – (9,408)

Other operating expenses (481) – (481) (484) – (484)

Operating profit 18,714 – 18,714 19,734 – 19,734

Finance costs (34,115) – (34,115) (13,633) – (13,633)

Loss on fair value through profit and loss (813,758) – (813,758) 112,236 – 112,236

Exchange (losses)/gains (39,280) – (39,280) 17,091 – 17,091

(Loss)/profit before tax (868,439) – (868,439) 135,428 – 135,428

Total assets 885,883 – 885,883 1,520,201 – 1,520,201

Total liabilities (461,733) – (461,733) (236,950) – (236,950)

Net assets 424,150 – 424,150 1,283,251 – 1,283,251

Income arises mainly from UK operations. A geographical analysis of investments is included in note 14. 
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3 Revenue
For the For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2008 2007 2007
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income from investments:

Dividends from subsidiaries – 15,452 – –

Income from money market instruments 8,111 7,015 8,703 7,971

Interest from funds and co-investments 984 984 281 281

Other income from funds and co-investments 1,684 1,684 16,799 17,221

Interest on warehoused funds 412 412 2,703 2,703

Other operating income:

Income from investment advisory services 28,448 – 29,712 –

Other interest receivable and other income 1,236 1,092 1,668 1,450

40,875 26,639 59,866 29,626

Represented by:

Interest 10,605 9,381 13,127 12,135

Income from investment advisory services 28,448 – 29,712 –

Dividends from subsidiaries – 15,452 – –

Other income from funds and co-investments 1,684 1,684 16,799 17,221

Other income 138 122 228 270

40,875 26,639 59,866 29,626

4 Administrative expenses
For the For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2008 2007 2007
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fees payable to SVG Advisers Limited – 5,703 – 6,720

Fees payable to Schroder Investment Management Limited 349 274 266 219

Directors’ remuneration 1,142 485 1,644 472

Performance shares and options fair value charge (1,520) – 2,483 –

N.I. on performance shares and options (2,087) (616) 797 155

Staff costs (note 5) 9,836 – 12,137 –

Depreciation (note 12) 795 – 334 –

General expenses 9,047 1,514 5,448 1,733

Auditors’ remuneration

– Statutory audit fees: Company 78 78 85 85

– Statutory audit fees: subsidiaries 90 – 69 –

– Regulatory reporting – – – –

– Other services 13 6 32 24

17,743 7,444 23,295 9,408

The Company has no employees (2007: nil). The Directors are the only key management personnel of the Company. Their remuneration is discussed 
in more detail in the Remuneration Report. The Company’s executive Directors, Andrew Williams and Lynn Fordham, received remuneration of £657,000
in respect of their services to SVG Advisers Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary. There are exceptional credits in the current year relating to share options
and performance shares, as options issued in 2006 lapsed as a result of not satisfying performance targets and performance share awards granted in 2007
are unlikely to vest.
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Notes to the accounts continued

5 Staff costs
For the For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2008 2007 2007
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 8,185 – 10,162 –

Social security costs 838 – 1,323 –

Pension costs (note 6) 813 – 652 –

9,836 – 12,137 –

The Company has no employees. The average number of staff employed by the Group was:
For the For the

Year ended year ended
31 December 31 December

2008 2007
Number Number

Full-time employees 67 55

Seconded staff 3 3

70 58

6 Pension costs

The charge for pension costs comprises:
For the For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2008 2007 2007
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Defined benefit schemes 101 – 85 –

Money purchase schemes 712 – 567 –

813 – 652 –

The Group does not participate in a SVG Group pension scheme. Costs in respect of defined benefit schemes relate to payments due to the 
Schroders Retirement Benefits Scheme (“the Scheme”) in respect of four current and former employees, including the Company’s executive Director,
seconded from Schroder Investment Management Limited to SVG Advisers Limited (“SVGA”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. SVGA and 
the Scheme’s trustees, taking advice from the independent actuaries, agree the contributions.

In accordance with IAS 19, the Group’s contributions to the Scheme are accounted for as a defined contribution scheme on the basis that the Group 
is unable to readily identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the Scheme at the balance sheet date as there is no consistent and reliable
basis for allocating the obligations, plan assets and costs to the Group. Further details of the Scheme can be found in the Annual Report and Accounts of
Schroders plc. In particular, the Scheme had 299 active members in the defined benefit section at 31 December 2008 and the accounts of Schroders plc
disclosed a net pension asset in respect of the Scheme of £22.4 million, calculated under IAS 19 based on valuations as at 1 January 2006 prepared by
independent qualified actuaries.

7 Finance costs
For the For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2008 2007 2007
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Convertible loan note interest 5,665 5,665 – –

Amortisation of issue and listing costs plus premium to redemption re convertibles 866 866 – –

Senior note interest 20,318 20,318 9,560 9,560

Amortisation of issue costs re Senior Notes 386 386 198 198

Swap (receipts)/payments (53) (53) (50) (50)

Loan facility finance costs 4,429 4,429 3,277 3,277

Amortisation of loan facility issue costs 551 551 641 641

Other interest 115 1,953 7 7

32,277 34,115 13,633 13,633
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8 Operations in the year

There is a large degree of uncertainty and risk involved in investing in private equity and the results of the Group and the Company are primarily dependent
on the performance of its private equity fund investments. During the year ended 31 December 2008, losses on investments amounted to £814.0 million
(2007: gain of £113.4 million) for the Group and £813.8 million (2007: gain of £112.2 million) for the Company.

As detailed in notes 32 and 33, the Company has agreed that it should focus its investments mainly on Permira Funds. As such, and given that our largest
exposures currently are to Permira Funds (see notes 19 and 34), we expect that the performance of the Company will be largely dependent on the
performance of the Permira Funds in which we invest.

9 Tax

(a) The charge for tax for the year is made up as follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2008 For the year ended 31 December 2007

Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total
Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current tax

Corporation tax 2,345 204 2,549 5,933 – 5,933

Double taxation relief – – – – – –

2,345 204 2,549 5,933 – 5,933

Overseas tax 61 570 631 (1,847) – (1,847)

Prior year adjustment (group relief) (3,298) – (3,298) (1,539) – (1,539)

Total current tax (note 9(b)) (892) 774 (118) 2,547 – 2,547

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 2,559 (535) 2,024 (401) (729) (1,130)

Effect of changes in UK corporation tax rate (5) – (5) 204 – 204

Prior year adjustment (3) – (3) (348) – (348)

Total deferred tax (note 18) 2,551 (535) 2,016 (545) (729) (1,274)

Total tax charge/(credit) 1,659 239 1,898 2,002 (729) 1,273

For the year ended 31 December 2008 For the year ended 31 December 2007

Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total
Company £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current tax

Group relief (3,105) – (3,105) – – –

Double taxation relief – – – – – –

– – – – – –

Overseas tax 3 570 573 (1,806) – (1,806)

Prior year adjustment (3,304) – (3,304) (1,559) – (1,559)

Total current tax (note 9(b)) (6,406) 570 (5,836) (3,365) – (3,365)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax – (535) (535) – (729) (729)

Total deferred tax (note 18) – (535) (535) – (729) (729)

Total tax (credit)/charge (6,406) 35 (6,371) (3,365) (729) (4,094)

There are no profits chargeable to corporation tax for the Company in the current year. Excess management expenses relating to the venture fund investments
are available to set against any taxable income of the Company. These excess management expenses are included within the investments in venture funds
in the balance sheet of the Company and are not reflected in the Company’s revenue account. If in a future year in relation to the venture fund investments
income exceeds expenses, the taxation charge to the Company’s revenue account will include tax on this excess with a suitable note by way of explanation.

A legislative change in the UK has reduced the main corporation tax rate from 30% to 28%, with effect from 1 April 2008.

Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 28% (2007: 28%). A deferred tax asset of £683,000
(2007: £355,000) has been recognised by SVG Advisers Inc. in respect of US taxation. A deferred tax asset of £1,900,000 (2007: 2,864,000) has been
recognised in respect of SVG Advisers Ltd.

A deferred tax asset of £9.6 million (2007: £16.2 million), of which £nil (2007: £3.4 million) would have been recognised in equity, relating to losses and
other temporary differences, has not been recognised as there is insufficient evidence that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which these losses
and temporary differences can be utilised. The excess management expenses and other temporary differences to which this unrecognised asset relates are
available indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits.

Excess unrelieved foreign tax of £0.1 million (2007: £0.2 million) has not been recognised as a deferred tax asset as there is insufficient evidence that there
will be sufficient taxable profit in the future against which it could be utilised.
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9 Tax continued

(b) Factors affecting current tax charge for the year:

The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28.5% for a large company (2007: 30%). The differences are
explained below:

For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended year ended

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2008 2008 2007 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit before tax (862,463) (868,439) 153,376 135,428

Corporation tax at 28.5% (2007: 30%) (245,779) (247,482) 46,013 40,628

Effects of:

Non-taxable capital losses/(gains) 243,264 243,230 (38,486) (38,653)

Non-taxable income net of disallowable expenses (57) (4,269) – –

Non deductible expenses – – 345 110

Difference between accounting and taxable income from funds 5,416 5,416 (5,677) (5,677)

Unutilised current year expenses carried forward – – 1 –

Other short term timing differences – – (48) –

Depreciation of items not eligible for capital allowances 10 – 8 –

UK tax on income of overseas subsidiary – – 127 –

Income of subsidiary not taxable 141 – (6) –

Income taxable at (lower)/ higher rates (85) – (414) –

Prior year adjustments re UK corporation tax (3,301) (3,304) (1,887) (1,558)

Temporary differences arising in the year on which deferred tax is not recognised – – 3,591 3,591

Effect of share price movements on deferred tax assets 
relating to share option schemes and long term incentive plan 2,256 – – –

Overseas tax 3 3 (1,806) (1,806)

Overseas deferred tax 35 35 (729) (729)

Effect of changes in UK corporation tax rate (5) – 204 –

Current tax charge/(credit) for the year (note 9(a)) 1,898 (6,371) 1,273 (4,094)

10 Dividends
For the For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2008 2007 2007
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts recognised as distributions in the year:

Dividend of 6.5p (2007: 7.5p) 9,039 9,039 10,411 10,411

The dividend of 6.5p is based on 139,069,001 shares in issue.

In order to maintain investment trust status, the Company must not retain more than 15% of its income from shares and securities. The total dividend
payable in respect of the financial year and which will be taken into account in determining the amount of net revenue retained under the requirements
of Section 842 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988, is set out below.

For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended year ended

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2008 2008 2007 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Dividend of nil (2007: 6.5p) – – 9,039 9,039

11 Earnings per share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share, in accordance with IAS 33, is based on the following data:
For the For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2008 2007 2007
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Loss)/earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share being net profit attributable 
to equity holders of the parent (864,363) (862,068) 152,094 139,522

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Interest on convertible loan notes (net of tax) n/a n/a – –

(Loss)/earnings for the purposes of diluted earnings per share (864,363) (862,068) 152,094 139,522



SVG Capital plc
Annual Report and Accounts 200861

11 Earnings per share continued
Number Number Number Number

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per shares 139,067,257 139,067,257 138,883,980 138,883,980

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Share options and performance shares n/a n/a 4,376,767 4,376,767

Convertible loan notes n/a n/a – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 139,067,257 139,067,257 143,260,747 143,260,747

Earnings per share

Basic (621.5p) (619.9p) 109.5p 100.5p

Diluted (621.5p) (619.9p) 106.2p 97.4p

As the Company and Group have made losses in the year there is no dilution from the issuance of potential ordinary shares.

12 Property, plant and equipment (Group)
Telecom-

munications
Leasehold Computer and office

improvements equipment equipment Art Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 January 2008 827 1,078 440 90 2,435

Additions 78 157 166 11 412

Disposals – (9) – – (9)

Exchange translation 73 28 30 – 131

At 31 December 2008 978 1,254 636 101 2,969

Depreciation

At 1 January 2008 260 545 167 – 972

Charge for the year 377 236 182 – 795

Disposals – (6) – – (6)

Exchange translation 33 20 16 – 69

At 31 December 2008 670 795 365 – 1,830

Net book value

At 31 December 2008 308 459 271 101 1,139

At 1 January 2008 567 533 273 90 1,463

Property, plant and equipment are assets of SVG Capital’s subsidiary companies.
Telecom-

munications
Leasehold Computer and office

improvements equipment equipment Art Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 January 2007 780 766 384 37 1,967

Additions 50 324 57 53 484

Disposals – (10) – – (10)

Exchange translation (3) (2) (1) – (6)

At 31 December 2007 827 1,078 440 90 2,435

Depreciation

At 1 January 2007 159 374 116 – 649

Charge for the year 101 182 51 – 334

Disposals – (10) – – (10)

Exchange translation – (1) – – (1)

At 31 December 2007 260 545 167 – 972

Net book value

At 31 December 2007 567 533 273 90 1,463

At 1 January 2007 621 392 268 37 1,318
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13 Investments

(a) Group
Core private Core private
equity fund Other Total equity fund Other Total

portfolio investments portfolio portfolio investments portfolio
2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007

Fair value through profit or loss assets £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Valuation brought forward 1,160,975 160,340 1,321,315 872,491 49,043 921,534

Calls and purchases 412,927 137,935 550,862 500,377 81,301 581,678

Distributions and sales* (319,774) (5,761) (325,535) (288,866) (6,452) (295,318)

(Losses)/gains on investments (658,331) (147,199) (805,530) 76,973 36,448 113,421

Valuation carried forward 595,797 145,315 741,112 1,160,975 160,340 1,321,315

(b) Company
Core private Core private
equity fund Other Total equity fund Other Total

portfolio investments portfolio portfolio investments portfolio
2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Valuation brought forward 1,159,931 150,522 1,310,453 871,173 49,043 920,216

Calls and purchases 412,908 129,842 542,750 500,357 73,590 573,947

Distributions and sales* (319,126) (5,760) (324,886) (288,477) (6,452) (294,929)

(Losses)/gains on investments (658,205) (140,843) (799,048) 76,878 34,341 111,219

Valuation carried forward 595,508 133,761 729,269 1,159,931 150,522 1,310,453

* Includes proceeds from the sale of secondary interests in fund investments.

Total loss of £813,758,000 (2007: gain of £112,236,000) shown in the Company’s income statement also include losses on subsidiaries during the year 
of £5,413,000 (2007: gain of £1,017,000) and valuation write-downs on warehoused assets of £9,297,000 (2007: nil).

All funds in the core private equity fund portfolio are unlisted. However, some of the underlying companies held within those funds are listed. 
Included in the value of total core private equity fund portfolio of £1,160,975,000 are gross valuations of listed investments amounting to £62,428,000
(31 December 2007: £241,214,000). The Group and Company investment portfolios include Permira IV at a value of £282.6 milion, which is net of 
a 25% provision of £85.2 million against future distributions on the realisation of investments held by Permira IV.

Significant interests in investment funds

Details of investments in which the Company or Group has an interest of 10% or more of any class of share/units are detailed in the list of investments 
on pages 24 and 25. 

In addition, SVG Capital has a 3.1% interest in the I Class units of the SVG UK Focus Fund, a 95.1% interest in the A Class and 98.6% interest in the 
R Class units of the SVG European Fund and a 23.8% interest in the A Class and 99.7% interest in the R Class units of the SVG Alpha Fund, all of which
form part of SVG Investment Funds, a Dublin-listed OEIC managed by SVG Investment Managers Limited, of which SVG Capital has an aggregate interest
of 15.8%. As the Company’s overall holding in SVG Investment Funds does not represent a controlling interest the fund is not a subsidiary. It also has 
a 22.5% interest in Strategic Equity Capital plc, a UK-listed investment trust managed by SVG Investment Managers Limited and a £13.3 million
commitment to co-invest alongside the Strategic Recovery Fund II.
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14 Geographical analysis of investments
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Private equity funds and co-investments

Europe* 558,337 558,117 1,014,213 1,013,961

Total Europe 558,337 558,117 1,014,213 1,013,961

Asia

Asia Pacific 3,856 3,787 75,956 75,164

Japan 4,820 4,820 15,609 15,609

Total Asia 8,676 8,607 91,565 90,773

North America

Canada 1,567 1,567 2,017 2,017

United States** 27,217 27,217 53,180 53,180

Total North America 28,784 28,784 55,197 55,197

Core private equity fund portfolio 595,797 595,508 1,160,975 1,159,931

Public equity funds:

UK 15,120 15,120 32,333 32,332

Europe 4,424 4,424 7,212 7,212

Total public equity funds 19,544 19,544 39,545 39,544

* Permira Funds have been included in Europe, which is the primary focus of such funds, although they can invest a certain amount of their committed capital in businesses which do not
have significant activities in Europe.

** SV Life Sciences Fund II, SV Life Sciences Fund III and SV Life Sciences Fund IV have been included within the US.

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Other investments

CLO funds – Europe – – 38,301 38,301

Private equity funds of funds*** 111,506 111,506 66,145 66,145

Indian funds 11,938 384 9,817 –

Other – Europe 2,327 2,327 6,532 6,532

Total other investments 125,771 114,217 120,795 110,978

Total investment portfolio 741,112 729,269 1,321,315 1,310,453

*** Private equity funds of funds are relatively equally focused between Europe and the US.

Allocations are based on the expected geographical focus of the funds.

15 Investments in subsidiaries
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2008 2007

Company Company
£’000 £’000

Cost at the beginning of the year 19,503 9,060

Cash contributions 8,118 7,960

Capital contribution in respect of performance shares and options granted over SVG Capital shares (1,868) 2,483

Cost at the end of the year 25,753 19,503

Net unrealised gain on investment at the end of the year (2,770) 2,642

Carrying value at the end of the year 22,983 22,145

In accordance with IFRS 2, the fair value amount of options issued that have been charged in the income statements of SVG Advisers Limited (“SVGA”)
and SVG Advisers Inc. are treated as a non-refundable contribution to subsidiaries and added to the cost of subsidiaries in SVG Capital’s accounts. 

As an investment vehicle, the Platinum Trust is included in the Company’s balance sheet at its fair value of £1,427,000 (31 December 2007: £1,290,000).
Similarly, SVG India LP is an investment entity and is included in the Company’s balance sheet at its fair value of £11,606,000 (31 December 2007:
£9,062,000). The other subsidiaries are operating companies rather than investment vehicles and are included at cost. SVG Advisers Limited is included 
at cost of £9,425,000 (31 December 2007: £11,293,000). SVG Investment Managers Limited is included at cost of £275,000 (31 December 2007:
£250,000). SVG Managers Limited is included at cost of £250,000 (31 December 2007: £250,000). SVG North America Inc. and SVG Advisers Inc. 
are wholly owned subsidiaries of SVGA. 
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Notes to the accounts continued

15 Investments in subsidiaries continued

Subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2008:
Profit after tax

Country of Number and Capital and for the year
registration, class of reserves at ended

incorporation shares/units 31 December 31 December
and held by the Group 2008 2008

Company and business operation Group holding £’000 £’000

The Platinum Trust (unit trust)
– investment vehicle Guernsey 23,112 ‘A’ units(1) 99%

900 ‘B’ units(1) 90% 1,533 160

SVG Advisers Limited 
– advisory and administration services UK 4,250,000 Ordinary Shares(2) 100% 18,670 11,862

SVG North America, Inc. 
– broker/dealer US 3,000 Common Shares(3) 100% 185 7

SVG Advisers, Inc.
– investment adviser US 100 Common Shares(4) 100% 886 272

SVG Investment Managers Limited
– investment manager UK 25,000,000 ‘A’ Ordinary Shares(5) 100%

2,500,100 ‘B’ Ordinary Shares(5) 50% 1,034 379

SVG Managers Limited
– investment manager UK 250,000 Ordinary Shares(6) 100% 560 312

SVG Advisers (Singapore) Ltd Pte.
– advisory services Singapore 1 Ordinary Share(7) 100% 31 31

SVG Investments Limited
– investment entity UK 100 Ordinary Shares(8) 100% – –

SVG India LP
– investment vehicle Guernsey US$32,040,980 commitment(9) 100% 11,606 (5,549)

(1) On termination of The Platinum Trust, the ‘B’ units (non-equity) are entitled to a return of the original amount subscribed. The ‘A’ units (equity) are entitled to the remaining net assets. 
In April 2006, Platinum Trust distributed cash and private equity funds to SVG Capital plc. The total value of these distributions amounted to £55.9 million.

(2) The Company acquired 100 ordinary £1 shares in SVG Advisers Limited (“SVGA”) for £100 on 18 June 2001. On 26 June 2001, SVGA issued 749,900 ordinary £1 shares to the Company
for £749,900. On 22 April 2002, SVGA issued a further 750,000 ordinary £1 shares to the Company for £750,000. On 19 December 2002, SVGA issued a further 1,500,000 ordinary 
£1 shares to the Company for £1,500,000. On 29 April 2004, SVGA issued a further 1,250,000 ordinary £1 shares to the Company for £1,250,000.

The Company has also granted performance shares and options over its own shares to employees of SVGA and SVGA Inc. In accordance with IFRS 2, the fair value of such options, 
at the date of grant, are accounted for as a contribution to SVGA. The total cost of performance shares and options accounted for as an investment in subsidiary amounted to £5,175,000
at 31 December 2008.

(3) SVG North America Inc. (“SVGNA”) is a subsidiary of SVGA. SVGA acquired SVGNA on 18 June 2001 for US$50,000 and subscribed for additional paid-in capital of US$250,000 in the
year ended 30 June 2002. On 31 December 2005, SVGNA repaid US$275,000 of capital to SVGA. This amount was immediately reinvested in SVGA Inc.

(4) SVG Advisers Inc. (“SVGA Inc.”) is also a subsidiary of SVGA. SVGA Inc. commenced operations on 1 January 2003. SVGA acquired 100 common US$1 shares for US$100 on 
13 December 2002. SVGA subscribed for additional paid-in capital of US$141,463 during the year ended 31 December 2004. On 31 December 2005, SVGA subscribed for 
US$275,000 of additional capital in SVGA Inc.

(5) The Company acquired 100 ordinary £1 shares in SVG Investment Managers Limited (“SVG IM”) for £100 on 16 October 2002. On 16 May 2003, SVG IM issued 99,900 ordinary
£1 shares to the Company for £99,900. On 4 May 2005, a further 150,000 shares were issued to the Company for £150,000. On 7 August 2007, SVG Capital provided a £624,000
subordinated loan to SVG IM. On 31 January 2008, SVGIM’s share capital was reorganised and replaced by 25,000,000 ordinary 1p ‘A’ shares and 5,000,000 ordinary ‘B’ shares. All of 
the ‘A’ shares were issued to SVG Capital, but employees of SVGIM were granted options over 12,499,900 shares. The ‘B’ shares are non-voting and were issued as follows: 2,500,100 
to SVG Capital and 2,499,900 to employees of SVGIM.

(6) SVG Managers Limited (“SVGM”) was incorporated on 27 October 2007. During 2007 SVG Capital plc acquired and subscribed for 250,000 ordinary £1 shares.

(7) SVG Advisers (Singapore) Ltd Pte. was incorporated on 28 May 2008 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SVGA.

(8) SVG Investments Limited became a wholly-owned subsidiary of SVG Capital plc on 15 February 2008.

(9) SVG India LP was formed on 7 December 2007. On 12 December 2008, SVG Capital reduced its commitment to SVG India LP from US$50,000,000 to US$32,040,980. 
At 31 December 2008, SVG Capital is the sole limited partner. Heritage Partners GP Limited acts as the general partner and is not a related party.
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16 Current assets
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
Financial assets £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Warehoused fund investments* 15,039 15,039 26,783 25,761

15,039 15,039 26,783 25,761

* Further details on warehoused fund investments are included in note 32. Further calls and distributions in respect of warehoused funds have been made following the year end.

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
Other receivables £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Amounts owed by Group undertakings – 928 – 3,223

Interest receivable 465 303 2,288 2,092

Prepayments and other debtors 7,224 4,631 8,017 4,078

Fair value of interest rate swaps (846) (846) 33 33

Accrued investment advisory fee income 3,225 – 6,177 –

10,068 5,016 16,515 9,426

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
Cash and cash equivalents £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank balances and short term deposits 7,497 2,176 19,891 10,759

Money market funds 123,130 111,400 78,749 56,810

Treasury bills – – 84,847 84,847

130,627 113,576 183,487 152,416

Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of change in value, 
other than those arising from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

Cash at bank and investments in money market funds earn interest at floating rates. Money market funds are redeemable for same-day value and are
AAA-rated. Short term deposits are typically made for periods of between one week and three months, earning interest at the respective short term
deposit rates. Treasury bills earn a yield to redemption and have maturities of less than three months.
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Notes to the accounts continued

17 Current liabilities
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
Other payables £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts owed to Group undertakings – 7,602 – –

Interest payable and similar charges 11,710 11,710 6,776 6,776

Amounts payable under forward foreign exchange contracts 13,087 6,618 – –

Other creditors and accruals 6,729 969 23,845 11,501

31,526 26,899 30,621 18,277

Borrowings

In December 2008, the Company reduced its loan facility from €750 million to €550 million (£531.7 million) with The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, 
The Bank of Scotland plc and Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG. Under the terms of the renegotiations, the financial covenant was increased from 
a maximum loan to value test of 40% to 50% (inclusive of the unaudited Directors’ valuation of SVG Advisers Limited). No drawdowns were made 
under the facility during the year ended 31 December 2008, although it was partially utilised by way of a guarantee over SVG Capital’s commitments 
to SVG Diamond Holdings Limited and SVG Diamond Holdings II Limited (note 19), which were fully-paid by the year end. The term of the loan facility
expires in March 2011.

Tax payable/(recoverable)
For the For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2008 2007 2007
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current tax liability/(debtor) – corporation tax

Balance brought forward 3,026 – 2,100 –

Corporation tax paid (3,228) – (3,468) –

Corporation tax charged to income statement (note 9(a)) 2,549 – 5,933 –

Corporation tax credited to equity (49) – – –

Prior year adjustment (3,298) – (1,539) –

Balance carried forward (1,000) – 3,026 –
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18 Non-current liabilities
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Senior Notes 332,239 332,239 218,137 218,137

Convertible Bonds 102,595 102,595 – –

Deferred staff compensation 628 – 730 –

Deferred tax liability 277 – 563 536

435,739 434,834 219,430 218,673

Non-current liabilities include £332.2 million of Senior unsecured loan Notes. Further details of the Notes are provided in the following table:
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

US$170 million 9.10% Fixed Rate Series A Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 118,236 118,236 85,401 85,401

€20 million 7.57% Fixed Rate Series B Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 19,335 19,335 14,690 14,690

£7 million Floating Rate Series C Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000

US$175 million 8.49% Fixed Rate Series A Senior Notes due 18 July 2014 121,714 121,714 87,913 87,913

€15 million 7.72% Fixed Rate Series B Senior Notes due 18 July 2014 14,501 14,501 11,017 11,017

€5 million Floating Rate Series C Senior Notes due 18 July 2014 4,834 4,834 3,673 3,673

£50 million 9.10% Fixed Rate Series D Senior Notes due 18 July 2015 50,000 50,000 10,000 10,000

335,620 335,620 219,694 219,694

Unamortised issue costs (3,381) (3,381) (1,557) (1,557)

332,239 332,239 218,137 218,137

On 18 July 2006, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (“RBS”) to effectively fix the interest
payments under the Series C 2013 Notes at a rate of 6.65% per annum (8.65% following the debt renegotiations in December 2008).

With effect from 2 August 2007, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with RBS to effectively fix the interest payments under the
Series C 2014 Notes at a rate of 5.86% per annum (7.86% following the debt renegotiation in December 2008).

The Company issued a further £40 million Fixed Rate Series D Senior Notes due 18 July 2015 on 4 January 2008.

Issue costs are charged to the revenue account over the term of the Senior Notes.

As part of the debt renegotiations in December 2008, the Company agreed to repurchase 26.7% of each class of the Senior Notes in issue in 
January 2009 at a cost of £88 million (see note 30). The financial covenants were also amended, increasing the loan to value test from 40% to 55% 
(not including the valuation of SVG Advisers).

Non-current liabilities also include £102.6 million of Bonds. Further details are provided in the following table:
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

8.25% Subordinated Convertible Bonds 2016 – nominal 120,000 120,000 – –

Unamortised premium, issue and listing costs (17,405) (17,405) – –

102,595 102,595 – –

The Bonds were issued on 5 June 2008 and are redeemable at par on 5 June 2016. At issue the conversion option was valued at £14,726,000 and this
amount has been credited to an equity reserve (see note 25).

As the Bonds are subordinated to the Senior Notes and the loan facility, they are not counted as debt for the purposes of calculating the loan to value
covenants for the Senior Notes and loan facility.

The Bonds were issued with a Conversion Price of £10.00. As a result of the Rights Issue, the Conversion Price was amended to £7.28 on 4 February 
2009, in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds. As a further result of the Placing, the Conversion Price was amended to £6.48 on 
10 February 2009.

Deferred staff compensation relates to obligations in respect of SVG Advisers Inc. under a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan.
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Notes to the accounts continued

19 Capital commitments and contingencies

At 31 December 2008, the Group had uncalled commitments to its fund investments as follows:
2008 2008 2007

Uncalled Uncalled Uncalled
commitment commitment* commitment

(local currency) £’million £’million

Permira funds

Permira Europe II – – 12.0

Permira Europe III €35.5m 34.3 53.2

Permira IV €202.2m 195.5 1,167.4

P123 – – 7.1

P1234 €7.7m 7.4 5.7

P25 €6.6m 6.3 55.1

SVG Sapphire IV €5.6m 5.4 7.2

248.9 1,307.7

Other private equity funds

SV Investments Fund I $4.0m 2.8 2.7

SV Life Sciences Fund II – – 1.1

SV Life Sciences Fund III $2.2m 1.6 8.3

SV Life Sciences Fund IV $30.5m 21.2 19.6

The Japan Fund IV ¥1,071.4bn 8.2 28.9

33.8 60.6

Public equity funds

The Strategic Recovery Fund II £13.5m 13.5 16.5

CLO funds

Key Capital SVG CLO Equity Fund II €7.0m 6.8 9.5

Private equity funds of funds

SVG Diamond Holdings – – 40.3

SVG Diamond Holdings II – – 50.5

SVG Diamond Private Equity III €39.1m 37.8 35.3

Vintage I €28.8m 27.8 21.2

SVG Asia Fund of Funds $36.8m 25.6 –

Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds III €0.4m 0.4 –

91.6 147.3

Other investments

SVG India $0.8m 0.5 18.1

Gaja Capital Fund $4.3m 3.0 –

Warehoused Private Equity Funds 94.7 75.8

98.2 93.9

Total 492.8 1,635.5

* Based on exchange rates at 31 December 2008.

In December 2008 the Company opted to cap its commitment to Permira IV at 60% of the original amount committed, leaving an uncalled commitment
of 8.4% (€202 million) at the year end. See also note 33. Commitments are payable at short notice.
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19 Capital commitments and contingencies continued

Operating leases

The Group has the following obligations under operating leases:
< 1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 31 December 2008

Operating lease obligation 919 3,408 5,114 9,441

As at 31 December 2007

Operating lease obligation 400 100 – 500

The obligation under operating leases relates to SVG Advisers and has increased significantly compared to the previous year as the subsidiary company has
relocated and signed a long term lease (11 years).

20 Share capital
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Authorised:

200,000,000 shares of £1.00 each 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000

Allotted, called up and fully paid:

Opening balance of 139,064,434 shares of £1.00 each 139,064 139,064 138,810 138,810

Issue of ordinary shares on exercise of options 6 6 254 254

Closing balance of 139,069,901 shares of £1.00 each 139,070 139,070 139,064 139,064

Options over ordinary shares

During the year, no options were granted (2007: nil), 5,467 (2007: 254,297) options were exercised and 718,090 (2007: 12,011) lapsed. 

At 31 December 2008, 7,555,836 (2007: 8,279,393) options to subscribe for ordinary shares were outstanding, as detailed below:
31 December 31 December

Options Options Options 2008 2007
granted in exercised in lapsed in Exercise price number number

Issue date Latest exercise date the year the year the year per share in issue in issue

21 June 2001 20 June 2011 – – – 410.0p 2,622,433 2,622,433

21 June 2001 20 June 2011 – – – 405.5p 28,359 28,359

5 April 2002 4 April 2012 – – – 334.5p 1,324,807 1,324,807

5 April 2002 4 April 2012 – – – 335.0p 13,476 13,476

13 March 2003 12 March 2013 – – – 397.75p 1,136,722 1,136,722

13 March 2003 12 March 2013 – – – 397.5p 10,978 10,978

15 October 2003 14 October 2013 – – – 493.0p 30,425 30,425

12 March 2004 11 March 2014 – – – 479.0p 1,239,386 1,239,386

12 March 2004 11 March 2014 – (5,467) – 492.0p 15,151 20,618

23 March 2005 22 March 2015 – – – 564.0p 1,111,860 1,111,860

23 March 2005 22 March 2015 – – – 569.5p 22,239 22,239

24 March 2006 n/a – – (694,931) 831.4p – 694,931

24 March 2006 n/a – – (23,159) 832.0p – 23,159

– (5,467) (718,090) 7,555,836 8,279,393

For all options in issue, the performance target is for growth in the Company’s net asset value per ordinary share to exceed the growth in the Retail Prices
Index plus 4% per annum over the three years from the date of grant.

The performance target has been met for all options issued by the end of March 2005. The options granted in March 2006 failed to meet the
performance target and have therefore lapsed.

The Remuneration Committee does not currently intend to adjust the options to take account of the recent Rights Issue and Placing.
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Notes to the accounts continued

20 Share capital continued

Share-based payments

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was nil (2007: nil). The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the year
end was 334.5p to 569.5p (2007: 334.5p to 832.0p). The weighted average exercise price of options in issue at the year end was 428.9p (2007: 463.9p). 
All options in issue will be equity-settled.

The mid-market price of shares at 31 December 2008 was 89.0p and the range during the year was 82.0p to 778.0p. The weighted-average share price
on the dates options were exercised during the year was 685.5p (2007: 859.6p).

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a stochastic model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. 

There were no options granted in 2008. The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily 
be the actual outcome. No other features of options grant were incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

Performance shares

A new performance share plan was approved at the 2007 AGM to replace further grants of options, other than in exceptional circumstances. During the
year, 1,318,501 performance shares were granted (2007: 958,584), of which nil (2007: nil) vested or were exercised and 10,694 (2007: 10,810) lapsed.

At 31 December 2008, 2,255,581 (2007: 944,774) performance shares were outstanding, as detailed below:
Performance Performance Performance 31 December 31 December

shares shares vested/ shares 2008 2007
Earliest Vesting/ Latest granted in exercised in lapsed in Exercise price number number

Issue date exercise date exercise date* the year the year the year per share in issue in issue

15 May 2007 15 May 2010(1) 15 May 2017 – – (3,537) 0.0p 459,057 462,594

15 May 2007 15 May 2011(2) 15 May 2017 – – – 0.0p 102,781 102,781

15 May 2007 15 May 2010(1) 15 May 2017 – – – 100.0p 48,154 48,154

15 May 2007 15 May 2011(2) 15 May 2017 – – – 100.0p 275,984 275,984

25 October 2007 25 October 2010(1) 25 October 2017 – – – 0.0p 49,987 49,987

25 October 2007 25 October 2010(1) 25 October 2017 – – – 0.0p 8,274 8,274

13 March 2008 13 March 2011(3) 13 March 2018 614,970 – (7,157) 0.0p 607,813 –

13 March 2008 13 March 2012(4) 13 March 2018 57,721 – – 0.0p 57,721 –

13 March 2008 13 March 2011(3) 13 March 2018 60,940 – – 100.0p 60,940 –

13 March 2008 13 March 2012(4) 13 March 2018 396,262 – – 100.0p 396,262 –

25 September 2008 25 September 2011(3) 25 September 2018 88,609 – – 0.0p 88,609 –

25 September 2008 25 September 2012(4) 25 September 2018 99,999 – – 0.0p 99,999 –

1,318,501 – (10,694) 2,255,581 947,774

* Vesting of these awards will be satisfied by market purchase of shares.

Performance condition footnotes:

(1) Awards subject to stretching growth targets in the gross value of SVG Advisers Limited over three financial years of the Company ending 31 December 2009.

(2) Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in the Company’s undiluted Net Asset Value per Share of the Company (“NAV”) over four financial years ending 
31 December 2010. Specifically, 25% and 100% of an award will vest or become capable of exercise if average annual NAV growth over the performance period is equal to 10% 
and equal to or greater than 18% respectively. For performance between these two points awards will vest on a straight-line basis.

(3) Awards subject to stretching growth targets in the gross value of SVG Advisers Limited over three financial years of the Company ending 31 December 2010.

(4) Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in the Company’s undiluted Net Asset Value per Share of the Company (“NAV”) over four financial years ending 
31 December 2011. Specifically, 25% and 100% of an award will vest or become capable of exercise if average annual NAV growth over the performance period is equal to 10% 
and equal to or greater than 18% respectively. For performance between these two points awards will vest on a straight-line basis.

The price of an ordinary share on 13 March 2008 and 25 September 2008, when awards were granted under the PSP, was 708.5p and 579.0p, respectively.

The fair value of equity-settled performance shares granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a stochastic model, taking into account the terms 
and conditions upon which the performance shares were granted.

The Remuneration Committee does not currently intend to adjust the performance shares to take account of the recent Rights Issue and Placing.
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21 Share premium account
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward 141,980 141,980 141,136 141,136

Premium on issue of shares on exercise of options 21 21 844 844

Balance carried forward 142,001 142,001 141,980 141,980

22 Capital redemption reserve
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward and carried forward 3,204 3,204 3,204 3,204

This reserve represents the nominal amount of the Company’s own shares that have been purchased for cancellation. The amounts included in this
reserve represent transfers from the Company’s share capital account. 

23 Share purchase reserve
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward and carried forward 92,054 92,054 92,054 92,054

On 24 June 1998, the Company obtained permission from the High Court to cancel its share premium account (in existence at that date) and set up 
a new distributable reserve, the share purchase reserve, against which the cost of purchasing the Company’s own shares for cancellation can be debited.

24 Share option reserve
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward 7,267 7,043 4,560 4,560

Fair value charge re performance shares and options issued (1,868) (1,868) 2,483 2,483

Deferred tax on performance shares and options 49 – 224 –

Balance carried forward 5,448 5,175 7,267 7,043

The Group’s share option reserve represents the fair value amounts in respect of options issued that have been charged through the income statements 
of SVG Advisers Limited and SVG Advisers Inc, as well as related deferred tax. The Company’s share option reserve represents the corresponding amount
included in SVG Capital’s accounts as a contribution to subsidiaries (note 15).

25 Other reserves

Convertible bonds – equity
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward – – – –

Issue of convertible bonds 14,726 14,726 – –

Balance carried forward 14,726 14,726 – –

This reserve represents the equity component of the convertible bonds 2016, which were issued on 5 June 2008 (see note 18).

Hedge reserves
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward 33 33 – –

Fair value movement (4,960) (879) 33 33

Recycled through income statement – – – –

Balance carried forward (4,927) (846) 33 33
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26 Capital reserves
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward 886,369 885,473 755,245 755,901

(Loss)/profit for the year (853,959) (853,554) 131,124 129,572

Balance carried forward 32,410 31,919 886,369 885,473

This reserve represents cumulative capital profits. As an investment trust (defined by the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988), the Company is
prohibited by its Articles of Association from distributing as dividend any surpluses arising from the realisation of investments.

27 Revenue reserve
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward 29,630 14,400 19,071 (14,861)

Dividend (9,039) (9,039) (10,411) (10,411)

(Loss)/profit for the year (10,404) (8,514) 20,970 9,950

Balance carried forward 10,187 (3,153) 29,630 14,400

As an investment company (defined by the Companies Act 1985, as amended), the Company’s revenue reserve represents its profits available for distribution.

28 Net asset value per ordinary share (“Shareholders’ funds”)
31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Basic 312.2p 305.0p 934.5p 922.8p

Diluted 308.1p 301.0p 902.5p 891.5p

Calculation of the net asset values per share are based on Group net assets attributable to equity shareholders of the parent of £434,173,000 (31 December 2007:
£1,299,601,000), Company net assets of £424,150,000 (31 December 2007: £1,283,251,000) and on 139,069,901 (31 December 2007: 139,064,434)
ordinary shares in issue at the year end.

The Group diluted net asset values per share assume that share options and performance shares (note 20) with a strike price lower than the undiluted net
asset value per share are exercised at the balance sheet date. This would result in the issue of 2,084,824 ordinary shares (31 December 2007: 9,227,167)
for consideration of £720,000 (31 December 2007: £38,732,000).

The Company diluted net asset values per share assume that share options and performance shares (note 20) with a strike price lower than the 
undiluted net asset value per share are exercised at the balance sheet date. This would result in the issue of 2,084,824 ordinary shares 
(31 December 2007: 9,227,167) for consideration of £720,000 (31 December 2007: £38,732,000).

The convertible bonds 2016 are exercisable at a strike price of 1000p and are therefore not dilutive at 31 December 2008.

Therefore, the calculation of the diluted net asset value per share of the Group is based on Group net assets attributable to equity shareholders of
£434,893,000 (31 December 2007: £1,338,333,000), and on 141,154,725 (31 December 2007: 148,291,601) ordinary shares in issue at the year end.
The diluted net asset per share of the Company is based on Company net assets of £424,870,000 (31 December 2007: £1,321,983,000) and on
141,154,725 (2007: 148,291,601) ordinary shares.
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29 Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2008 2008 2007 2007

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit before tax (862,463) (868,439) 153,376 135,428

Adjustments for:

Losses/(gains) on investments 814,016 813,758 (113,421) (112,236)

Exchange losses/(gains) on other items 38,821 39,280 (17,501) (17,091)

Finance costs 32,277 34,115 13,633 13,633

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 795 – 334 –

Share option expense (1,868) – 2,483 –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 21,578 18,714 38,904 19,734

Decrease in receivables 29,266 1,795 1,845 560

(Decrease)/increase in payables (31,411) (2,640) 1,719 122

Cash generated by operations 19,433 17,869 42,468 20,416

Taxes recovered/(paid) (109) 3,120 (5,141) (328)

Interest paid (24,420) (25,649) (10,844) (10,844)

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities (5,096) (4,660) 26,483 9,244

Purchases and sales of investments are considered to be investing activities rather than operating activities.

30 Post balance sheet events

In December 2008 the Company renegotiated its financial covenants under the loan facility and the Senior Notes. As a result of these discussions the
maximum loan to value ratios were increased (see note 18), interest costs were increased by a minimum of 2% on drawn amounts and it was agreed that
the loan facility would be reduced from €750 million to €550 million, and that 26.7% of the principal amount of each class of the Senior Notes would be
repurchased at par. The repurchase of Senior Notes occurred on 5 January 2009 at a cost of £88 million.

In addition to renegotiating the senior debt arrangements and capping uncalled commitments to Permira IV (see note 33), the Company also announced
that it was launching a Placing and Rights Issue, subject to shareholder approval that was granted at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 
3 February 2009.

The Placing completed and gross proceeds of £70.0 million were received on 10 February 2009 and 70 million new ordinary shares were issued, ranking 
pari passu with existing shares. The Rights Issue closing date for applications ended on 27 February 2009 and the Company issued 101.3 million new
ordinary shares for consideration of gross proceeds of £101.3 million.

31 Analysis of changes in net cash/(debt)
Cash and Cash Short-term Long-term Net

For the year ended 31 December 2008 equivalents debt debt cash/(debt)
Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward 183,487 – (218,137) (34,650)

Foreign exchange movements 41,048 – (75,926) (34,878)

Amortisation of issue costs – – (1,252) (1,252)

Transfer to equity on issue of convertible bonds – – 14,726 14,726

Cash flow (93,908) – (154,245) (248,153)

Balance carried forward 130,627 – (434,834) (304,207)

Overview Business review Corporate information Financial information Company information
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31 Analysis of changes in net cash/(debt) continued
Cash and Cash Short-term Long-term Net

For the year ended 31 December 2007 equivalents debt debt cash/(debt)
Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward 295,468 – (106,330) 189,138

Foreign exchange movements 18,799 – (2,922) 15,877

Amortisation of issue costs – – (198) (198)

Cash flow (130,780) – (108,687) (239,467)

Balance carried forward 183,487 – (218,137) (34,650)

Cash and Cash Short-term Long-term Net
For the year ended 31 December 2008 equivalents debt debt cash/(debt)
Company £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward 152,416 – (218,137) (65,721)

Foreign exchange movements 39,264 – (75,926) (36,662)

Amortisation of issue costs – – (1,252) (1,252)

Transfer to equity on issue of convertible bonds – – 14,726 14,726

Cash flow (78,104) – (154,245) (232,349)

Balance carried forward 113,576 – (434,834) (321,258)

Cash and Cash Short-term Long-term Net
For the year ended 31 December 2007 equivalents debt debt cash/(debt)
Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward 283,874 – (106,330) 177,544

Foreign exchange movements 18,389 – (2,922) 15,467

Amortisation of issue costs – – (198) (198)

Cash flow (149,847) – (108,687) (258,534)

Balance carried forward 152,416 – (218,137) (65,721)

32 Related party transactions

Nicholas Ferguson and Andrew Williams are members of the Advisory Committees of certain of the Permira funds in which the Company invests. 
They do not receive fees for these services.

Nicholas Ferguson and members of his family and Andrew Williams have an interest in the Carried Interest in respect of certain private equity funds. 
With the introduction of the Executive Share Option Plan in May 2001, Nicholas Ferguson and Andrew Williams gave up a portion of their entitlement to
Carried Interest on existing private equity funds and any entitlement they may have to Carried Interest on certain private equity funds launched after 2001
in return for share options granted by the Company under the Executive Share Option Plan. Nicholas Ferguson and Andrew Williams also participate in
the Schroder Ventures Co-Investment Scheme and Schroder Ventures Investments Limited. They have received no new carried interest allocations and
made no new commitments since they joined SVG Capital in 2001.

As detailed in the Remuneration Report, Andrew Williams is employed by Schroder Investment Management Limited and is a member of Schroders
Retirement Benefits Scheme. Mr Williams, an executive Director, is seconded to SVG Advisers, which pays all the costs of his employment. In March 2009,
the Company announced Andrew Wiliams will be leaving the Company.

At 31 December 2008, Damon Buffini had an interest in 6 million SVG Capital shares since he has an interest in Permira Holdings Limited, the parent 
of Permira Capital Limited which owned 6 million SVG Capital shares. Following the year end Permira Capital Limited took up their entitlement to a
further 6 million shares in SVG Capital as part if the Rights Issue. In addition Mr Buffini participated directly in the Placing, applying for 450,000 shares. 
As such Damon Buffini’s total interest in SVG Capital has increased to 12,450,000 shares. Further, Permira Holdings Limited is a party to an operating
agreement with the Company dated 21 March 2005 (more particularly described in a Circular to shareholders dated 24 March 2005) pursuant to which
(a) the SVG Capital Group has committed to be the major investor in future funds designed, managed or advised by entities in the Permira Group and
during the term of that agreement is entitled to access to such funds; and (b) SVG Capital Group has agreed not to commit to any private equity fund 
or product for direct investment, other than agreed commitments to other private equity funds and Japan funds, which are not designed, managed 
or advised by entities in the Permira Group. As a result of Mr Buffini’s interest in the Permira entities described above, Mr Buffini will not participate in 
any decisions relating to commitments made, or which may be made, by the SVG Capital Group to any funds or products designed, managed or 
advised by entities in the Permira Group.

In December 2008 the Company elected to cap its uncalled commitments to Permira IV, subject to various terms and conditions. The agreement reached
was on an arm’s length basis and on terms equally available to all limited partners of Permira IV.
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32 Related party transactions continued

The interests of Directors in SVG Capital’s shares are detailed in the Report of the Directors on page 30. In addition, certain Directors also have an interest
in funds managed or advised by the SVG Capital Group, as detailed below:
Director * Investment in SVG Funds**

Damon Buffini*** – 5,000,000 shares in SVG Diamond Private Equity III plc

Nicholas Ferguson – 300,000 shares in Sapphire (PCC) Limited

Anthony Habgood – 400,000 shares in SVG Diamond Private Equity III plc

– 20,000 shares in Strategic Equity Capital plc

Denis Raeburn – 500,000 shares in SVG Diamond Holdings II Limited

– 1,000,000 shares in SVG Diamond Private Equity III plc

Charles Sinclair – 200,000 shares in Sapphire (PCC) Limited

– 250,000 shares in Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds III plc

– 900 shares in SVG UK Focus Fund

– 100,000 shares in SVG Diamond Holdings II Limited

– 150,000 shares in SVG Diamond Private Equity III plc

– 20 shares in Sapphire European Private Equity LP

Andrew Williams – 100,000 shares in SVG Sapphire (PCC) Limited

* Including beneficial interests of spouses and dependant children.

** Holdings are unchanged from the prior year.

*** Mr Buffini has an indirect interest in this investment, which is held by Permira Group Investments Limited.

No other Director has any material interest in any other contract that is significant to the Company’s business.

The Directors are the only key management personnel of the Company. Details of their remuneration are included in the Remuneration Report.

The Company invests in a number of funds for which its subsidiary companies, SVG Advisers Limited (“SVGA”) or SVG Investment Managers Limited
(“SVG IM”), act as either investment adviser or investment manager and receive fees for their services. The following table details funds managed 
or advised by SVG IM or SVGA that are also part of SVG Capital’s investment portfolio.

Investment Manager/Adviser Uncalled commitment Valuation
£’million £’million

Permira feeder vehicles:

P123 SVG IM/ SVGA – 37.1

P1234 SVGA 7.4 42.0

P25 SVGA 6.3 30.9

SVG Sapphire IV SVGA 5.4 –

Generalist funds of funds:

SVG Diamond Holdings SVGA – 50.8

SVG Diamond Holdings II SVGA – 30.0

SVG Diamond Holdings III SVGA 37.8 6.7

SVG Asia Fund of Funds SVGM 25.6 1.8

Schroder PE Fund of Funds III Schroders/SVGA 0.4 0.4

Key Capital SVG CLO Equity Fund Key Capital/SVGA – –

Key Capital SVG CLO Equity Fund II Key Capital/SVGA 6.8 –

Other investments:

SVG India LP PEIAL* 0.5 11.6

Public equity vehicles:

SVG Focus Fund SVG IM – 4.3

SVG Alpha Fund SVG IM – 2.7

SVG European Fund SVG IM – 4.4

Strategic Equity Capital plc SVG IM – 2.3

Strategic Recovery Fund II co-investment SVG IM 13.5 5.8

* Private Equity Investment Advisers Limited (“PEIAL”) is a joint venture investment advisory company based in Mauritius in which SVGA holds a 50% interest in the equity shares.
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32 Related party transactions continued

Aegon Investment Management BV was the largest investor in SVG Capital plc at 31 December 2008, prior to the Placing and Rights Issue, and also
invests in a number of other funds advised by SVGA. As part of the Placing announced by the Company on 18 December 2008, the Company agreed to
place 10,300,000 new Ordinary Shares with Aegon Nederland NV. The Company paid a commission to Aegon Nederland NV in respect of such Placing
of £180,250. The Company also paid a commission of £430,564 to Aegon Nederland NV in respect of its irrevocable undertaking to take up its rights
under the Rights Issue announced by the Company on 18 December 2008.

The Company has warehoused various private equity fund investments for subsequent transfer to SVG Asia Fund of Funds plc (“SVG Asia”), Key Capital
SVG CLO Equity Fund II (“CLO II”), as well as additional fund opportunities. SVG Capital plc is or is expected to be a significant investor in these funds,
which are also managed or advised by SVGM or SVGA. The CLO II had a first close in December 2007 and SVG Asia had a first close on 21 February 2008.
All funds warehoused by SVG Capital plc that have been transferred to date have been transferred at fair value.

On close of Diamond III on 17 May 2007, SVG Managers (“SVGM”) made a commitment to purchase 21,138,000 shares, with an initial 20% call of
€4,277,600. This was financed by a loan from SVG Capital, at an interest cost of 5% per annum. At 31 December 2007 the amount outstanding on the
loan was €1,391,600 and SVGM held 6,958,000 Diamond III shares. During the year the Diamond III commitment was transferred to SVG Investments
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, with a loan of commercial rates provided by SVG Capital plc. In December 2008, SVG Capital plc purchased
5,233,000 Diamond III shares from SVG Investments at the published November NAV. The proceeds were insufficient to repay the outstanding loan
balance so SVG Capital agreed to forgive the unpaid balance of £0.8 million.

As announced on 8 May 2008, the Company sold various secondary interests in the following funds to either Lexington Partners or Diamond III: Permira
Europe II; Permira Europe III; Permira IV; SV Investments I; SV Life Sciences II; and SV Life Sciences III. The transfer prices agreed with Diamond III were on
equivalent terms to those agreed with Lexington Partners, an independent third party. The total consideration received under these arrangements
amounted to £103 million.

At 31 December 2007 the Company had purchased five CLO funds for a total net cost of €18.4 million. A portion of each of these funds, with a net cost
of €11.9 million, were transferred to CLO II in January 2008 for total consideration of €11.9 million. The remaining CLO assets have been written-down 
to nil at 31 December 2008.

At 31 December 2007 the Company had made primary commitments to two private equity funds that were transferred to SVG Asia Fund of Funds plc
during the year for total proceeds of $5.0 million. The Company made a $25 million commitment to SVG Asia Fund of Funds plc and subsequently made
an additional commitment of $15.9 million.

At 31 December 2007 the Company had made primary commitments to seven private equity funds that are being warehoused for future product
launches. The total net cost of these investments at the year end was £9.7 million, with unfunded commitments of £69.6 million. During 2008 the
Company made commitments to a further two private equity funds. At 31 December 2008 the Company had uncalled commitments of £94.7 million 
to nine private equity funds. Funded commitments of £34.7 million have been paid and the assets are held in the balance sheet at £15.0 million.

During the year SVG Capital sold 4 million shares in the Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds III at NAV plus interest to a third party. A further 1 million
shares are held as long term investments, with an unfunded commitment of €0.4 million.

During the year SVGA received €1.50 million of Diamond I Loan Notes and €0.94 million of Diamond II Loan Notes, as part of its ongoing investment
advisory fee arrangements. These Notes were purchased from SVGA by SVG Capital plc at par value on the date of issue, as the holding of investments 
is the main activity of the parent company. 

In 2007 the Company advanced a loan of £624,000 to SVG Investment Managers Limited which remains outstanding. Interest of 5% per annum is
payable on the loan.

SVG Capital receives certain advisory and administrative services from SVGA in return for a fee of 0.5% p.a. of gross assets. The fees payable in respect 
of these services for the year ended 31 December 2008 amounted to £6.1 million (2007: £6.4 million).

During the year SVGA accumulated surplus cash which it provided to SVG Capital by way of a loan at a commercial interest rate. In total SVGA remitted
£30.0 million to SVG Capital. In December 2008 SVGA paid a dividend of £15.0 million to SVG Capital which was used to partially repay the loan.

The Company has an investment in KC II, a Dublin-based corporate finance company holding 29.9% of its issued shares of KC II (24.9% on a diluted basis).

The ‘Diamond Investment Scheme’ was formally executed last year. This enabled external Diamond Advisory Committee Members to purchase shares in
Diamond I & II from SVG Capital, as previously agreed. Likewise Diamond II shares were made available to SVGA staff. The shares remain in the name of
SVG Capital but are held on trust for the beneficiaries. A total of 1,035,000 Diamond I shares were sold at NAV to the Diamond Advisory Committee. 
A further 3,090,000 Diamond II shares were sold at NAV to staff and Diamond Advisory Committee members. At 31 December 2008 the total amounts
receivable by the Company under their Scheme was £4.5 million.

During the year the Company received dividends of £15.0 million from SVGA (2007: nil), £0.4 million from SVGIM (£2007: nil) and £0.02 million 
(2007: £0.4 million) from the Platinum Trust. There were no other distributions paid by subsidiaries during the year.

Related party transactions during the year were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions.
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33 Risk

Financial instruments and risk profile

The Company’s primary investment objective is to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in private equity funds which are managed or
advised by Permira, a leading international private equity specialist. These investments are typically illiquid. In addition, the Company holds money 
market instruments, cash and short term deposits and various items such as debtors and creditors that arise directly from its operations. These financial
instruments held by the Company are generally liquid.

The holding of securities, investing activities and associated financing undertaken pursuant to this objective involves certain inherent risks. Events may
occur that would result in either a reduction in the Company’s net assets or a reduction of revenue profits available for dividend.

As an investment trust, the Company invests in securities for the long term. The Company has not taken out any derivatives contracts to date, other than
the interest rate swap agreements referred to in note 18, which are used to hedge against fluctuations in interest rates with respect to the floating rate
Senior Notes in issue.

Further details regarding the risks faced by the Company are explained in the Business Review on pages 8 to 23.

Financial instruments

(a) Financial assets
Company Group

Floating Fixed Non-interest Floating Fixed Non-interest
rate rate bearing Total rate rate bearing Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Currency denomination of assets 
at 31 December 2008: 

Sterling 1,153 – 105,694 106,847 17,923 – 98,811 116,734

Euro 3,832 – 451,011 454,843 3,832 – 451,052 454,884

US dollar 108,591 – 132,055 240,646 108,872 – 132,861 241,733

Japanese yen – – 4,820 4,820 – – 4,820 4,820

Singapore dollar – – 1,695 1,695 – – 1,695 1,695

Hong Kong dollar – – 56,779 56,779 – – 56,779 56,779

Indian rupee – – 18,686 18,686 – – 18,634 18,634

Canadian dollar – – 1,567 1,567 – – 1,567 1,567

113,576 – 772,307 885,883 130,627 – 766,219 896,846

Company Group

Floating Fixed Non-interest Floating Fixed Non-interest
rate rate bearing Total rate rate bearing Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Currency denomination of assets 
at 31 December 2007:

Sterling 7,301 – 153,872 161,173 34,273 – 148,024 182,297

Euro 59,915 84,847 839,585 984,347 62,874 84,847 840,683 988,404

US dollar 354 – 179,233 179,587 1,493 – 180,057 181,550

Japanese yen – – 15,609 15,609 – – 15,609 15,609

Singapore dollar – – 44,267 44,267 – – 44,267 44,267

Hong Kong dollar – – 106,620 106,620 – – 106,620 106,620

Indian rupee – – 26,582 26,582 – – 27,337 27,337

Canadian dollar – – 2,016 2,016 – – 2,016 2,016

67,570 84,847 1,367,784 1,520,201 98,640 84,847 1,364,613 1,548,100

Comparative figures have been re-analysed to show a more detailed break-down of underlying currency exposures.

Non-interest bearing assets represent non-monetary items such as the Group’s investment portfolio, warehoused assets and other short term debtors.
Floating rate financial assets consist of cash at bank, short term deposits and AAA-rated money market funds. Fixed rate financial assets comprise 
euro-denominated Treasury Bills, which have a known yield to redemption if held to maturity. All financial assets are included at fair value.
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33 Risk continued

(b) Financial liabilities
The Company issued a further £40 million of Senior Notes in January 2008 and has £332 million of Senior Notes outstanding at the year end. 
The Company issued £120 million of subordinated convertible bonds in June 2008. The Company does not have any other borrowings at the balance
sheet date, although it does have in place a loan facility of €550 million with The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, The Bank of Scotland plc and Bayerische
Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG. At 31 December 2008 the loan facility was undrawn. In addition to financial liabilities, the Company also has uncalled fund
commitments of £492.8 million (note 19) as at 31 December 2008, which are discussed below as part of commitment risk.

The level of borrowing will impact on the Group’s performance by amplifying the effect of movements in the valuation of the investment portfolio. 
It should also be noted that fund investments and underlying investee companies may also utilise borrowings to varying degrees. This is particularly 
the case with respect to CLO funds and structured private equity funds of funds, which are highly leveraged vehicles.

Currency denomination of financial liabilities of the Company and the Group:
31 December 31 December

2008 2007
£’000 £’000

Sterling 159,021 16,879

Euro 38,280 29,172

US dollar 237,533 172,086

434,834 218,137

Gross contractual cash-flows* (cumulative interest and principal amounts) payable on the long-term liabilities of the Company and Group are as follows:
31 December 31 December

2008 2007
£’000 £’000

Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 186,886 147,501 

Senior Notes due 18 July 2014 188,753 145,184 

Senior Notes due 18 July 2015 71,678 15,325 

Convertible Bonds due 5 June 2016 194,250 –

641,567 308,010 

* Based on exchange rates at each year-end and allowing for interest rate swaps.

Risks

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are considered to be commitment risk and valuation risk. The Board reviews and agrees
policy for managing these and other risks as summarised below. The Directors consider that the risks faced by the Group are primarily those faced 
by the Company.

Commitment/liquidity risk

The nature of investing in buy-out and development capital funds entails making significant financial commitments, as shown in note 19. At 31 December
2008, the Group had significant uncalled commitments of £492.8 million (2007: £1,635.5 million), compared to Shareholders’ funds of £434.2 million
(2007: £1,299.6 million).

It is anticipated that over the longer term, and in normal circumstances, commitments would be financed by available cash resource distributions received
on the realisation of existing investments, although in the current market environment it is not anticipated that there will be significant realisations from the
investment portfolio in the short term. In addition, the Group had a €550 million loan facility at the year end that could be drawn on, subject to financial
covenants, to meet commitments as they fall due. However, a residual risk remains that the Group could be unable to meet its future commitments in full.
If as a consequence of a failure to pay a call, the Company is treated as a defaulting investor to the relevant Fund, it will suffer a resultant dilution in interest
and possibly the compulsory sale of its interest. In December 2008 the Company agreed to reduce its commitment to Permira IV. The total direct commitment
by the Company to Permira IV was €2.4 billion, of which 51.6% had been called. The Company elected to cap its commitment at 60% of the total, resulting
in an uncalled commitment of €202 million which will only be called to finance follow-on investments and fees. The terms of these arrangements require
that future distributions from the realisation of portfolio companies receivable by those investors in Permira IV that elected to cap their commitments will
be reduced by 25%, such benefit to accrue to the Limited Partners that did not elect to cap their uncalled commitments.

The Company’s loan facility expires in March 2011. The Senior Notes in issue mature between July 2013 to July 2015 (see note 18). The Convertible
Bonds are repayable in 2016.

The Board manages liquidity risk by regularly and rigorously reviewing cash flow forecasts and available funding options. Commitments to fund
investments are reviewed by the Investment Committee and approved by the Board. 
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33 Risk continued

Valuation/market price risk

The Company’s exposure to valuation risk comprises mainly movements in the value of its underlying investments. A breakdown of the Fund portfolio 
is given on pages 24 and 25 and a detailed analysis of the 20 largest underlying companies is given on pages 16 to 19. In accordance with the
Company’s accounting policies, set out on pages 52 to 55, all underlying investments are valued at fair value by the Directors in accordance with the
current International Private Equity and Venture Capital (“IPEVC”) Valuation Guidelines. The IPEVC Guidelines contain detailed methodology setting out
best practice with respect to valuing unquoted investments. It should be noted that a large proportion of the Company’s underlying investee companies 
are expected to be unquoted and therefore the valuation of such companies involves exercising judgement. The Company does not hedge against
movements in the value of these investments. Uncertainty arises as a result of future changes in the valuation of the Company’s underlying investments,
the majority of which are unquoted, and the effect changes in exchange rates may have in the sterling value of these investments. Development-stage
equity investments and early-stage equity investments, by their nature, involve uncertainty as to the ultimate value likely to be realised on the disposal 
of those investments, particularly as their unquoted nature means that a ready market may not exist for them. As an indication of the valuation risk facing
the Company, in 2008 the Group suffered losses on its investment portfolio totalling £818.6 million (2007: gain of £113.4 million).

The Company’s sensitivity to valuation risk will be affected by changes in the Company’s levels of borrowing (see note 18) and liquidity, as approved 
by the Board. It will also be affected by leverage in the funds in which we invest and the local currency denomination of such funds, which is considered
separately under currency risk.

At 31 December 2008, a 10% movement in the valuation of the Group’s aggregate investments designated as fair value through profit and loss, would
result in a 17.3% change in Shareholders’ funds.

Valuation risk will be affected by leverage in the underlying investee companies. A sensitivity analysis has been performed on the valuations of the 
20 largest underlying investee companies, which had an aggregate valuation (before providing for carried interest) of £568.9 million or 91.3% of the
gross private equity portfolio valuation (2007: £1,157.0 million or 85.0%), the results of which are set out in the table below.

Hypothetical
Hypothetical fair value

fair value (10% write-
Fair value (10% uplift)* down)*
£’million £’million £’million

31 December 2008

Gross valuation of 20 largest investee companies 568.9 754.0 388.8

Change in valuation/effect on income +32.6% –31.6%

31 December 2007

Gross valuation of 20 largest investee companies 1,157.0 1,370.2 936.8

Change in valuation/effect on income +18.4% –19.0%

* All investments are included in the balance sheet at fair value. Quoted companies are valued based on market prices and recently acquired unquoted investments may be carried at cost.
For such investments, a 10% movement in the valuation basis will have a 10% impact on fair value. For unquoted investments valued on a different basis, such as earnings-related, a 10%
movement in the earnings of the investee company will not necessarily result in a 10% change in fair value, because of other factors such as the level of debt utilised by the investee companies.

The Board manages valuation risk by reviewing and approving the valuation of the private equity fund portfolio.
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Holdings risk

In certain circumstances, the Company may wish to transfer its holdings in particular funds. In a majority of the funds in which the Company will invest,
the general partner, trustee or manager has the ultimate right, similar to that exercisable by a board of a private company, to refuse to register the 
transfer of an interest. While the Company has no reason to believe that any request for the transfer of an interest would be refused, it is of course
conceivable that the general partner’s, trustee’s or manager’s overriding fiduciary duty could result in its refusing to register a particular transfer proposed
by the Company.

Concentration risk

The Directors believe that the diversified nature of the underlying investments in the Company’s private equity fund portfolio reduces the risks normally
associated with making investments in the buy-out and development capital markets. However, it should be noted that, in accordance with its stated
investment objective, the Company intends to focus its investments principally in private equity funds that are managed or advised by Permira. 
As outlined in note 8, the future performance of the Company will therefore be largely dependent on the future performance of the Permira Funds 
in which we invest (see notes 19 and 34 for an indication of the Company’s exposures). The Directors believe that this represents an opportunity, 
but investors should also be aware that greater concentration of the investment portfolio also presents a risk.

Interest rate risk

The Company’s revenue will be affected by changes in prevailing interest rates since a large portion of its income ordinarily derives from money market
instruments and bank deposit interest. It also pays interest on its Senior Notes and drawings on the loan facility that may be taken out from time to time.

The Company’s primary objective is to achieve capital returns from its investments and, as such, the main exposure to interest rate risk is indirect, through
its impact on the valuation of the private equity funds, although it is not possible to quantify such effects. Interest rates are one of the key determinants 
of economic growth. At a more specific level, interest rates and credit spreads also have an important role in the ability of private equity funds to secure
profitable deals, as many transactions are partly financed by debt. The effect of interest rate changes on the valuation of investments and debt forms part
of valuation risk, which is considered separately.

At 31 December 2008, the Company held investments in AAA-rated money market funds valued at £111.4 million (2007: £56.8 million), earning interest
at market rates. The money market funds are redeemable on less than 24 hours’ notice. Other floating rate financial assets comprised cash at bank or
short term deposits.

At 31 December 2008, the Company had £332.2 million of Senior Notes in issue and £102.6 million of Bonds (see note 18). Interest rate risk on the Senior
Notes and the Bonds is mitigated as the Bonds and most of the Notes pay fixed rates of interest and swap agreements have been taken out with respect
to the floating rate notes. Taking account of changes to interest costs following the debt renegotiations in December 2008, the weighted average interest
rate payable on the Notes and the swaps amounted to 8.70% at 31 December 2008. The timing of the cash flows in respect of the interest rate swaps
exactly matches those of the floating rate notes that are being hedged. All interest payments on the Senior Notes are effectively fixed and the Company
considers that the swaps are effective in providing a hedge against interest rate risk. The fair value of the interest rate swaps included in the balance sheet
amount to a liability of £846,000 at 31 December 2008 (2007: asset of £33,000) and have been valued by The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, the swap
counterparty.

Credit risk

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Company unless otherwise disclosed. The Company is subject to credit risk on its cash and
cash equivalents. The maximum credit risk exposure relating to cash and cash equivalents is represented by carrying value as at the balance sheet date.
The Company's cash and deposits are held with a variety of counterparties with a credit rating of AA or better. Cash equivalents at the year end comprised
money market funds with a variety of counterparties, each fund having a credit rating of AAA.
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33 Risk continued

Currency risk

The Company is exposed to currency risk directly since the majority of its assets and liabilities are denominated in foreign currency and their sterling 
value can be significantly affected by movements in foreign exchange rates. The Company does not normally hedge against foreign currency movements
affecting the value of its investments, but takes account of this risk when making investment decisions. However, the Company has issued Senior Notes 
of US$345 million and €40 million, respectively, which act as a partial hedge against assets denominated in those currencies and could be swapped into
other currencies if deemed appropriate. The Company also has a €550 million loan facility which, if drawn, would act as a hedge against the currency 
risk on the value of its euro-denominated assets. The Company and Group has also entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to mitigate against
movements in exchange rates. These contracts are primarily to provide a cash-flow hedge against euro-denominated investment management and
advisory fees receivable by subsidiary companies in 2009 and 2010. The total outstanding under such contracts at 31 December 2008 amounted to 
a sale of €44.0 million in exchange for £35.3 million. A fair value loss of £5.7 million was taken to equity in respect of these contracts as a result of the
appreciation of euro against sterling. In addition, SVG Capital had an outstanding forward foreign exchange contract at 31 December to sell €64.3 million
in exchange for $80.0 million, with an unrealised loss at 31 December 2008 of £6.6 million taken through the income statement as a result of the
appreciation of euro against the dollar. The contract settled in January 2009.

A sensitivity analysis has been performed on the valuations on the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on the value of shareholders’ funds, the results of
which are set out in the table below.

Hypothetical Hypothetical
Equity value value

shareholders’ (10% £ (10% £
funds depreciation) appreciation)

£’million £’million £’million

31 December 2008

Equity shareholders’ funds 432.4 482.5 382.2

Change in shareholders’ funds/effect on income +11.6% –11.6%

31 December 2007

Equity shareholders’ funds 1,299.7 1,414.8 1,184.7

Change in shareholders’ funds/effect on income +8.9% -8.9%

34 Ten largest fund investments (by value)
2008 2007

Manager/Adviser £’000 £’000

Permira IV Permira 282,632 522,952

Permira Europe III Permira 99,974 233,871

Permira Europe II Permira 61,938 101,734

SVG Diamond SVGA 50,806 16,975

P1234 SVGA 42,002 48,256

P123 SVGA 37,142 55,163

P25 SVGA 30,948 43,508

SVG Diamond II SVGA 29,967 2,359

Vintage I Mizuho 21,822 35,218

SV Life Sciences Fund IV SV Life Sciences Advisers 12,111 4,615

669,342 1,064,651
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The Company

SVG Capital plc is a private equity investor and fund management business listed on the London Stock Exchange. SVG Capital plc carries on business as 
an investment trust. Investment trust companies are able to switch investments without liability for capital gains tax. This, together with the advantages 
of professional management and spread of risk, makes investment trusts a valuable investment medium.

The Company carries on business as an investment company within the meaning of Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006.

In order to obtain exemption from capital gains tax the Company conducts itself with a view to continuing as an approved investment trust for the
purposes of Section 842 of the United Kingdom Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (as amended). The Company is not a close company for
taxation purposes.

Information for shareholders

The Company’s shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange. The stock exchange code for the shares is SVI. The price of the shares is quoted daily 
in The Financial Times, The Daily Telegraph and The Times.

The net asset value is calculated at 30 June and 31 December each year following an extensive valuation procedure. Due to the nature of the Company’s
investments, it is not practical to publish the net asset value on a more frequent basis.

A factsheet containing information including the diversification of the portfolio and the Company’s largest investments is published quarterly and is
available on request from the Company Secretary.

Capital gains tax information

For disposals of shares in the 2008/2009 tax year, the annual capital gains (after adjusting for indexation and taper relief) of private individuals in excess 
of £9,600 are assessed for capital gains tax at the individual’s marginal tax rate. Capital gains on shares disposed of by individuals may be eligible for taper
relief. The taper reduces the amount of a chargeable gain according to how long the asset has been held for periods after 5 April 1998. Where shares
were acquired before 6 April 1998, the capital gain will also be reduced by indexation allowance for the period up to April 1998, but not thereafter.

For the benefit of those shareholders who acquired their holdings in exchange for their interests in Schroder Ventures’ funds, the acquisition cost of the
shares for capital gains tax purposes based upon initial dealings on 23 May 1996 was as follows:

Each ordinary share of £1.00: £1.915

Individual Savings Account – Schroder maxi ISA plan

The Schroder ISA offers investors:

• lump sum investments in the ordinary shares of the Company from a minimum of £1,000 to a maximum of £7,200 in the current tax year;

• a regular investment option from a minimum of £50 per month;

• competitive charges;

• the option to reinvest income; and

• the option to include other trusts.

If you would like further information about the Schroder maxi ISA, please contact the Secretary of the Company at 31 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7QA
or call Schroder Investor Services on freephone 0800 718 777.

Registrar services

Communications with shareholders are mailed to the address held on the share register. Any notifications and enquiries relating to registered 
share holdings, including a change of address or other amendment should be directed to Equiniti Registrars at 1st floor, 34 South Gyle Crescent, 
South Gyle Business Park, Edinburgh EH12 9EB. The helpline telephone number of Equiniti Registrars is 0871 384 2776 (calls to this number are charged
at 8p per minute from a BT landline. Other telephone providers’ charges may vary).

Equiniti Limited maintains a web-based enquiry service for shareholders. Currently the ‘Shareview’ site (address below) contains information available 
on public registers. Shareholders will be invited to enter their name, shareholder reference (account number) and post code and will be able to view
information on their own holding.

Visit www.shareview.co.uk for more details.

SVG Capital plc
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

This notice of meeting contains important information and requires your attention. If you are in any doubt as to what action to take you should consult
with an appropriate adviser authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 if you are in the UK or, if you are not in the UK, with another
appropriately authorised financial adviser. If you have sold or transferred your shares in SVG Capital plc, please give this letter and the accompanying
documents to the stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

NOTICE is hereby given that the thirteenth Annual General Meeting of SVG Capital plc will be held at 12.00 noon on Wednesday, 6 May 2009 at 
61 Aldwych, London, WC2B 4AE to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions, of which resolutions 1 to 10 will be proposed as 
Ordinary Resolutions and resolutions 11 and 12 will be proposed as Special Resolutions:

1. To receive the Report of the Directors and the audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008 together with the Auditors’ report on those 
accounts.

2. To approve the Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2008.

3. To elect Lynn Fordham as a Director of the Company.

4. To re-elect Charles Sinclair as a Director of the Company.

5. To re-elect Denis Raeburn as a Director of the Company.

6. To re-elect Anthony Habgood as a Director of the Company.

7. To re-elect Edgar Koning as a Director of the Company.

8. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company.

9. To authorise the Directors to determine the remuneration of Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company.

10. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an ordinary resolution:

“That, in substitution for all other subsisting authorities, to the extent unused, the Board be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised 
to exercise all powers of the Company to allot relevant securities (within the meaning of Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985): 

(a) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £3,104,079 (equivalent to 1% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 1 April 2009) 
in connection with the SVG Capital plc Executive Share Option Plan 2001 and the SVG Capital 2007 Performance Share Plan; and 

(b) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £103,469,308 (equivalent to one-third of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 
1 April 2009),

which authorities shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after the passing of this resolution or, if earlier, 
at the close of business on 30 June 2010 (unless previously revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting), save that the Company may 
before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Board may 
allot relevant securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired.”

11. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as a special resolution:

“That, subject to the passing of Resolution 10 above, in substitution for all other subsisting authorities, to the extent unused, the Board be and is
hereby empowered, pursuant to Section 95 of the Companies Act 1985, to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 94 of the said Act)
for cash, pursuant to the authority conferred by Resolution 10 above and/or where such allotment is treated as an allotment of equity securities
under Section 94(3A) of the said Act, as if sub-section (1) of Section 89 of the said Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this power
shall be limited: 

(a) to the allotment of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £3,104,079 (equivalent to 1% of the issued ordinary share capital of
the Company as at 1 April 2009) in connection with the SVG Capital plc Executive Share Option Plan 2001 and the SVG Capital 2007 Performance
Share Plan; 

(b) to the allotment of equity securities in connection with a rights issue, open offer or any other pre-emptive offer in favour of ordinary shareholders
where the equity securities respectively attributable to the interests of ordinary shareholders on a fixed record date are proportionate (as nearly as
may be) to the respective numbers of ordinary shares held by them (subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Board may deem
necessary or expedient to deal with fractional entitlements or legal or practical problems arising in any overseas territory, the requirements of any
regulatory body or stock exchange or any other matter whatsoever); and 

(c) to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£15,520,396 (equivalent to 5% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 1 April 2009), 

and shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after the passing of this resolution or, if earlier, at the close of 
business on 30 June 2010 (unless previously revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting), save that the Company may before such expiry 
make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Board may allot equity securities 
in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.”
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Notice of Annual General Meeting continued

12. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as a special resolution:

“That the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised in accordance with Section 166 of the Companies Act 1985 to make
market purchases (within the meaning of Section 163 of the said Act) of ordinary shares of £1.00 each in the capital of the Company (“Shares”),
provided that: 

(a) the maximum number of Shares hereby authorised to be purchased shall be 46,530,148 (equivalent to 14.99% of the issued ordinary share
capital of the Company as at 1 April 2009); 

(b) the minimum price which may be paid for a Share is £1.00; 

(c) the maximum price which may be paid for a Share is an amount equal to the greater of (i) 105% of the average of the middle market quotations
for a Share taken from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days immediately preceding the day on which the Share is
purchased and (ii) the higher of the price of the last independent trade in the shares of that class and the highest then current independent bid for
the shares of that class on the London Stock Exchange; 

(d) purchases may only be made pursuant to this authority if the Shares are (at the date of the proposed purchase) trading on the London Stock
Exchange at a discount to the net asset value; 

(e) the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after the passing of this
resolution or, if earlier, at the close of business on 30 June 2010 (unless previously revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting); and 

(f) the Company may make a contract to purchase Shares under the authority hereby conferred prior to the expiry of such authority which will 
or may be executed wholly or partly after the expiration of such authority and may make a purchase of Shares pursuant to any such contract.”

Registered Office: 
31 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7QA

By Order of the Board
Schroder Investment Management Limited
Company Secretary

7 April 2009

Explanatory notes and additional information

1. Ordinary shareholders or their duly appointed representatives are entitled to attend, speak and vote at the meeting. An ordinary shareholder entitled
to attend, speak and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote on their behalf at the meeting, provided
that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by that member.

2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company but must attend the meeting to represent you. Forms appointing proxies must be completed and
returned to the Company’s registrar, Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6ZR not later than 48 hours before
the time fixed for the meeting. To appoint more than one proxy, please contact Equiniti Limited, who will be able to advise you how to do this, on
0871 384 2776. Calls from within the UK are charged at 8p per minute from a BT landline. Other providers’ costs may vary. Completion and return
of a form of proxy, other such instrument or any CREST Proxy Instruction (as described in paragraphs 6 to 9 below) will not preclude a member from
attending and voting in person.

3. In case of a member which is a company, the proxy form must be executed under its seal or signed on its behalf by an officer of the company or an
attorney for the company. Any power of attorney or any other authority under which the proxy form is signed (or a duly certificated copy of such
power or authority) must be included with the proxy form.

4. On a vote by show of hands, every ordinary shareholder who is present in person has one vote and every duly appointed proxy who is present has one
vote. On a poll vote, every ordinary shareholder who is present in person or by way of proxy has one vote for every share of which he/she is a holder. 

5. A vote withheld is not a vote in law, which means that the vote will not be counted in the calculation of votes for or against the resolution. If an
ordinary shareholder does not specify how he/she wants the proxy to vote on the particular resolutions, the proxy may vote or abstain as he/she sees
fit. A proxy may also abstain as he/she sees fit on any other business which properly comes before the Annual General Meeting.

6. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the Annual General
Meeting and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST
sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed (a) voting services provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting
service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

7. In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy
Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with CRESTCo’s specifications and must contain the information required for such
instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to
the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent (ID 7RA01)
by the latest time for receipt of proxy appointments specified above. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined
by the time stamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry
to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be
communicated to the appointee through other means.

8. CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that CRESTCo does not make available special
procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy
Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST member or sponsored member or
has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary
to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where
applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical
limitations of the CREST system and timings.
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9. The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities
Regulations 2001.

10. If two or more ordinary shareholders jointly hold shares in the Company, each shareholder may attend, speak and vote at the meeting, appoint 
a proxy or give voting instructions. However, if more than one joint holder votes, whether in person or by proxy, only the vote of the senior joint
holder will count. Seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register of members in respect of the joint holding.

11. If an ordinary shareholder submits more than one valid proxy appointment, the appointment received last before the latest time for receipt 
of proxies will take precedence.

12. Any person to whom this Notice is sent who is a person that has been nominated under Section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to enjoy
information rights (“nominated persons”) does not have a right to appoint a proxy. However, a nominated person may, under an agreement with
the registered shareholder by whom he/she was nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the
AGM. Alternatively, if a nominated person does not have such a right, or does not wish to exercise it, he/she may have a right under any such
agreement to give instructions to the registered shareholder as to the exercise of voting rights.

13. In view of the uncertainty regarding the application of certain provisions of the Companies Act 2006 relating to multiple corporate representatives,
arrangements will be put in place at the meeting so that: (i) if a corporate shareholder has appointed the Chairman of the meeting as its corporate
representative with instructions to vote on a poll in accordance with the directions of all the other corporate representatives for that shareholder 
at the meeting, then on a poll those corporate representatives will give voting directions to the Chairman and the Chairman will vote (or withhold 
a vote) as corporate representative in accordance with those directions; and (ii) if more than one corporate representative for the same corporate
shareholder attends the meeting but the corporate shareholder has not appointed the Chairman of the meeting as its corporate representative, 
a designated corporate representative will be nominated, from those corporate representatives who attend, who will vote on a poll and the other
corporate representatives will give voting directions to that designated corporate representative. Corporate shareholders are referred to the guidance
issued by the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators on proxies and corporate representatives – www.icsa.org.uk for further details 
of this procedure. 

14. Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, the Company has specified that only those Shareholders registered 
in the Register of members of the Company at 6.00 p.m. on 4 May 2009 shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting in respect of the
number of Shares registered in their name at that time. Changes to the Register of members after 6.00 p.m. on 4 May 2009 shall be disregarded 
in determining the right of any person to attend and vote at the meeting. If the meeting is adjourned, such entitlement is determined by reference 
to the Register of members at 6.00 p.m. on the day two days preceding the date fixed for the adjourned meeting.

15. As at 1 April 2009, 310,407,923 ordinary shares of £1.00 each were in issue, of which none was held as a treasury share. Accordingly, the 
total number of voting rights of the Company as at 1 April 2009 was 310,407,923. As at the date of this Notice, the Company holds no 
treasury shares.

16. Copies of the terms of appointment of the non-executive Directors and a statement of all transactions of each Director and of his family interests 
in the shares of the Company, will be available for inspection by any member of the Company at the registered office of the Company, 
31 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7QA, during normal business hours on any weekday (English public holidays excepted) and by any person
attending the Annual General Meeting for at least 15 minutes prior to and during the Annual General Meeting. None of the Directors has a 
contract of service with the Company.

17. The profile of each Director offering himself for election and/or re-election is set out on pages 26 and 27 of the Annual Report and Accounts of 
SVG Capital plc for the year ended 31 December 2008.

18. Shareholders may not use any electronic address provided either in this Notice of Annual General Meeting or any related documents to
communicate with the Company for any purposes other than expressly stated.

19. The business of the meeting is of a routine nature for a listed company and the Directors recommend that you vote in favour of each of the
resolutions. Further information about the subject matter of the resolutions can be found in the Directors’ report on pages 28 to 31 of the 
Annual Report and Accounts 2008.
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Advisers

Financial calendar

Head office

61 Aldwych, London WC2B 4AE
Telephone 020 7010 8900 Fax 020 7010 8950
www.svgcapital.com

Secretary and registered office

Schroder Investment Management Limited 
31 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7QA 
Telephone 020 7658 3206

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP 
1 More London Place, London SE1 2AF

Bankers

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc 
Corporate Banking Office, 5–10 Great Tower Street, London EC3P 3HX
Bank of Scotland 
Level 7, Bishopsgate Building, 155 Bishopsgate, London EC2M 3YB

Registrar for ordinary shares 

Equiniti Limited
1st floor, 34 South Gyle Crescent, South Gyle Business Park, 
Edinburgh EH12 9EB
Telephone 0871 384 2776* 
*calls to this number are charged at 8p per minute from a BT landline. 
Other telephone providers’ costs may vary.
website www.shareview.co.uk

Solicitors

Slaughter and May 
One Bunhill Row, London EC1Y 8YY

31 December Company’s year end

March Preliminary results for the 
financial year announced

April Annual Report published

May Annual General Meeting

30 June Company’s half year

August Half-yearly results announced 

October Half-yearly report published
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Glossary

Early-stage

Seed:

• Financing provided to allow a business concept to be developed,
perhaps involving production of prototypes and additional research, 
prior to bringing a product to market.

Start-up:

• Financing provided to companies for the use in product development 
and initial marketing. Companies may be in the process of being set up 
or may have been in business for a short time, but have not sold their
product commercially.

Other early-stage:

• Financing provided to companies that have completed the product
development stage and require further funds to initiate commercial
manufacturing and sales. They will not yet be generating profit.

Late-stage

Expansion financing:

• Capital provided for the growth and expansion of a company which is
breaking even or even trading profitably. Funds may be used to finance
increased production capacity, market or product development and/or
provide additional working capital. Capital provided for turnaround
situations is also included in this category.

Management Buy-Out (MBO):

• Funds provided to enable current operating management and investors
to acquire an existing business.

Management Buy-In (MBI):

• Funds provided to enable a manager or group of managers from outside
the company to buy into the company.

Follow-on investment

A company which has previously received private equity.

Secondary purchase

Purchase of existing shares in a company from another private equity firm,
or from other shareholders.

Public to private

Purchase of the share capital of a company quoted on a stock exchange
with the intention of de-listing the company and taking it private.

General Terms

Carried interest (“carry”)

Carried interest or simply ‘carry’ represents the share of a private equity
fund’s profit (usually 20%) that will accrue to the general partners.

Committed funds (or “raised funds” or “committed capital”) Capital
committed by investors. This will be requested or ‘drawn down’ by private
equity managers on a deal-by-deal basis. This amount is different from
invested funds for two reasons. Firstly, most partnerships will invest only
between 80% and 95% of committed funds. Second, one has to deduct 
the annual management fee which is supposed to cover the cost of
operation of a fund.

Distributions

Payments to investors after the realisation of investments of the
partnership.

Divestments (or realisations or exits)

Exits of investments, usually via a trade sale or an IPO (Initial Public
Offering) on a stock market.

Draw downs/calls

Payments to the partnership by investors in order to finance investments.
Funds are drawn down from investors on a deal-by-deal basis.

Fund of funds

Private equity funds whose principal activity consists of investing in other
private equity funds. Investors in funds of funds can thereby increase their
level of diversification.

Gearing, debt/equity ratio or leverage the level of a company’s borrowings
as a percentage of shareholder funds.

Hurdle rate

Arrangement that caps the downside risk for investors. It allows investors to
get preferential access to the profits of the partnership. In the absence of
reaching the hurdle return, general partners will not receive a share of the
profit (carried interest). A hurdle rate of 10% means that the private equity
fund needs to achieve a return of at least 10% before the profits are shared
according to the carried interest arrangement.

Limited partnership

Most private equity firms structure their funds as limited partnerships.
Investors represent the limited partners and private equity managers the
general partners.

Realisation

The sale of an investment.

Secondary market

The secondary market enables institutional investors to sell their stakes in a
private equity partnership before it is wound up.

Trade sale

Sale of the equity share of an investee company to another company.

Turnaround

A loss making company which can be successfully transformed into a 
profit maker.

Further information on our website

www.svgcapital.com
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E-communications for shareholders 

SVG Capital would like to encourage shareholders to receive shareholder
documents electronically, via our website or by email notification instead 
of hard copy format.

This is a faster and more environmentally friendly way of receiving
shareholder documents.

The online ‘Shareview’ service from our registrar, Equiniti, provides 
all the information required regarding your shares. 

Its features include:
The option to receive shareholder communications electronically 
instead of by post 
Direct access to data held for you on the share register including 
recent share movements and dividend details
The ability to change your address or dividend payment instructions online

To receive shareholder communications electronically in future,
including all reports and notices of meetings, you just need 
the ‘shareholder reference’ printed on your proxy form or dividend
notices, and knowledge of your registered address.

Please register your details free on: 
www.shareview.co.uk / 0870 601 5366

Should you require further information, please visit:
www.svgcapital.com/investors/ecommunications
or contact investorrelations@svgcapital.com / 020 7010 8900



SVG Capital plc
Head office
61 Aldwych
London WC2B 4AE
Telephone 020 7010 8900
Fax 020 7010 8950
www.svgcapital.com
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